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most
The first few days after Hurricane Katrina found New 

Orleans underwater and overwhelmed. Only one hospital 

in the city limits remained open and only one company – 

Airgas – was able to make deliveries of medical oxygen 

needed to treat storm victims. 

By the time Rita struck a few weeks later, the worst 

hurricane season in history had brought out the best in 

Airgas associates. While the storms battered a handful 

of branches along the Gulf Coast, our strong national 

infrastructure ensured no stoppages of critical gas 

deliveries. Other Airgas locations rushed thousands of 

cylinders into the region, and Airgas associates drove 

through endless detours and debris to reach customers, 

hospitals, and emergency responders.

Later, the same industry-leading infrastructure 

helped provide the gases and supplies that customers 

and communities needed for cleanup and rebuilding. Our 

response to the storms of 2005 had proven that Airgas 

delivers value by delivering on our promises – even in the 

worst of times.

Not even the most destructive hurricane season ever 

could keep Airgas associates like Roger Dees and 

Kevin Judice (below) from making vital medical oxygen 

deliveries to homecare and hospital customers.
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where opportunities
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abound

America is investing in its infrastructure. Non-residential 

construction is on the rise, and Airgas has the gases, 

welding equipment, safety products, power tools, and 

other supplies that construction customers need.

Building out from our core business, Airgas has 

expanded our infrastructure to meet this growing 

construction demand. A national sales team works with 

the largest engineering and construction firms, while 

regional specialists work with local contractors who are 

building high-rises, bridges, pipelines, and power 

plants. We are adding new contractor-friendly stores 

stocked and staffed with construction customers 

in mind. Hotshot delivery trucks help serve construction 

crews on deadline. And Red-D-Arc Welderentals�, 

an Airgas company, provides welding, positioning, and 

related equipment, including products engineered and built 

for Extreme-Duty™ performance and reliability. 

Construction accounts for 10 percent of total revenues 

today. By building out our infrastructure with dedicated 

teams and new construction stores, Airgas will be 

ready for contractors of all sizes who will be participating 

in America’s building boom. 

As contractors build America’s pipelines, power 

plants, highways, and skyscrapers, Airgas has 

people, product and stores focused squarely on the 

growing non-residential construction marketplace.
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with extensive product 

Airgas shares its industry knowledge with customers through 

safety awareness materials, and through bulk gas specialists like 

Rick Montagne (left), Outlook technicians like Johnny Lee 

and Eddie Davis (above), and experienced drivers like Christopher 

Hopes (right).
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knowledge
As the Airgas product portfolio expands, so does the 

expertise we deliver. Safety products were a natural 

extension, since gas and welding customers also need 

personal protective equipment. Today, Airgas is one of 

the largest U.S. distributors of safety products, with more 

than 240 safety specialists helping customers with their 

product knowledge. Airgas also emphasizes safety through 

awareness posters, bi-lingual brochures, and training.

Other specialists offer knowledge of bulk, specialty, 

and medical gases, as well as welding processes. Acting 

on the recommendations of a three-day welding survey, 

American LaFrance Aerials will save more than $150,000 

a year in welding costs in the making of fire apparatus. 

Airgas Specialty Products is the largest national distributor 

of ammonia and a leader in supporting safety training and 

awareness. For large national accounts, our knowledge 

helps us provide on-site Outlook� Services to manage 

cylinders, bulk gases and supplies, so customers can focus 

on their core businesses. Expertise also translates into 

other service offerings that help utilities reclaim sulfur 

hexafluoride (SF6) to help save costs and the environment.
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initiative
by people with

The entrepreneurial spirit of Airgas 

comes alive during our learn-to-weld 

classes for customers (left), and every 

time we fill a specialty gas cylinder 

(right) using breakthrough AcuGrav™ 

technology developed by Rob Shock and 

his team in Cheshire, CT (below).
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AcuGrav™ is a major breakthrough that computerizes 

and automates the specialty gas filling process and gives 

customers greater consistency and quality with every 

cylinder fill — at 20 stations coast to coast. This patented 

technology, which removes the human element in gas 

mixing, was developed in a very human way. It began as 

a brainstorm by Rob Shock and his Airgas R&D team, and 

came to fruition after lots of hard work, tinkering, 

and testing.

 That’s the value of empowering your employees. 

Airgas associates are encouraged to think like 

entrepreneurs and see the world through our customers’ 

eyes. Building on our Cutting and Welding 101 classes – 

which gave more than 3,000 Airgas associates 

knowledge of the cutting and welding skill customers 

use – enterprising branch managers like Bob Johnson 

in Oakwood Village, OH, now host classes for their 

customers. Those are just a few examples of how our 

people are going the extra mile every day. Everybody 

knows there’s a better way. Working in an energizing and 

rewarding environment, Airgas associates do not 

stop until they find it.
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in a company that

AERO leaders like Derek Gill (center, above) 

hold hazmat training with local fire departments, 

like this one in Tualatin, OR, while other team 

members assisted the EPA in remediating 

thousands of damaged cylinders left behind by 

Hurricane Katrina (above).
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cares
With leadership comes responsibility. As the largest 

packaged gas distributor in America, Airgas has found 

ways to create value in the communities where we live 

and work.

Airgas has the largest hazmat emergency response 

organization in the U.S. specifically trained to deal with 

compressed gases, with more than 25 teams nationwide. 

Throughout the year, AERO – Airgas Emergency Response 

Organization – team members drill with community 

firefighters on dealing with incidents involving gases and 

cylinders.

After Hurricane Katrina, AERO experts were enlisted 

to sort through piles of damaged – and possibly 

dangerous – cylinders collected and quarantined by 

the EPA and other first responders. Using our AERO mobile 

laboratory, the only one in the U.S. designed to identify 

the unknown contents of cylinders, our team tested thou-

sands of cylinders to determine their contents and then 

recommended the best and safest remediation steps.

It’s not easy to function inside a 130° hazmat suit or 

to accurately identify the contents of diverse, deteriorating 

cylinders. Airgas and its AERO teams do it willingly 

because we care about our communities. 
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Peter McCausland

Our theme this year focuses on the “Value Created Here” at Airgas 

for our customers, associates, communities, and shareholders. In 

nearly every area of operations, Airgas associates executed well 

on core business, strategic product categories, and acquisitions, 

delivering meaningful value in fiscal 2006.

In the past, one strategy or another would carry the day. This year, 

we were “firing on all cylinders.” We hit our stride and are now 

moving forward with great momentum to solidify our position as 

America’s leading distributor of industrial, specialty and medical 

packaged gases, and safety and welding equipment.

Clearly, economic trends are favorable. The U.S. 

is in the midst of an industrial renaissance, which 

means more customers need more gases, welding 

supplies, and safety equipment for manufacturing, 

maintenance, and repair. America also is investing 

in its infrastructure with new federal programs for 

highways, bridges, and energy projects, adding to a 

boom in non-residential construction. 

While economic conditions have created wind at our back, we 

are generating our own internal momentum by following the right 

strategies, with talented, hard-working associates, who are making 

the most of an unmatched national footprint and an expanding 

product line to create value in many ways. 

Airgas people also did a great job of coping with the pressures of 

rising costs and severe hurricane-related disruptions in product 

supply. We are proud to note that in this past year, we delivered 

what our customers needed – when they needed it most.

It was a remarkable year for Airgas. Earnings per 

share from continuing operations grew 36 percent to 

$1.62. Return on capital improved 180 basis points to 

11.8 percent. Revenues rose 20 percent to $2.8 billion 

and same-store sales were up 11 percent, with strong 

sales in the industrial, energy, and non-residential 

construction sectors. 

To our shareholders, customers, associates, and friends:

Economists forecast that non-residential construction will be one 

of the fastest growing marketplaces over the next decade, and we 

have evidence close to home. Red-D-Arc Welderentals� – which 

rents welding machines to non-residential construction customers 

– was our fastest growing business in fiscal 2006, with a 31 

percent increase in same-store sales.

Sales of Radnor� private-label welding and safety products grew 

26 percent, pushing past $115 million in annual sales. 

All of our strategic growth lines exceeded expectations: Bulk gas 

sales were up 14 percent to more than $140 million, safety sales 

grew 17 percent to $396 million and we saw strong growth in 

specialty gas, medical gas, and carbon dioxide. These strategic 

growth categories, many in less cyclical industries, now account 

for nearly 40 percent of total revenue. 

Shareholders saw the best measure of our value in share price, 

which increased 64 percent in fiscal 2006 and then achieved 

all-time highs in late April. We also continued our commitment to 

return value through increased dividends with the declaration of a 

$0.07 quarterly dividend per share payable June 30, 2006.

Selling more to existing customers

Airgas success starts on the front lines. Two years ago, we 

rededicated ourselves to our core customers, the small- and 

medium-sized industrial companies with fewer than 100 employ-

ees accounting for more than three-quarters of our packaged 

gas revenues. We made sure our stores are always stocked with 

their must-have items. We provided welding and customer 

service education to our store associates so they could better 

anticipate and answer customer questions. And we empowered 

front-line people – from branch managers to drivers – who 

have made our stores and plants more valuable to our customers.

These customers have welcomed the changes, recommending 

our stores and associates to their co-workers and neighbors. 

Sometimes our associates go to heroic measures to serve 

customers, as Airgas branches along the Gulf Coast did after last 

year’s storms.
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Keokuk, IAGillette, WY

Among our more than 675 branches, we have true champions, 

like those in Keokuk, IA and Gillette, WY, which earned our first 

National Branch of the Year honors in the summer of 2005. These 

locations, along with 24 regional winners, proudly displayed 

Stanley Cup-like trophies made from cylinders with engraved 

bands. We will soon announce the winners for 2006 and add their 

names to the trophies.

Many more large customers are recognizing the value 

of our platform. These customers often come to us for 

one particular need – gases or safety equipment – but 

our ability to provide timely product deliveries to all 

their locations builds trust and leads to opportunities 

for multiple product line sales. As a result, we grew 

Strategic Accounts business by 20 percent to nearly 

$350 million in fiscal 2006.

Entering New Markets

Through the years, Airgas has successfully moved into adjacent 

product markets – safety supplies, medical gas, and bulk gas – that 

build on our overall strength in the core packaged gas business. 

In fiscal 2006, we expanded into ammonia distribution with the 

acquisition of LaRoche Industries’ ammonia business and the 

creation of Airgas Specialty Products. The business, which includes 

a nationwide network of 24 locations and more than 100 delivery 

vehicles, is the leading supplier of ammonia products and services 

in the U.S. One principal use for ammonia is nitrogen oxide 

abatement, or DeNOx treatment, for air quality programs. We are 

already realizing significant cross-selling opportunities and have 

launched vertical market programs that deliver value to the utilities 

and chemical process industries (CPI).

Airgas has always supplied non-residential construction companies 

and contractors with the gases, welding machines, and safety 

supplies they need on the jobsite. In fiscal 2006, we added 

another vertical market program for construction with a national 

market leader, experienced national sales leaders working with the 

largest engineering and construction customers, and a network 

of local specialists to work with small and regional contractors. 

We also opened our first “contractor-friendly” store in Philadelphia, 

stocked and staffed to provide the gases, welding, safety, and 

Red-D-Arc welder rental offerings that contractors need. We plan to 

open several more in key construction markets in fiscal 2007. The 

construction market currently accounts for about 10 percent of 

total sales and we believe we can double our revenues in this mar-

ket as we create value with unique product and service offerings.

Growth through acquisition

Acquisitions remain a vital part of our overall growth strategy 

because they allow us to better serve core customers in local 

markets and provide better coverage for national customers with 

multiple sites. In addition to the LaRoche ammonia business, we 

expanded through 12 core acquisitions for a total of $141 million 

in acquired revenues. These included a large regional distributor, 

Kanox, in Kansas, Oklahoma, and Colorado early in the year and 

Byrne Specialty Gases in Seattle, WA, at fiscal year-end, which will 

enhance the value of our specialty gas and life sciences offering 

not just in the Northwest but nationwide.

“Best-in-class” distributor

As a distributor, we stake our reputation on timely delivery from our 

distribution centers to our branches, and from the branches to our 

customer sites. Airgas has the most cylinders in the industry – 

more than 7 million – as well as liquid dewars, tube trailers, and 

MicroBulk and bulk tanks. Add a $1 billion in hardgoods and safety 

product flowing through our network and you can get a sense of 

the scale of our job to ensure we deliver what customers need, 

when and where they need it. But we are up to the task, with the 

strongest delivery infrastructure in the industry, which is delivering 

value to customers of all sizes in all markets. 

*FY89 – FY06 reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA presented above appears on page 69. Note that Interest Expense 

includes the discount on the securitization of trade receivables. 
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Nearly 3,000 Airgas drivers spent more than 80 million 

miles on the highways delivering products to our 

customers in calendar 2005. Even though we have 

more vehicles driving more miles than in past years, 

Airgas drivers have focused on lowering preventable 

and total vehicle accident rates during the past year. 

I am proud to report that Airgas earned the CGA Bulk 

Fleet Safety Award for the best safety record for 

fleets with more than 20 million miles driven in 2005, 

a testament to our commitment to safety and the 

growth of our bulk business in recent years. 

We continued to take a long-term view in adding to our national 

infrastructure. During the fourth quarter, we opened our sixth hard-

goods distribution center near Cincinnati, which further improves 

our ability to deliver hardgoods and safety products to our 675 

branches and end customers. We also made progress in programs 

to help us measure and improve production and cylinder fulfillment 

from plants to branches. As a result, fulfillment rose from 85 per-

cent in fiscal year 2005 to 94 percent by the end of fiscal 2006.

We also invested in our specialty gas infrastructure by completing 

installation of our proprietary AcuGrav™ technology in 20 stations 

around the country to assure purity, consistency, and on-time 

delivery of gas mixtures.

Energizing and empowering associates

AcuGrav™ is one of the most exciting recent developments in the 

spec gas industry. Our analytical lab customers love it because it 

removes the human element and allows us to make high-tolerance 

gas mixtures with precision and consistency for every batch at 

every location. I love it too, for a different reason. For me, it repre-

sents the achievement of an Airgas culture that encourages initia-

tive. The entire system is the brainchild of Rob Shock, an Airgas 

associate who was convinced there had to be a better way to mix 

gases and felt empowered and rewarded for developing a state-of-

the-art solution. Today Rob heads up a ten-person R&D automation 

center in Cheshire, CT, which is pursuing other ways to computer-

ize processes in our plants and in our customers’ locations.

Then there is Bob Irick, who knows his subject cold. When Wyeth 

Research in Collegeville, PA, was concerned about its existing 

mechanical freezers, which relied on electrical power and 

compressors to keep its samples frozen, Bob and other Airgas 

associates recommended a bank of liquid nitrogen freezers, which 

each use less power than a light bulb for automated controls. The 

result: more storage space for samples, at a lower cost per vial and 

– with a battery backup – samples that are safe even in a power 

failure. That’s the kind of initiative that prompted Wyeth to recently 

renew a five-year national agreement with Airgas for its packaged 

gases and related needs.

This sense of ownership doesn’t happen on its own. We have 

long encouraged employee stock ownership. In recent years, 

we introduced a Local Gainsharing Plan that allows front-line 

associates to share in the profits when their local operations 

exceed plan. In fact, Local Gainsharing paid out more than 

$3.5 million in fiscal 2006. We increased training for front-line 

associates and branch managers, adding more product, process, 

and managerial development classes. 

Airgas associates feel connected to fellow Airgas 

associates and with the communities in which we 

operate. After Hurricane Katrina, one of our first 

priorities was to help the people of Airgas displaced 

by the storms. Associates came through in a big 

way, contributing more than $120,000 to the Airgas 

National Disaster Fund, which was matched dollar for 

dollar by Airgas. The Fund also garnered the support 

of several vendors, including Miller Electric, which 

donated $25,000.
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Airgas helped raise more than $50,000 nationally for the Cystic 

Fibrosis Foundation through Great Strides walks in many of our 

communities. In fiscal 2007, we are raising even more for Cystic 

Fibrosis during the nationwide tour of two Airgas Choppers, 

custom motorcycles designed and built by Orange County 

Choppers.

Like our two Airgas Choppers, Airgas associates are revved up 

and ready to roll. We are proud of what we have built and the 

way we have built it – for the long haul. As we approach our 25th 

anniversary, we are excited about a bright future. We recognize 

that Airgas is about people and given the right environment, 

resources, and tools, Airgas associates create real value.

Before closing, I want to acknowledge several people who have 

helped Airgas lead our industry. In January, Gordon Keen retired 

as senior vice president – law and corporate development, after 

completing 24 years of outstanding service to Airgas. Gordon has 

literally been with us every step of the way, from the founding of 

the company in 1982. 

This month, Al Crichton retires after 18 years with Airgas and 

more than 35 years in the industry. During his tenure as Western 

Division President, Al helped those regions grow from about $150 

million to more than $1 billion in annual sales. He also played a 

pivotal role in our Repositioning for Growth in the late 1990s, 

which planted many of the seeds now yielding value today. All 

of us at Airgas value the contributions of Gordon and Al and we 

look to make them proud as we carry on the Airgas tradition. I 

personally will miss working with these outstanding individuals and 

good friends.

Finally, I want to acknowledge the guidance and contributions of 

Robert Yohe, who has been a member of the Airgas Board since 

1994 and who will retire later this year. We are grateful for his 

voice on a strong independent board.

Looking ahead

We accomplished a great deal in fiscal year 2006, but not without 

challenges. As a distribution company, we faced steep increases 

in product, fuel, and equipment costs. We also encountered gas 

supply disruptions caused by the hurricanes. For the most part, 

our customers accepted price increases, which were designed to 

offset these and other cost increases and to preserve our margins. 

With energy prices still rising and product shortages expected this 

summer, additional pricing actions will be implemented in fiscal 

2007. 

As our customers expect, we will continue to exercise expense 

discipline and leverage our infrastructure, innovation, and talent to 

remain the low-cost supplier in the industry.

It is a great time to be an Airgas shareholder. The success of our 

strategies has given us strong forward momentum, and we are 

hitting our stride. As a company, we have a lot of confidence, but I 

would hasten to add that we are not overconfident. We are keenly 

aware that tomorrow’s marketplace will require our best efforts 

each and every day to win and retain our customers’ business. 

We have built this company by taking the long view and by creat-

ing value in many different ways. Airgas associates understand 

that it is not only our key strategies and major acquisitions, but also 

the little things we do every day for our customers, our fellow asso-

ciates, and our communities that create value.

With more than 10,000 well-trained, energetic and enthusiastic 

associates at 900 locations executing sound customer-focused 

business strategies, a lot of value is being created here at Airgas.

Peter McCausland

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

June 9, 2006
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Airgas at a glance

Industrial Gases:

• More than 7 million cylinders supporting our customers’ needs.

• More than 300 cylinder fill plants.

• Complete line of bulk gases, storage tanks, related equipment and logistics 

capabilities.

• 20 acetylene manufacturing facilities.

• Gas applications specialists with in-depth experience in diverse industries.

• Leading manufacturer of liquid carbon dioxide in the Southeast.

• Leading national distributor of ammonia.

Specialty Gases:

• Largest U.S. specialty gas network, with 8 national specialty gas facilities and 

about 50 regional labs.

• More than 30 of these specialty gas labs are certified to ISO 9001:2000 

standards, and three are accredited to ISO 17025.

• Products include research-grade, ultra-high purity, and specialty-blend gases.

• Other products include process chemical gases and refrigerants.

• Applications in research, biotechnology, calibration, and emission monitoring.

• Supplier of related specialty gases equipment.

Medical gases:

• The leading U.S. distributor of medical gases and related products through Airgas 

Puritan Medical divisions in every region.

• More than 280 registered medical gas fill plants, including over 35 medical-only 

facilities, and distribution capabilities in more than 675 locations nationwide.

• Offering a full range of medical gases for respiratory therapy in liquid and 

compressed gas forms, medical gas equipment, home respiratory therapy equipment, 

and related supplies.

• Serving hospitals, medical institutions, home healthcare distributors, physicians’ 

practices, original medical equipment manufacturers, and other medical businesses.

Cylinder and small-bulk 

gases include:

Nitrogen Oxygen

Argon Helium

Hydrogen Acetylene

Fuel gases Nitrous oxide

Carbon dioxide

Dry Ice:

• Leading U.S. producer of dry ice for 

customers in food processing, 

food service, pharmaceutical, and 

biotech industries.

• Largest wholesale distributor of dry ice 

to grocery and other retail outlets 

nationwide.

Rental of:

• Gas cylinders

• Cryogenic liquid containers

• Bulk tanks and tube trailers

• Related regulation and mixing 

equipment

• Welding and positioning equipment

Hardgoods:

• More than $834 million in sales of 

welding hardgoods, tools, and abrasives.

• Six distribution centers streamline the 

supply chain to Airgas branches and 

customers.

• Major distributor for leading welding 

hardgoods brands, with national buying 

power.

• Radnor� private-label products in welding 

hardgoods and safety products, 

generating about $115 million in 

annual sales.
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AIRGAS 20%

INDEPENDENTS 57%

INDUSTRIAL MANUFACTURING 28%

REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE 27%
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OTHER 3%
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ANALYTICAL 3%
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MEDICAL 7%

NOR PAC
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EAST

NORTH CENTRAL
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MID AMERICA

NATIONAL WELDERS JV

MID SOUTH

GULF STATES

SOUTHWEST

SOUTH

AIRGAS… 

Known locally nationwide, with more than 900 locations.

The largest U.S. distributor of packaged gases and 

welding hardgoods in a $9+ billion market.

Serving a broad customer base...

Outlook� Services:

• Tailored programs to help customers 

manage supply chain for gases, 

equipment and safety products.

• Services include site survey and 

assessment, transition management, 

total gas management, onsite 

management of gas, equipment and 

supplies.

• Substantially reduces total cost of 

ownership for customers.

Safety Products:

• One of the largest U.S. distributors of safety products with about $400 million 

in annual sales.

• Major distributor of leading brands of personal protective equipment and products, 

including head protection, eyewear, footwear, respiratory protection, 

environmental protection, and work safety products.

• Distributing more than 30,000 products, all with same-day shipping, through branch

and retail sales, as well as catalog, eBusiness and telesales channels.

• Safety specialists integrated with our national network to meet all our 

customers’ safety needs.
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Management Committee
(from left to right)

Peter McCausland / Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Michael L. Molinini / Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer

Dwight T. Wilson / Senior Vice President, Human Resources

Roger F. Millay / Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Corporate Officers

Max D. Hooper

Division President, West

B. Shaun Powers

Division President, East

Ted R. Schulte

Division President, Gas Operations

Alfred B. Crichton

Senior Vice President

Robert A. Dougherty

Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer

Kelly P. Justice

Senior Vice President, Airgas Puritan Medical

Michael E. Rohde

Senior Vice President, Distribution Operations

Patrick M. Visintainer

Senior Vice President, Sales

Dean A. Bertolino

Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

Todd R. Craun

Vice President, Associate General Counsel

James S. Ely

Vice President, Communications

Leslie J. Graff

Vice President, Corporate Development

David E. Levin

Vice President, Hardgoods

Robert M. McLaughlin

Vice President, Controller

Thomas M. Smyth

Vice President, Internal Audit

Joseph C. Sullivan

Vice President, Treasurer

Thomas S. Thoman

Vice President, Gases

Carey M. Verger

Vice President, Director of Tax

Airgas Operating Companies and Presidents 

Airgas East 

James A. Muller

Airgas Gaspro

R. Jeffrey Finch

Airgas Great Lakes

Michael J. Ziegler

Airgas Gulf States

Henry B. (Rusty) Coker III

Airgas Intermountain

Douglas L. Jones

Airgas Mid America

J. Robert Hilliard

Airgas Mid South

D. Mike Duvall

Airgas Nor Pac

Dan L. Tatro

Airgas North Central

Ronald J. Stark

Airgas Northern California & Nevada

James D. McCarthy 

Airgas South

L. Jay Sullivan

Airgas Southwest

J. Brent Sparks

Airgas West

Glen E. Irving

Airgas Carbonic/Dry Ice

Philip J. Filer

Airgas Safety

Donald S. Carlino, Jr.

Airgas Specialty Products

Charles E. Broadus, Jr.

Red-D-Arc

Mitch M. Imielinski
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A i rga s ,  I n c . 2006

Net Sales
(In millions of dollars)

Return on Capital(1)(2)Diluted Earnings Per Share
from Continuing Operations

Free Cash Flow(1)

(In millions of dollars)

(1) Definitions of and reconciliations between these financial metrics and their most comparable measure under Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) are presented on pages 68 and 69.

(2) Certain gains and charges highlighted in this annual report under “Selected Financial Data” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” have been excluded from the computation of Return on
Capital presented above. The excluded items consist of restructuring charges and subsequent recoveries in fiscal years 2004 and 2003; and litigation charges in fiscal 2002.
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Selected financial data for the Company are presented in the table below 

and should be read in conjunction with Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

and the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto 

included herein.S e l e c t e d  F i n a n c i a l  D a t a

1) As discussed in Management’s Discussion and Analysis and in the notes to the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements, the results for fiscal 2006 include an estimated loss of $2.2
million ($1.4 million after tax) related to hurricanes Katrina and Rita and an after tax loss of $1.9
million on the divestiture of Rutland Tool, which was reported as a discontinued operation. Fiscal
2006 results also include an after tax charge of $2.5 million as a result of the adoption of Financial
Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement
Obligations, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143, which was recorded as a cumulative
effect of a change in accounting principle. Working capital decreased in fiscal 2006 compared to
2005 primarily due to an increase in the current portion of long-term debt.

(2) As discussed in Management’s Discussion and Analysis and in the notes to the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements, the results for fiscal 2005 include integration costs related to
the acquisition of the U.S. packaged gas business of The BOC Group, Inc. and employee separation
costs of $6.4 million ($4 million after tax). Fiscal 2005 also reflected a full year of National Welders
as a consolidated affiliate. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the effect of
the consolidation of National Welders on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(3) As discussed in Management’s Discussion and Analysis and in the notes to the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements, the results for fiscal 2004 include a fourth quarter special
charge recovery of $776 thousand ($480 thousand after tax) reflecting lower estimates of the ulti-
mate cost of prior years’ restructuring activities. Fiscal 2004 results also include the fourth quarter
consolidation of the National Welders joint venture in accordance with FIN 46R. Prior to the adop-
tion of FIN 46R, the Company used the Equity Method of Accounting for its investment in National
Welders. Accordingly, the consolidation of National Welders under FIN 46R did not have an impact
on the Company’s net earnings. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the
effect of the consolidation of National Welders on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(4) The results for fiscal 2003 include special and other charges of $2.9 million ($2.2 million after tax)
primarily consisting of a restructuring charge ($2.7 million) related to the integration of the busi-
ness acquired from Air Products & Chemicals, Inc. and costs related to the consolidation of certain
hardgoods procurement functions.

(5) The results for fiscal 2002 include: (a) a non-cash after-tax charge of $59 million representing the
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle associated with the adoption of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, (b) a litigation set-
tlement charge of $8.5 million ($5.7 million after tax), and (c) a net non-recurring gain of $1.9
million ($120 thousand after tax) related to divestitures and a write-down of a business held for
sale to its net realizable value.

(6) At the end of each quarter during fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company paid its stockholders
regular quarterly cash dividends of $0.06, $0.045 and $0.04 per share, respectively. In addition, on
May 23, 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a regular quarterly cash dividend of
$0.07 per share payable June 30, 2006 to stockholders of record as of June 15, 2006. Future divi-
dend declarations and associated amounts paid will depend upon the Company’s earnings,
financial condition, loan covenants, capital requirements and other factors deemed relevant by
management and the Company’s Board of Directors.

(7) Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period financial statements to conform 
to the current presentation. The reclassifications reflect the presentation of Rutland Tool as discon-
tinued operations.

(In thousands, except per share amounts):

Years Ended March 31, 2006 (1) 2005 (2)(7) 2004 (3)(7) 2003 (4)(7) 2002 (5)(7)

Operating Results
Net sales $ 2,829,610 $ 2,367,782 $ 1,855,360 $ 1,745,891 $ 1,576,328
Depreciation and amortization 127,542 111,078 87,447 79,279 71,757
Special charges (recoveries), net — — (776) 2,694 —
Operating income 268,758 202,454 168,544 156,336 124,938
Interest expense, net 53,812 51,245 42,357 46,374 46,775
Discount on securitization of trade receivables 9,371 4,711 3,264 3,326 4,846
Other income, net 2,462 1,129 1,472 2,132 5,987
Income taxes 77,866 54,261 47,659 41,571 30,051
Minority interest in earnings of

consolidated affiliate (2,656) (1,808) (452) — —
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate — — 4,365 2,684 2,861
Income from continuing operations 127,515 91,558 80,649 69,881 52,114
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, 

net of tax (1,424) 464 (457) (1,776) (3,529)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting

principle, net of tax (2,540) — — — (59,000)
Net earnings (loss) $ 123,551 $ 92,022 $ 80,192 $ 68,105 $ (10,415)

Net Earnings per Common Share
Basic

Earnings from continuing operations $ 1.66 $ 1.22 $ 1.11 $ 0.99 $ 0.76
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations (0.02) 0.01 (0.01) (0.02) (0.05)
Cumulative effect of a change in 

accounting principle (0.03) — — — (0.86)
Net earnings (loss) per share $ 1.61 $ 1.23 $ 1.10 $ 0.97 $ (0.15)

Diluted
Earnings from continuing operations $ 1.62 $ 1.19 $ 1.08 $ 0.96 $ 0.74
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations (0.02) 0.01 (0.01) (0.02) (0.05)
Cumulative effect of a change in 

accounting principle (0.03) — — — — (0.84)
Net earnings (loss) per share $ 1.57 $ 1.20 $ 1.07 $ 0.94 $ (0.15)

Dividends per common share 
declared and paid (6) $ 0.24 $ 0.18 $ 0.16 $ — $ —

Balance Sheet Data at March 31:
Working capital $ (17,138) $ 132,969 $ 88,826 $ 66,027 $ 84,645
Total assets 2,474,412 2,291,863 1,960,606 1,726,004 1,743,984
Current portion of long-term debt 131,901 6,948 6,140 2,229 2,456
Long-term debt 635,726 801,635 682,698 658,031 764,124
Deferred income tax liability, net 327,818 282,186 253,529 207,069 193,556
Other non-current liabilities 30,864 24,391 28,756 33,657 37,395
Minority interest in affiliate 57,191 36,191 36,191 — —
Stockholders’ equity 947,159 814,172 691,901 596,933 503,086
Capital expenditures for years ended March 31, 214,193 167,977 93,749 67,969 58,297
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effect of a change in accounting principle. The ongoing annual

expense resulting from the adoption of FIN 47 is not anticipated

to be material.

Fiscal 2006 net earnings from continuing operations were $127.5

million or $1.62 per diluted share, compared to $91.6 million, or

$1.19 per diluted share in fiscal 2005. Fiscal 2006 net earnings were

$123.6 million, or $1.57 per diluted share compared to $92

million, or $1.20 per diluted share, in fiscal 2005. The net earnings

in fiscal 2006 were affected by the following:

• a loss of $2.2 million ($1.4 million after tax), or $0.02 per

diluted share, related to hurricanes Katrina and Rita.

• a net loss of $1.4 million from discontinued operations 

principally reflecting an after tax loss of $1.9 million,

or $0.02 per diluted share, on the divestiture of Rutland Tool

(see comments above); and

• an after tax charge of $2.5 million, or $0.03 per diluted share,

resulting from the adoption of FIN 47, which was recorded as a

cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.

Fiscal 2005 results were affected by acquisition integration 

costs related to the BOC acquisition and employee separation 

costs totaling $6.4 million ($4 million after tax), or $0.05 per

diluted share.

During fiscal 2006, the Company completed 13 acquisitions

(including three businesses acquired by National Welders Supply

Company, Inc. — “National Welders”) with combined annual sales

of approximately $141 million. The aggregate purchase price paid

for the 13 acquisitions and various holdback settlements was

approximately $153 million. The largest of these acquisitions

included the June 2005 purchase of the Industrial Products

Division of LaRoche Industries, Inc. (“LaRoche”). LaRoche is a

leading distributor of anhydrous ammonia in the U.S. with annual

sales of approximately $65 million. The LaRoche operations were

incorporated into a new business unit, “Airgas Specialty Products,”

that has been added to the All Other Operations business segment.

The Company continues to look for additional acquisition

opportunities to strengthen and expand its business.

Looking forward, the Company anticipates that fiscal 2007 will be

another productive year. The Company anticipates further

expansion of the industrial economy during fiscal 2007 and

estimates that fiscal 2007 net earnings will be approximately $1.76

to $1.84 per diluted share, including the impact of about $0.11 of

stock-based compensation expense from the adoption of FASB

Statement No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment, effective

April 1, 2006. Additionally, in the first quarter of fiscal 2007, the

Company estimates that it will earn $0.42 to $0.44 per diluted

share. The estimate of fiscal 2007 net earnings anticipates a

supportive sales environment and continued success of pricing

actions designed to offset rising costs. Actual fiscal 2007 net

earnings may be impacted by a number of factors including

Results of Operations 2006 Compared to 2005

Overview

Airgas, Inc. (the “Company”) had net sales for the fiscal year

ended March 31, 2006 (“fiscal 2006”) of $2.83 billion compared to

$2.37 billion in the prior year (“fiscal 2005”). Net sales increased

by 20% driven by strong same-store sales growth and the impact

of acquisitions. Same-store sales growth contributed 11% to the

increase in total sales. Same-store sales growth was driven

approximately equally by pricing initiatives and higher sales

volumes. Price increases were initiated in response to rising

product, operating and distribution costs as well as other factors.

Higher sales volumes resulted from the continued strength of the

industrial economy and the continued success of the Company’s

growth initiatives. Same-store sales growth of hardgoods was

13%, and gas and rent was 10%, with a majority of the Company’s

business units reporting double-digit growth. Sales growth in the

Gulf Coast and Southwestern portions of the U.S. was particularly

strong reflecting post-hurricane demand for equipment, safety

products and welding machines. Sales growth was also driven by

sales of strategic products. Strategic products were identified by

the Company as those expected to grow at a faster rate than the

overall industrial economy and include safety products, medical,

specialty, and bulk gases, as well as carbon dioxide products, such

as dry ice. Accordingly, the Company has initiatives focused on

promoting these products. Acquisitions continue to be an

important component of the Company’s growth contributing 9%

to the overall increase in net sales. The operating income margin

expanded 90 basis points in the current year to 9.5% compared to

8.6% in the prior year reflecting improving cost leverage. Solid

sales growth and operating expense discipline resulted in a 36%

increase in earnings per diluted share from continuing operations

in the current year versus the prior year.

On December 1, 2005, the Company divested its subsidiary,

Rutland Tool & Supply Co., Inc. (“Rutland Tool”). Rutland Tool

distributed metalworking tools, machine tools and MRO supplies

from seven locations and had approximately 180 employees.

Proceeds of the sale were approximately $15 million. As a result of

the divestiture, the Company reflected the operating results of

Rutland Tool as “discontinued operations” and recognized an

after-tax loss on the sale of $1.9 million, or $0.02 per diluted

share, in the current year. All periods included in this report have

been restated to present Rutland Tool as discontinued operations.

Rutland Tool generated annual sales of approximately $50 million

and an insignificant amount of operating income. The operating

results of Rutland Tool were previously reflected in the

Distribution business segment.

Effective March 31, 2006, the Company adopted Financial

Accounting Standard Board Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for

Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations, an interpretation 

of FASB Statement No. 143, (“FIN 47”), and recorded a $2.5

million after tax charge ($0.03 per diluted share) as a cumulative
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continued improvement in the industrial economy, customer

acceptance of price increases, the sales mix of gas and rent versus

hardgoods, and the interest rate environment, among other

factors. Acquisitions in fiscal 2007 could also continue to be an

important component of the Company’s growth. In addition, the

Company set certain long-term financial goals for fiscal 2008,

including achieving annual sales of $3.3 billion and operating

margins of 10%–11% of sales.

Income Statement Commentary

Net Sales

Net sales increased 20% in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005

driven primarily by strong same-store sales growth of 11% and

acquisitions. The Company estimates same-store sales based on a

comparison of current period sales to prior period sales, adjusted

for acquisitions and divestitures. The pro-forma adjustments

consist of adding acquired sales to, or subtracting sales of divested

operations from, sales reported in the prior period. The table

below reflects actual sales and does not include the pro-forma

adjustments used in calculating the same-store sales metric. The

intercompany eliminations represent sales from All Other

Operations to the Distribution segment.

(In thousands) 2006 2005 Increase

Distribution $ 2,395,938 $ 2,035,112 $ 360,826 18%
All Other Operations 493,430 385,611 107,819 28%
Intercompany 

eliminations (59,758) (52,941) (6,817)
$ 2,829,610 $ 2,367,782 $ 461,828 20%

The Distribution segment’s principal products include industrial,

medical and specialty gases; cylinder and equipment rental;

and hardgoods. Industrial, medical and specialty gases are

distributed in cylinders and bulk containers. Equipment rental 

fees are generally charged on cylinders, cryogenic liquid

containers, bulk and micro-bulk tanks, tube trailers and welding 

equipment. Hardgoods consist of welding consumables and

equipment, safety products, and maintenance, repair and

operating (“MRO”) supplies.

Distribution segment sales increased 18% compared to the prior

year driven by same-store sales growth of $245 million (11%) and

sales contributed by both current and prior year acquisitions of

$116 million. Incremental sales from acquisitions were driven by

nine current year acquisitions and the impact of a full year of

operations of the July 2004 acquisition of the packaged gas

business of The BOC Group, Inc. (“BOC”). The increase in

Distribution same-store sales resulted from higher hardgoods sales

of $131 million (13%) and gas and rent sales growth of $114

million (10%). In the current year, strong volume gains in sales of

safety and Radnor private label products helped drive the growth

in hardgoods same-store sales. Same-store sales of safety products

grew 17% in the current year benefiting from excellent execution

in cross-selling and in our telesales operation, the strong industrial

economy and reconstruction efforts along the Gulf Coast. Radnor

products grew 26% reflecting the rollout of new products and

expansion of the Company’s branch-store core stocking program

to acquired locations. Same-store sales of hardgoods also benefited

from pricing actions taken during the current period to offset

rising product costs.

The Distribution segment’s same-store sales growth for gas and

rent of 10% was driven by price increases and volume growth.

Broad pricing actions were initiated in March 2005 and November

2005 in response to rising product and delivery costs. Sales growth

was achieved across nearly all major product lines, including the

largest product line, industrial gases (e.g., nitrogen, oxygen, argon,

acetylene, etc.). Sales of strategic products, particularly related to

bulk, medical and specialty gases, also helped drive the growth in

gas and rent same-store sales. Sales of bulk, medical, and specialty

gases generated combined same-store sales growth of 12%. Same-

store sales growth was also helped by a 31% increase in welding

equipment rentals.

The All Other Operations segment consists of the Company’s Gas

Operations Division and its National Welders joint venture. The

Gas Operations Division produces and distributes certain gas

products, principally carbon dioxide, dry ice, nitrous oxide and

specialty gases. Beginning in June 2005, the division also began

distributing anhydrous ammonia and related supplies, services and

equipment. National Welders is a producer and distributor of

industrial, medical and specialty gases based in Charlotte, North

Carolina. All Other Operations’ sales, net of intercompany elimi-

nations, increased $101 million compared to the prior year. The

acquisition of the anhydrous ammonia business from LaRoche and

the subsequent formation of Airgas Specialty Products in June

2005 contributed sales of $67 million in the current year. Same-

store sales growth was primarily attributable to National Welders

and pricing actions taken by Airgas Specialty Products. Sales of liq-

uid carbon dioxide and dry ice also increased modestly.

Gross Profits

Gross profits do not reflect depreciation expense and distribution

costs. As disclosed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements, the Company reflects distribution costs as elements of

Selling, Distribution and Administrative Expenses and recognizes

depreciation on all its property, plant and equipment on the

income statement line item “Depreciation.” Some companies may

report certain or all of these costs as elements of their Cost of

Products Sold. Consequently, gross profits discussed below may

not be comparable to those of other entities.

Gross profits increased 17% resulting from higher sales volumes,

acquisitions and price increases. The gross profit margin decreased

90 basis points to 50.5% in the current year compared to 51.4% in

the prior year. The decrease in the gross profit margin reflects the

acquisition and subsequent growth of the lower margin anhydrous

ammonia product line and a shift in sales mix.
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(In thousands) 2006 2005 Increase

Distribution $ 1,172,503 $ 1,004,828 $ 167,675 17%
All Other Operations 255,129 211,172 43,957 21%

$ 1,427,632 $ 1,216,000 $ 211,632 17%

The Distribution segment’s gross profits increased $168 million

(17%) compared to the prior year. Distribution’s gross profit

margin of 48.9% decreased 50 basis points from 49.4% in the prior

year. The lower gross profit margin reflects a shift in gas sales mix,

including the impact of higher sales growth of lower margin bulk

gases, as well as higher same-store sales growth of lower margin

hardgoods. The Distribution segments sales consisted of 51.7% gas

and rent compared to 51.9% in the prior year. Pricing actions

taken by the Company in the current year helped to mitigate the

impact of rising product costs.

The All Other Operations segment’s gross profits increased $44

million primarily from strong sales at National Welders and the

addition of the anhydrous ammonia business in the current year.

Although the gross profit dollars for the segment increased, the

gross profit margin declined by 310 basis points to 51.7% from

54.8% in the prior year. The gross profit margin decline reflects

the acquisition of the anhydrous ammonia product line, which

carries a lower margin than other products in this segment, and

competitive pressures in the market for dry ice.

Operating Expenses

Selling, distribution and administrative expenses (“SD&A”) consist

of labor and overhead associated with the purchasing, marketing

and distribution of the Company’s products, as well as costs

associated with a variety of administrative functions such as legal,

treasury, accounting, tax and facility-related expenses.

As a percentage of net sales, SD&A expenses decreased 170 basis

points to 36.4% compared to 38.1% in the prior year resulting

from improved cost leverage. SD&A expenses increased $129 mil-

lion (14%) primarily from operating costs of acquired businesses

and higher variable expenses associated with the growth in sales

volumes. As compared with the prior year, acquisitions con-

tributed an estimated additional $62 million to SD&A expense.

The SD&A expenses contributed by the current year acquisitions

reflect acquisition integration costs that were $1.9 million in the

current year. The prior year SD&A expenses reflect a total of $6.4

million of costs associated with integrating the BOC acquisition as

well as employee separation costs. The balance of the increase in

SD&A expenses is primarily attributable to higher labor costs, dis-

tribution-related expenses, selling expenses and approximately

$2.2 million of incremental costs resulting from hurricanes

Katrina and Rita. The increase in labor costs reflected costs to fill

cylinders and operate facilities to meet increased demand for

products as well as normal wage inflation. The increase in distri-

bution expenses is attributable to higher fuel costs and vehicle

repair and maintenance expenses. Higher fuel costs were directly

related to the rise in diesel fuel prices over the past year and the

increase in miles driven to support the higher sales volumes. The

increase in selling expenses is attributable to higher sales levels.

Depreciation expense of $122 million increased $17 million 

(16%) compared to $105 million in the prior year. Current and

prior year acquisitions contributed depreciation expense of

approximately $8 million. The remainder of the increase primarily

reflects the current and prior year’s capital expenditures to support

growth, including purchases of cylinders, bulk tanks and rental

welders. Amortization expense of $5 million in the current year

was consistent with the prior year.

Operating Income

Operating income increased 33% in the current year compared to

the prior year driven by higher sales levels. Cost leverage and the

improved operations of the BOC business acquired in the prior

year contributed to a 90 basis point increase in the operating

income margin to 9.5% compared to 8.6% in the prior year

period.

(In thousands) 2006 2005 Increase

Distribution $ 208,466 $ 157,239 $ 51,227 33%
All Other Operations 60,292 45,215 15,077 33%

$ 268,758 $ 202,454 $ 66,304 33%

Operating income in the Distribution segment increased 33% in

the current year. The Distribution segment’s operating income

margin increased 100 basis points to 8.7% compared to 7.7% in

the prior year. The increase in the operating income margin

reflects the lower operating expenses as a percentage of net sales,

described above. The prior year was negatively impacted by

integration costs and initial lower margins of the business

acquired from BOC.

Operating income in the All Other Operations segment increased

33% resulting primarily from the strong business momentum of

National Welders as well as the acquisition of the anhydrous

ammonia business from LaRoche. The segment’s operating income

margin increased 50 basis points to 12.2% in the current year

compared to 11.7% in the prior year. The higher operating income

margin principally relates to lower operating expenses as a

percentage of net sales, partially offset by the lower operating

margin of the anhydrous ammonia business.

Interest Expense and Discount on Securitization of Trade

Receivables

Interest expense, net, and the discount on securitization of trade

receivables totaled $63 million representing an increase of 13%

compared to the prior year. The increase in interest expense

primarily resulted from higher debt levels associated with

acquisitions and higher weighted-average interest rates.
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Net Earnings

Net earnings were $123.6 million, or $1.57 per diluted share,

compared to $92 million, or $1.20 per diluted share, in the 

prior year.

Pursuant to a joint venture agreement between the Company and

the holders of the preferred stock of National Welders, until June

30, 2009, the preferred stockholders have the option to exchange

their 3.2 million shares of National Welders voting redeemable

preferred stock either for cash at a price of $17.78 per share or to

tender them to the joint venture in exchange for approximately 2.3

million shares of Airgas common stock. If Airgas common stock

has a market value of $24.45 per share, the stock and cash

redemption options are equivalent. The weighted shares used in

the fiscal 2006 diluted earnings per share calculation include the

assumed conversion of National Welders’ preferred stock to Airgas

common stock. In fiscal 2005 and 2004, the conversion of National

Welders preferred stock to Airgas common stock was anti-dilutive.

Also see Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Results of Operations: 2005 Compared to 2004

Overview

The Company’s operating results for fiscal year ended March 31,

2005 (“fiscal 2005”) and fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 (“fiscal

2004”) have been restated to reflect the reclassification of the

operating results of Rutland Tool as discontinued operations. The

Company’s net sales for fiscal 2005 were $2.37 billion 

compared to $1.86 billion in the prior year. Sales growth of $512

million was driven by acquisitions, same-store sales growth and

the consolidation of National Welders. The Company estimated

that acquisitions contributed sales of approximately $197 million

during fiscal 2005, the largest of which was the acquisition of the

U.S. packaged gas business of The BOC Group, Inc. (“BOC”).

Same-store sales growth of 9% contributed sales of approximately

$187 million reflecting the rebounding economy and strength in

industrial markets served by the Company. The consolidation of

National Welders, effective December 31, 2003 (fiscal 2004),

contributed incremental sales of $128 million in fiscal 2005.

Fiscal 2005 net earnings were $92 million, or $1.20 per diluted

share, compared to $80 million, or $1.07 per diluted share, in fiscal

2004. As discussed in the “Income Statement Commentary” below,

fiscal 2005 results were affected by integration costs related to the

BOC acquisition and employee separation costs totaling $6.4

million ($4 million after tax), or $0.05 per diluted share.

Fiscal 2004 results were affected by the following:

• insurance-related losses of $2.8 million ($1.7 million after tax),

or $0.02 per diluted share, representing the Company’s self-

insurance retention associated with fire-related losses;

The Company participates in a securitization agreement with two

commercial banks to sell up to $250 million of qualifying trade

receivables. The amount of outstanding receivables under the

agreement was $244 million and $190 million at March 31, 2006

and 2005, respectively. Net proceeds from the sale of trade

receivables were used to reduce borrowings under the Company’s

revolving credit facilities. The discount on the securitization of

trade receivables represents the difference between the carrying

value of the receivables and the proceeds from their sale. The

amount of the discount varies on a monthly basis depending on

the amount of receivables sold and market rates.

As discussed in “Liquidity and Capital Resources,” the Company

manages its exposure to interest rate risk through participation in

interest rate swap agreements. Including the effect of the interest

rate swap agreements and the trade receivables securitization, the

Company’s ratio of fixed to variable rate debt at March 31, 2006

was 53% fixed to 47% variable. A majority of the Company’s

variable rate debt is based on a spread over the London Interbank

Offered Rate (“LIBOR”). Based on the Company’s outstanding

variable rate debt and credit rating at March 31, 2006, for every 25

basis point increase in LIBOR, the Company estimates its annual

interest expense would increase approximately $1.2 million.

Income Tax Expense

The effective income tax rate was 37.4% of pre-tax earnings

compared to 36.8% in fiscal 2005. The lower tax rate in fiscal 2005

resulted from favorable changes in valuation allowances associated

with state tax net operating loss carryforwards and the realization

of federal and state tax credits.

Income from Continuing Operations

Income from continuing operations was $127.5 million, or $1.62

per diluted share, compared to $91.6 million, or $1.19 per diluted

share in the prior year.

Income (loss) from Discontinued Operations

As a result of the divestiture of Rutland Tool in December 2005,

the operating results of Rutland Tool have been classified as

discontinued operations in all periods presented. In fiscal 2006, the

Company recorded an after tax loss of $1.4 million, or $0.02 per

diluted share, from discontinued operations. The after tax loss

included a $1.9 million loss on the sale of Rutland Tool and net

income from operations of $476 thousand. In fiscal 2005, income

from discontinued operations was $464 thousand.

Cumulative Effect of a Change in Accounting Principle

In conjunction with the adoption of FIN 47 on March 31, 2006,

the Company recorded an after tax charge of $2.5 million as a

cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle. The ongoing

annual expense resulting from the adoption of FIN 47 is not

anticipated to be material.



23

A i rga s ,  I n c . 2006

Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

Income Statement Commentary

Net Sales

Net sales increased 28% in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004

driven primarily by acquisitions, strong same-store sales growth of

9% and the consolidation of National Welders. The Company

estimates same-store sales based on a comparison of current

period sales to prior period sales, adjusted for acquisitions and

divestitures. The pro-forma adjustments consist of adding

acquired sales to, or subtracting sales of divested operations from,

sales reported in the prior period. The table below reflects actual

sales and does not include the pro-forma adjustments used in

calculating the same-store sales metric. The intercompany

eliminations represent sales from All Other Operations to the

Distribution segment.

(In thousands) 2005 2004 Increase

Distribution $ 2,035,112 $ 1,662,363 $ 372,749 22%
All Other Operations 385,611 235,926 149,685 63%
Intercompany 

eliminations (52,941) (42,929) (10,012)
$ 2,367,782 $ 1,855,360 $ 512,422 28%

Distribution segment sales increased $373 million (22%)

compared to the prior year driven by acquisitions (principally the

BOC acquisition) and growth in same-store sales. The BOC

acquisition and other smaller acquisitions contributed estimated

incremental sales of $192 million in fiscal 2005. Distribution

same-store sales growth of $180 million (10%) resulted from

hardgoods sales gains of $121 million (14%) and gas and rent sales

growth of $59 million (6%). Hardgoods sales growth resulted from

price and volume gains consistent with the solid industrial

recovery across many of the markets served by the Company. For

example, same-store sales of welding wire and welding accessories

(e.g. welding machines, torches) increased by approximately $40

million and $25 million, respectively. The costs of welding wire

and accessories were significantly impacted by rising steel prices in

fiscal 2005. The Company successfully passed through the higher

costs to its customers. Same-store sales of safety products

increased approximately $40 million and were positively impacted

by the Company’s strategy of cross-selling safety products to its

broad base of customers. Radnor private label sales growth of 36%

was also indicative of the success of the Company’s branch store

core stocking program. The Company’s core stocking program

ensures that each branch store is stocked with the most commonly

demanded hardgoods products.

Fiscal 2005 gas and rent same-store sales growth was driven 

by these products as well as the strengthened industrial economy.

Medical gas and rent grew 5% to $169 million in fiscal 2005 

driven by the strength of the Airgas Puritan Medical business

model, which includes a far reaching network of locations,

superior customer service and innovative programs, such as the

Walk-O2-Bout® medical cylinder program utilized by hospitals

• a $1.7 million after-tax, or $0.02 per diluted share, non-recur-

ring insurance gain recognized by National Welders; and

• a special charge recovery of $776 thousand ($480 thousand after

tax), or $0.01 per diluted share, reflecting lower estimates of the

ultimate cost of prior years’ restructuring activities.

During fiscal 2005, the Company completed 16 acquisitions

(including two businesses acquired by National Welders) with

combined annual sales of approximately $260 million. The largest

of the acquisitions was that of the U.S. packaged gas business of

BOC, which closed on July 30, 2004. The Company acquired the

BOC assets for approximately $175 million cash, plus a contingent

purchase price adjustment to be paid in November 2005. The

contingent purchase price ultimately paid to BOC of $20 million

was determined based on the Company achieving certain financial

targets that were set forth in the asset purchase agreement as well

as other factors associated with the transaction. The transaction

was financed through borrowings on the Company’s U.S. revolving

credit facility. The acquired operations were predominately

included in the Distribution segment.

The Company had strong same-store sales and earnings growth 

in fiscal 2005, which benefited from continued success of the

Company’s strategic product sales initiatives related to medical,

bulk, specialty gases and safety products. Sales of hardgoods 

were especially strong during the year with significant gains related

to safety products and traditional welding products, such as

welding wire, rods, torches and other welding accessories.

During the third fiscal quarter and into the fourth quarter, the

Company experienced pressure on gross profit margins and rising

operating expenses. These cost pressures factored into the

Company’s decision to raise prices on a number of its product

lines in March 2005.

Effective December 31, 2003, the Company adopted Financial

Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 46R,

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, with respect to 

its joint venture with National Welders and consolidated this

formerly unconsolidated affiliate. Beginning January 1, 2004 

and for the year ended March 31, 2005, National Welders’

operating results were reflected broadly across the income

statement in the “All Other Operations” business segment with

minority interest expense representing the preferred stockholders’

proportionate share of the joint venture’s operating results.

For the nine months ended December 31, 2003, the Company’s

portion of National Welders’ net earnings was reflected as 

“Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliate.” Net earnings

were not impacted by the consolidation of National Welders. See

Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the effect of

the consolidation of National Welders on the Consolidated

Financial Statements.
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and rent and helped drive the decline in the gross profit margin.

The Distribution segment’s sales consisted of 51.9% gas and rent

compared to 53.1% in fiscal 2004. The gross profit margin was also

impacted by lower margins from the acquired BOC business and

higher sales of lower margin bulk gases. Higher cylinder

maintenance and freight-in costs associated with sales growth also

contributed to the lower gross profit margin.

All Other Operations’ gross profits increased $81 million (63%)

compared to the prior year primarily reflecting the consolidation

of National Welders. National Welders contributed $70 million to

the increase in gross profits. The remainder of the increase in gross

profits reflects higher sales volumes of liquid carbon dioxide and

dry ice. The All Other Operations’ gross profit margin was

relatively consistent compared to the prior year.

Operating Expenses

SD&A expenses increased $185 million (26%) compared to the

prior year principally from the consolidation of National Welders

and costs contributed by acquisitions. A full year of expenses

related to National Welders contributed $65 million in SD&A

expenses versus $16 million for the fourth quarter in the prior

year. Acquisitions contributed an estimated $86 million in SD&A

expenses. The remainder of the increase resulted from higher

labor, utility and distribution-related expenses. Labor and utility

expense increases reflected costs to fill cylinders and operate

facilities to meet increased demand for products. The increase in

distribution-related expenses of approximately $8 million was

primarily driven by higher fuel, repair and maintenance costs.

The increase in fuel costs was directly related to higher oil prices

during fiscal 2005. Fiscal 2005 also included costs of $6.4 million

associated with the integration of the BOC business into the

Company’s operations and employee separation costs. Acquisition

integration expenses were not significant during fiscal 2004.

During fiscal 2004, the Company sustained fire-related losses of

$2.8 million at certain of its plants. As a percentage of sales,

SD&A expenses decreased 60 basis points to 38.1% versus 38.6%

in the prior year driven by higher sales volumes and improving

cost leverage.

Depreciation expense of $106 million in fiscal 2005 increased $24

million (29%) compared to $82 million in fiscal 2004. National

Welders contributed $9 million in additional depreciation expense

and acquisitions contributed approximately $8 million. The

remainder of the increase primarily reflects the current and prior

year’s capital investments in revenue producing assets, including

medical cylinders and bulk tanks. The Company’s lease buyout

program to purchase long-lived assets subject to high cost leases

also contributed to the increase in depreciation expense in fiscal

2005. Amortization expense in fiscal 2005 of $5.5 million was

consistent with the prior year.

and the home healthcare market. Same-store sales of specialty

gases increased 4% to $157 million in fiscal 2005. Bulk gas and

rent revenues grew 10% to over $120 million reflecting higher

volumes. Growth in industrial gases (e.g. oxygen, nitrogen, argon,

etc.) were also solid contributors. Rental revenue was also

favorably impacted by a 7% increase in welding equipment rentals

and sales associated with the Company’s rental welder fleet.

The All Other Operations segment consists of producers and

distributors of gas products, principally of dry ice, carbon dioxide,

nitrous oxide and specialty gases. The segment also includes the

Company’s National Welders joint venture, which was

consolidated effective December 31, 2003. All Other Operations’

sales, net of intercompany sales eliminations, increased $140

million, principally from the consolidation of National Welders

and same-store sales growth. National Welders contributed sales of

$167 million in fiscal 2005 versus $39 million in the prior year

(fourth quarter only). Had National Welders been consolidated for

all of fiscal 2004, it would have contributed sales of $147 million.

Same-store sales growth was principally the result of higher sales

volumes of liquid carbon dioxide and dry ice and industrial gas

volume gains at National Welders. Dry ice sales volume gains were

dampened by pricing pressure in this competitive market.

Gross Profits

Gross profits increased 25% resulting from higher sales volumes

generated by acquisitions, same-store sales growth and the

consolidation of National Welders. Although the gross profit

dollars were higher, the gross profit margin decreased 100 basis

points to 51.4% in fiscal 2005 compared to 52.4% in fiscal 2004.

The decline in the gross profit margin was partially due to lower

gas margins experienced during the second half of fiscal 2005

resulting from lower margins of the acquired BOC business and

higher sales of lower margin bulk gases. The pressure on margins

factored into the Company’s decision to raise prices on a number

of its product lines in March 2005. Related to hardgoods products,

the entire industry has been impacted by the rapidly rising price of

steel, a primary component of welding wire and rods. However,

the gross profit margin on hardgoods was relatively consistent

with the prior year as the product cost increases were effectively

passed through to customers.

(In thousands) 2005 2004 Increase

Distribution $ 1,004,828 $ 842,504 $ 162,324 19%
All Other Operations 211,172 129,756 81,416 63%

$ 1,216,000 $ 972,260 $ 243,740 25%

The Distribution segment’s gross profits increased $162 million

(19%) compared to the prior year driven by acquisitions and

same-store sales growth. The Distribution segment’s gross profit

margin of 49.4% in fiscal 2005 decreased 130 basis points from

50.7% in fiscal 2004. The lower gross profit margin resulted from

the higher same-store sales growth rates for hardgoods versus gas

and rent. Hardgoods carry a lower gross profit margin than gas



25

A i rga s ,  I n c . 2006

Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate in fiscal 2004 

of $4.4 million represents the Company’s portion of National

Welders’ net earnings through the date of consolidation.

National Welders’ earnings included a $1.7 million after-tax life

insurance gain in which National Welders was the named

beneficiary. Prior to the date that the Company entered into the

joint venture agreement with National Welders, the founders of

National Welders had obtained life insurance policies on key

personnel in which National Welders was the named beneficiary.

Income from Continuing Operations

Income from continuing operations was $91.6 million in fiscal

2005, or $1.19 per diluted share, compared to $80.6 million in

fiscal 2004, or $1.08 per diluted share.

Income (loss) from Discontinued Operations

Discontinued operations (Rutland Tool) contributed income of

$464 thousand in fiscal 2005 versus a net loss of $457 thousand in

fiscal 2004.

Net Earnings

Net earnings in fiscal 2005 were $92 million, or $1.20 per 

diluted share, compared to $80 million, or $1.07 per diluted share,

in fiscal 2004.

Liquidity And Capital Resources

Fiscal 2006 Cash Flows

Net cash provided by operating activities increased to $362 million

in fiscal 2006 compared to $222 million in fiscal 2005.

Net earnings adjusted for non-cash items provided cash of

$315 million versus $246 million in the prior year. The Company

also increased the level of receivables sold under its trade

receivables securitization program providing cash of $54 million

in the current year versus $27 million in the prior year. Improved

management of working capital resulted in a use of cash of

$7 million in the current year versus $51 million in the prior year.

Cash flows of National Welders, in excess of a management fee

paid by National Welders to the Company, are not available to the

Company. Cash provided by operating activities in the current

year included $23 million of cash provided by National Welders,

which was consistent with $20 million in the prior year.

Consolidated cash flows provided by operating activities were 

used to fund investing activities, such as capital expenditures 

and acquisitions.

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $345 million during

the current year and primarily consisted of cash used for capital

expenditures and acquisitions. Capital expenditures were $214

million in the current period (including $21 million at National

Welders) of which $87 million relates to spending for cylinders,

bulk tanks and rental welding machines. These capital

expenditures reflect investments to support the Company’s sales

growth initiatives. Cash of $153 million was paid in the current

year for 13 acquisitions and holdback settlement payments,

Operating Income

Operating income increased 20% in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal

2004 driven by higher sales and the consolidation of National

Welders. The operating income margin decreased 50 basis points

to 8.6% from 9.1% in the prior year.

(In thousands) 2005 2004 Increase

Distribution $ 157,239 $ 137,213 $ 20,026 15%
All Other Operations 45,215 31,331 13,884 44%

$ 202,454 $ 168,544 $ 33,910 20%

The Distribution segment’s operating income margin of 7.7% in

fiscal 2005 decreased 60 basis points compared to 8.3% in the

prior year. BOC integration costs and employee separation costs

contributed 30 basis points to the decline in the operating income

margin. The decrease in the operating income margin also

reflected the lower gross profit margin, described above.

The All Other Operations segment’s operating income margin

decreased 160 basis points to 11.7% from 13.3% in fiscal 2004. The

decrease in the operating income margin primarily resulted from

the consolidation of National Welders, which carries a lower

operating income margin compared to the other businesses in the

All Other Operations segment. Had National Welders been

consolidated for all of fiscal 2004, the comparable operating

income margin would have been 11.5%.

Interest Expense and Discount on Securitization of Trade

Receivables

Interest expense, net, and the discount on securitization of trade

receivables totaled $56 million representing an increase of $10

million (22%) compared to the prior fiscal year. The increase in

interest expense primarily resulted from higher debt levels

associated with acquisitions, principally the BOC acquisition. The

increase in interest expense was also driven by higher weighted-

average interest rates. The consolidation of National Welders

contributed $2 million to the increase in interest expense.

Income Tax Expense

The effective income tax rate was 36.8% of pre-tax earnings in

fiscal 2005 compared to 38.3% in fiscal 2004. The lower tax rate in

fiscal 2005 resulted from favorable changes in valuation allowances

associated with state tax net operating loss carryforwards and the

realization of federal and state tax credits.

Minority Interest and Equity Earnings of Unconsolidated

Affiliate

Minority interest expense represents the portion of National

Welders’ earnings applicable to the preferred stockholders 

of National Welders. Minority interest expense in fiscal 2005

represents a full year of expense versus one quarter in fiscal 

2004, reflecting the December 31, 2003 consolidation of

National Welders.
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revolving credit borrowings of $92 million bearing an effective

interest rate of 5.74%, and Canadian borrowings of $24 million

(U.S. $20 million) bearing an effective interest rate of 4.79%.

Outstanding borrowings under the term loan at March 31, 2006

were $81 million bearing an effective interest rate of 5.93%. The

U.S. dollar borrowings bear interest at LIBOR plus 95 basis points

and the Canadian dollar borrowings bear interest at the Canadian

Bankers’ Acceptance Rate plus 95 basis points. As of March 31,

2006, the Company also had commitments under letters of credit

of $35 million, of which $1 million was supported by the Credit

Agreement and $34 million was supported by an arrangement

with another financial institution.

Under the Credit Agreement, the Company’s domestic subsidiaries

guarantee the U.S. borrowings and Canadian borrowings, and the

Company’s foreign subsidiaries also guarantee the Canadian

borrowings. The guarantees are full and unconditional and are

made on a joint and several basis. The Company has pledged 

100% of the stock of its domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the

stock of its foreign subsidiaries as surety for its obligations under

the agreement. The Credit Agreement provides for the release 

of the guarantees and collateral if the Company attains an

investment grade credit rating and maintains such rating for two

consecutive quarters.

Money Market Loans

In January 2006, the Company received an advance of $25 million

under an agreement with a financial institution. The agreement,

which expires on October 31, 2006, provides the Company with

access to short term advances not to exceed $25 million for a

maximum term of 90 days. The amount, term and interest rate of

an advance are established through mutual agreement with the

financial institution when the Company requests such an advance.

At March 31, 2006, the Company had an outstanding advance of

$25 million, due April 3, 2006 bearing interest at an annual rate of

5.26%. The advance was reflected in the “current portion of long-

term debt” in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. On April 3, 2006,

the advance was refinanced with a new advance in the amount of

$25 million for a term of 84 days bearing interest at 5.58%.

Medium-Term Notes

At March 31, 2006, the Company had $100 million of medium-

term notes due September 2006 bearing interest at a fixed rate of

7.75%. The medium-term notes have been presented in the

current portion of long-term debt. It is the Company’s intention

to refinance the notes upon maturity with borrowings under its

senior credit agreement. The medium-term notes are fully and

unconditionally guaranteed on a joint and several basis by each of

the wholly owned domestic guarantors under the revolving credit

facilities. The Company has pledged the stock of its domestic

guarantors for the benefit of the note holders.

primarily related to $20 million paid for the BOC contingent

purchase price. Cash of approximately $15 million was received

from the divestiture of Rutland Tool.

Financing activities used net cash of $15 million. Uses of cash

included net debt repayments of $38 million, treasury stock

purchases of $13 million and dividend payments of $18 million.

Sources of cash included proceeds from stock option exercises of

$20 million and, as described below, cash of $21 million was

provided by National Welders’ minority stockholders’ note

prepayment, the proceeds of which were used to repay National

Welders’ Term Loan B.

In June 2005, National Welders entered into an agreement with its

preferred stockholders under which the preferred stockholders

prepaid their $21 million note receivable to National Welders.

National Welders used the proceeds from the prepayment of the

preferred stockholders’ note to pay off its $21 million Term Loan

B, which had been collateralized by the preferred stockholders’

note. In connection with the note prepayment, National Welders

terminated an interest rate swap agreement that converted the

variable rate Term Loan B to a fixed interest rate. The preferred

stockholders reimbursed National Welders $700 thousand for the

fee to terminate the interest rate swap agreement. Also see Note 20

to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Dividends

At the end of each quarter during fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, the

Company paid its stockholders regular quarterly cash dividends of

$0.06, $0.045 and $0.04 per share, respectively. On May 23, 2006,

the Company’s Board of Directors declared a regular quarterly

cash dividend of $0.07 per share, which is payable on June 30, 2006

to stockholders of record as of June 15, 2006. Future dividend

declarations and associated amounts paid will depend upon the

Company’s earnings, financial condition, loan covenants, capital

requirements and other factors deemed relevant by management

and the Company’s Board of Directors.

Stock Repurchase Plan

In November 2005, the Company announced that its Board of

Directors approved a stock repurchase plan. The stock repurchase

plan authorizes the Company to repurchase up to $150 million of

its common stock over a three year period. During fiscal 2006,

the Company repurchased 370 thousand shares for cash of

$12.8 million.

Financial Instruments

Senior Credit Agreement

The Company has unsecured senior credit facilities with a

syndicate of lenders under a credit agreement (the “Credit

Agreement”) that provides a U.S. dollar revolving credit line of

$308 million, a Canadian credit line of $50 million (U.S. $42

million) and a term loan. The Credit Agreement has a maturity

date of January 14, 2010. As of March 31, 2006, the Company had
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the Company’s financing requirements exceed amounts available

under the Credit Agreement, the Company believes that it could

obtain these funds on reasonable terms. The terms of any future

financing arrangements depend on market conditions and the

Company’s financial position at that time.

The Company continues to look for acquisition candidates. The

Company’s financial instruments require that covenant

calculations include the pro forma results of acquired businesses.

Therefore, borrowing capacity is not reduced dollar-for-dollar

with acquisition financing.

Financial Instruments of the National Welders Joint Venture

Pursuant to the requirements of FASB’s Financial Interpretation

No. 46 (revised December 2003), Consolidation of Variable Interest

Entities, (“FIN 46R”), the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets

at March 31, 2006 and 2005 include the financial obligations of

National Welders. National Welders’ financial obligations are non-

recourse to the Company, meaning that the creditors of National

Welders do not have a claim on the assets of Airgas, Inc.

National Welders has a credit agreement (the “NWS Credit

Agreement”) that provides for a revolving credit line and several

term loans. At March 31, 2006, National Welders had borrowings

under its revolving credit line of $51 million, under Term Loan A

of $15 million, and under Term Loan C of $1.6 million. The

revolving credit line provides funding up to $74 million and

matures in August 2008. Term Loan A is repayable in monthly

amounts of $254 thousand with a lump-sum payment of the out-

standing balance at maturity in June 2007. Term loan B was repaid

in its entirety in June 2005 with the proceeds from the minority

stockholders’ prepayment of its notes due to National Welders (see

Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). Term Loan C

matures in September 2006. The NWS Credit Agreement contains

certain covenants which, among other things, limit the ability of

National Welders to incur and guarantee new indebtedness, sub-

ject National Welders to minimum net worth requirements, and

limit its capital expenditures, ownership changes, merger and

acquisition activity, and the payment of dividends.

The variable interest rate applicable to Term Loan A and the

revolving credit line range from LIBOR plus 70 to 145 basis points

based on National Welders’ leverage ratio. At March 31, 2006 and

2005, the effective interest rate for Term Loan A and the revolving

credit line was 5.70% and 4.85%, respectively. Term Loan C bears a

fixed interest rate of 7%. Based on restrictions related to certain

leverage ratios, National Welders had additional borrowing

capacity under its Credit Agreement of approximately $24 million

at March 31, 2006.

As of March 31, 2006, Term Loan A and the revolving credit line

are secured by certain current assets, principally trade receivables

and inventory, totaling $31 million, non-current assets, principally

equipment, totaling $92 million, and Airgas common stock with a

Senior Subordinated Notes

At March 31, 2006, the Company had $150 million of senior

subordinated notes (the “2004 Notes”) outstanding with a

maturity date of July 15, 2014. The 2004 Notes bear interest at a

fixed annual rate of 6.25%, payable semi-annually on January 15

and July 15 of each year. The 2004 notes have an optional

redemption provision, which permits the Company, at its option,

to call the 2004 Notes at scheduled dates and prices. The first

scheduled optional redemption date is July 15, 2009 at a price of

103.1% of the principal amount.

At March 31, 2006, the Company also had $225 million of senior

subordinated notes (the “2001 Notes”) outstanding with a

maturity date of October 1, 2011. The 2001 Notes bear interest at a

fixed annual rate of 9.125%, payable semi-annually on April 1 and

October 1 of each year. The 2001 notes also have an optional

redemption provision, which permits the Company, at its option,

to call the 2001 Notes at scheduled dates and prices. The first

scheduled optional redemption date is October 1, 2006 at a price

of 104.6% of the principal amount. The Company may exercise

the call provision during fiscal 2007 or thereafter depending on

capital market conditions and other factors. If the call provision is

exercised, the Company estimates that it would recognize a pre-tax

charge of $12 million and annual interest expense savings of $4

million based on effective interest rates at March 31, 2006.

The 2004 Notes and 2001 Notes contain covenants that could

restrict the payment of dividends, the repurchase of common

stock, the issuance of preferred stock, and the incurrence of

additional indebtedness and liens. The 2004 Notes and 2001 Notes

are fully and unconditionally guaranteed jointly and severally, on a

subordinated basis, by each of the wholly owned domestic

guarantors under the revolving credit facilities. The stock of the

Company’s domestic subsidiaries is also pledged to the note

holders on a subordinated basis.

Acquisition and Other Notes

The Company’s long-term debt also included acquisition and

other notes principally consisting of notes issued to sellers of

businesses acquired and are repayable in periodic installments. At

March 31, 2006, acquisition and other notes totaled approximately

$3 million with interest rates ranging from 5% to 8.5%.

Total Borrowing Capacity

As of March 31, 2006, the Company had additional availability

under its Credit Agreement of approximately $237 million, limited

by the size of the facility. Some of the Company’s financial

instruments (principally the Credit Agreement and the Senior

Subordinated Notes) contain covenants requiring the Company to

maintain certain leverage and coverage ratios. These covenants

serve to limit the total amount of debt that the Company may

incur. Based on limitations imposed by these financial covenants,

the Company may incur up to an additional $506 million of debt

at March 31, 2006, including the $237 million noted above. Should
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market value of $37 million classified as treasury stock and carried

at cost of $370 thousand. Term Loan C is secured by a production

facility, which had a net book value of approximately $22 million

at March 31, 2006.

Trade Receivables Securitization

The Company participates in a securitization agreement with two

commercial banks to sell up to $250 million of qualifying trade

receivables. The agreement expires in February 2008, but may be

renewed subject to provisions contained in the agreement. During

the twelve months ended March 31, 2006, the Company sold, net

of its retained interest, $2.41 billion of trade receivables and

remitted to bank conduits, pursuant to a servicing agreement,

$2.36 billion in collections on those receivables. The net proceeds

were used to reduce borrowings under the Company’s revolving

credit facilities. The amount of outstanding receivables under the

agreement was $244 million at March 31, 2006 and $190 million at

March 31, 2005.

Interest Rate Swap Agreements

The Company manages its exposure to changes in market interest

rates. At March 31, 2006, the Company was party to two interest

rate swap agreements. The swap agreements are with major finan-

cial institutions and aggregate $50 million in notional principal

amount. These swap agreements require the Company to make

fixed interest payments based on an average effective rate of 4.15%

and receive variable interest payments from its counterparties

based on one-month LIBOR, which was 4.70% at March 31, 2006.

The remaining term of each of these swap agreements is 3.1 years.

The Company monitors its positions and the credit ratings 

of its counterparties and does not anticipate non-performance 

by the counterparties.

Including the effect of the interest rate swap agreements, the debt

of National Welders, and the trade receivables securitization, the

Company’s ratio of fixed to variable interest rates was

approximately 53% fixed to 47% variable at March 31, 2006. A

majority of the Company’s variable rate debt is based on a spread

over the LIBOR. Based on the Company’s fixed to variable interest

rate ratio at March 31, 2006, for every 25 basis point increase in

LIBOR, the Company estimates that its annual interest expense

would increase approximately $1.2 million.

Other

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in

conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States requires management to make judgments,

assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts reported 

in the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying

notes. Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements describes

the significant accounting policies and methods used in the

preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements. Estimates

are used for, but not limited to, determining the net carrying value

of trade receivables, inventories, goodwill, other intangible assets

and business insurance reserves. Uncertainties about future events

make these estimates susceptible to change. Management evaluates

these estimates regularly and believes they are the best estimates,

appropriately made, given the known facts and circumstances. For

the three years ended March 31, 2006, there were no material

changes in the valuation methods or assumptions used by

management. However, actual results could differ from these

estimates under different assumptions and circumstances. The

Company believes the following accounting estimates are critical

due to the subjectivity and judgment necessary to account for

these matters, their susceptibility to change and the potential

impact that different assumptions could have on operating

performance.

Trade Receivables

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts,

which encompasses all elements of dilution such as sales returns,

sales allowances, and bad debts. The allowance adjusts the carrying

value of trade receivables to fair value based on estimates of

accounts that will not ultimately be collected. An allowance for

doubtful accounts is generally established as trade receivables age

beyond their due date. As past due balances age, higher valuation

allowances are established lowering the net carrying value of

receivables. The amount of valuation allowance established for

each past due period reflects the Company’s historical collections

experience and current economic conditions and trends. The

Company also establishes valuation allowances for specific

problem accounts and bankruptcies. The amounts ultimately

collected on past due trade receivables are subject to numerous

factors including general economic conditions, the condition of

the receivable portfolio assumed in acquisitions, the financial

condition of individual customers, and the terms of reorganization

for accounts exiting bankruptcy. Changes in these conditions

impact the Company’s collection experience and may result in the

recognition of higher or lower valuation allowances. Management

evaluates the allowance for doubtful accounts at least monthly.

The Company has a low concentration of credit risk due to its

broad and diversified customer base across multiple industries and

geographic locations, and its relatively low average order size. No

individual customer accounts for more than 0.5% of the

Company’s annual sales. Historically, the Company’s accounts

receivable write-offs have generally been in the range of 0.3% to

0.6% of sales.

Inventories

The Company’s inventories are stated at the lower of cost or

market. The majority of the products the Company carries in

inventory has long shelf lives and is not subject to technological

obsolescence. The Company writes its inventory down to its
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estimated market value when it believes the market value is below

cost. The Company estimates its ability to recover the costs of

items in inventory by product type based on its age, the rate at

which that product line is turning in inventory, its physical

condition as well as assumptions about future demand and market

conditions. The ability of the Company to recover its cost for

products in inventory can be affected by factors such as future

customer demand, general market conditions and the relationship

with significant suppliers. Management evaluates the

recoverability of its inventory at least quarterly. In aggregate,

inventory turns approximately four times per year.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company accounts for goodwill and other intangible assets in

accordance with SFAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.

Under SFAS 142, goodwill and other intangible assets with indefi-

nite useful lives are not amortized, but are instead tested for

impairment at least annually. The Company has elected to perform

its annual tests for indications of goodwill impairment as of

October 31 of each year or whenever indicators of impairment

exist. Goodwill impairment is recognized when the carrying value

of a reporting unit exceeds its “implied fair value.” Implied fair

value is estimated based on a discounted cash flow analysis for

each reporting unit. The discounted cash flow analysis requires

estimates, assumptions and judgments about future events. The

Company’s analysis uses internally generated budgets and long-

range forecasts, which are the same budgets and forecasts used for

managing operations, awarding management bonuses and seeking

alternative or additional financing. The Company’s discounted

cash flow analysis uses the assumptions in these budgets and fore-

casts about sales trends, inflation, working capital needs, and

forecasted capital expenditures along with an estimate of the

reporting unit’s terminal value (the value of the reporting unit at

the end of the forecast period) to determine the implied fair value

of each reporting unit. The Company’s assumptions about work-

ing capital needs and capital expenditures are based on historical

experience. Terminal values reflect an assumed perpetual growth

rate consistent with long-term expectations for inflation. The dis-

count rate used to determine the present value of the estimated

future cash flows is a risk adjusted rate consistent with the

weighted average cost of capital of peer group companies for a

term equal to the forecast period.

The Company believes the assumptions used in its discounted

cash flow analysis are appropriate and result in reasonable 

estimates of the implied fair value of each reporting unit. However,

the Company may not meet its sales growth and profitability 

targets, working capital needs and capital expenditures may be

higher than forecast, changes in credit markets may result in

changes to the Company’s discount rate and general business 

conditions may result in changes to the Company’s terminal value

assumptions for its reporting units. Based on the Company’s

October 31, 2005 assessment, the Company does not expect that

such changes would result in the recognition of goodwill impair-

ment in the Company’s reporting units.

Business Insurance Reserves

The Company has established insurance programs to cover

workers’ compensation, business automobile, and general liability

claims. During fiscal years 2006 and 2005, these programs had self-

insured retention of $500 thousand per occurrence and an

additional annual aggregate retention for the next $2.2 million and

$1.7 million, respectively, of claims in excess of $500 thousand. For

fiscal year 2007, the self-insured retention has been raised to $1

million per occurrence with no additional aggregate retention. The

Company’s exposure to loss under the fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2007

programs are actuarially equivalent. The Company reserves for its

self-insured retention based on individual claim evaluations

performed by a qualified third party administrator. The third party

administrator establishes loss estimates for known claims based on

the current facts and circumstances. These known claims are then

“developed,” through actuarial computations, to reflect the

expected ultimate loss for the known claims, as well as incurred

but not reported claims. Actuarial computations use the

Company’s specific loss history, payment patterns, insurance

coverage, plus industry trends and other factors to estimate the

required reserve for all open claims by policy year and loss type.

Reserves for the Company’s self-insurance retention are evaluated

monthly. Semi-annually, the Company obtains a third party

actuarial report to validate that the computations and assumptions

used are consistent with actuarial standards. Certain assumptions

used in the actuarial computations are susceptible to change. Loss

development factors are influenced by items such as medical

inflation, changes in workers’ compensation laws, and changes in

the Company’s loss payment patterns, all of which can have a

significant influence on the estimated ultimate loss related to the

Company’s self-insured retention. Accordingly, the ultimate

resolution of open claims may be for amounts more or less than

the reserve balances. The Company’s operations are spread across a

significant number of locations, which helps to mitigate the

potential impact of any given event that could give rise to an

insurance-related loss. Historically, business insurance expense has

generally been in the range of 0.8% to 1.2% of sales.
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(8) In connection with the Air Products acquisition, the Company entered into a 15-year take-or-
pay supply agreement, expiring September 1, 2017, under which Air Products will supply at
least 35% of the Company’s bulk liquid nitrogen, oxygen and argon requirements, exclusive of
the volumes purchased under the BOC supply agreements noted below. Additionally, the
Company has commitments to purchase helium under the terms of the supply agreement.
Based on the volume of fiscal 2006 purchases, the Air Products supply agreement represents
approximately $47 million in annual liquid bulk gas purchases. The purchase commitments for
future periods contained in the table above reflect estimates based on fiscal 2006 purchases.

In July 2004, the Company entered into a 15-year take-or-pay supply agreement with BOC to
purchase oxygen, nitrogen, argon and helium. The agreement was entered into in conjunction
with the July 2004 acquisition of BOC’s U.S. packaged gas business. The agreement will expire
in July 2019. The 2004 BOC agreement represents approximately $7 million in annual bulk gas
purchases. Prior to the acquisition, the Company purchased oxygen, nitrogen, argon and helium
under an agreement with BOC which expires in February 2007. Minimum purchases through
February 2007 under the pre-acquisition supply agreement are approximately $19 million.

Both the Air Products and BOC supply agreements contain market pricing subject to certain
economic indices and market analysis. The Company believes the minimum product purchases
under the agreements are well within the Company’s normal product purchases. Actual pur-
chases in future periods under the supply agreements could differ materially from those
presented in the table due to fluctuations in demand requirements related to varying sales lev-
els as well as changes in economic conditions.

(9) The Company is a party to long-term take-or-pay supply agreements for the purchase of liquid
carbon dioxide. The aggregate obligations under the supply agreements represent approxi-
mately 20% of the Company’s annual carbon dioxide requirements. The purchase commitments
for future periods contained in the table above reflect estimates based on fiscal 2006 pur-
chases. The Company believes the minimum product purchases under the agreements are
within the Company’s normal product purchases. Actual purchases in future periods under the
carbon dioxide supply agreements could differ materially from those presented in the table due
to fluctuations in demand requirements related to varying sales levels as well as changes in
economic conditions. Certain of the liquid carbon dioxide supply agreements contain market
pricing subject to certain economic indices.

(10) The Company purchases ammonia from a variety of sources. With two of those sources, the
Company has minimum purchase commitments under supply agreements. One agreement
expires in June 2006. The other agreement is perpetual pending a 180 day written notification
of termination from either party.

(11) Other purchase commitments primarily include property, plant and equipment expenditures.

(1) Aggregate long-term debt instruments are reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of
March 31, 2006. Long-term debt includes capital lease obligations, which were not material
and, therefore, did not warrant separate disclosure. See Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for more information regarding long-term debt instruments.

(2) The future interest payments on the Company’s long-term debt obligations were estimated
based on the current outstanding principal reduced by scheduled maturities in each period pre-
sented and interest rates as of March 31, 2006. The estimated interest payments may differ
materially from those presented above based on actual amounts of long-term debt outstanding
and actual interest rates in future periods.

(3) Payments or receipts under interest rate swap agreements result from changes in market inter-
est rates compared to contractual payments to be exchanged between the parties to the
agreements. The estimated receipts in future periods were determined based on interest rates
as of March 31, 2006. Actual receipts or payments may differ materially from those presented
above based on actual interest rates in future periods.

(4) The Company’s operating leases include approximately $109 million in fleet vehicles under
long-term operating leases. The Company guarantees a residual value of $14 million related to
its leased vehicles.

(5) The Company participates in a securitization agreement with two commercial banks to sell up
to $250 million of qualifying trade receivables. The agreement expires in February 2008, but
may be renewed subject to provisions contained in the agreement. Under the securitization
agreement, on a monthly basis, eligible trade receivables are sold to two commercial banks
through a bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity. Proceeds received from the sale of receiv-
ables were used by the Company to reduce its borrowings on its revolving credit facilities. The
securitization agreement is a form of off-balance sheet financing. Also see Note 13 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

(6) The discount on the securitization of trade receivables represents the difference between the
carrying value of the receivables and the proceeds from their sale. The amount of the discount
varies on a monthly basis depending on the amount of receivables sold and market interest
rates. The estimated discount in future periods is based on receivables sold and interest rates as
of March 31, 2006. The actual discount recognized in future periods may differ materially from
those presented above based on actual amounts of receivables sold and market rates.

(7) Letters of credit are guarantees of payment to third parties. The Company’s letters of credit
principally back obligations associated with the Company’s self-insured retention on workers’
compensation, automobile and general liability claims. These claims are supported by an
arrangement with a financial institution.

Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The following table presents the Company’s contractual obligations and off-balance sheet arrangements as of March 31, 2006:

(In thousands) Payments Due by Period

Contractual and Off-Balance Sheet Obligations Total Less than 1 Year 1 to 3 Years 3 to 5 Years More than 5 Years

Obligations reflected on the 

March 31, 2006 Balance Sheet:

Long-term debt (1) $ 767,627 $ 131,901 $ 64,664 $ 194,453 $ 376,609

Estimated interest payments on

long-term debt (2) 241,595 49,852 81,136 65,736 44,871

Estimated payments (receipts) on

interest rate swap agreements (3) (963) (275) (550) (138) —

Off-balance sheet obligations 

as of March 31, 2006:

Operating leases (4) 189,367 55,825 79,892 41,532 12,118

Trade receivables securitization (5) 244,200 — 244,200 — —

Estimated discount on securitization (6) 23,870 12,454 11,416 — —

Letters of credit (7) 34,752 34,752 — — —

Purchase obligations:

Liquid bulk gas supply agreements (8) 666,834 80,588 112,659 109,485 364,102

Liquid carbon dioxide supply agreements (9) 160,632 13,260 18,416 15,456 113,500

Ammonia supply agreements (10) 9,956 9,956 — — —

Other purchase commitments (11) 16,078 15,661 278 139 —

Total $ 2,353,948 $ 403,974 $ 612,111 $ 426,663 $ 911,200 
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New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement No. 123 (revised

2004), Share-Based Payment, (“SFAS 123R”), as an amendment to

SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and

supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to

Employees, and its related implementation guidance. SFAS 123R

requires that grants of employee stock options, including options

to purchase shares under employee stock purchase plans, be

recognized as compensation expense based on their fair values.

SFAS 123R is effective for annual periods beginning after

December 15, 2005. Accordingly, the Company will adopt SFAS

123R effective April 1, 2006 using the “modified prospective”

method in which compensation cost is recognized from the date of

adoption forward for both new awards and the portion of any

previously granted awards that vest after the date of adoption.

Prior periods are not restated under the modified prospective

method of adoption. The Company will continue to utilize the

Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the value of stock-

based awards. The Company has evaluated the impact of adoption

of SFAS 123R on its results of operations and financial position.

The estimated impact of adopting SFAS 123R in fiscal 2007 is

expected to reduce diluted earnings per share by about $0.11.

See Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the pro

forma effect on net earnings and earnings per share as if the

Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of

SFAS 123 to stock-based compensation in fiscal 2006, 2005 

and 2004.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 151, Inventory Costs,

as an amendment to the guidance provided on Inventory Pricing in

FASB Accounting Research Bulletin 43. SFAS 151, which the

Company is required to adopt as of April 1, 2006, clarifies the

accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight,

handling costs and wasted material. This statement requires 

that if the costs associated with the actual level of spoilage or

production defects are greater than the normal range of spoilage

or defects, the excess costs should be charged to current period

expense. Since the Company performs limited manufacturing, the

adoption of SFAS 151 will not have a material impact on its results

of operations, financial position or liquidity.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 153, Exchanges of

Nonmonetary Assets, as an amendment to APB Opinion 29,

Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions. SFAS 153 requires

nonmonetary exchanges to be accounted for at fair value,

recognizing any gains or losses, if the fair value is determinable

within reasonable limits and the transaction has commercial

substance. The Company is required to adopt SFAS 153 as 

of April 1, 2006. The adoption of SFAS 153 will not have a material

impact on the Company’s consolidated results of operations and

financial position.

On June 1, 2005, the FASB issued SFAS 154, Accounting Changes

and Error Corrections, which requires retrospective application to

prior periods’ financial statements of voluntary changes in

accounting principle, unless it is impracticable. SFAS 154 replaces

APB Opinion No. 20’s requirement to recognize most voluntary

changes in accounting principle by including the cumulative effect

of changing to the new accounting principle in net income of the

period of the change. The statement is effective for accounting

changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning

for the company beginning April 1, 2006.

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, Accounting for

Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments – an amendment of FASB

Statements No. 133 and 140. SFAS 155 addresses the application of

SFAS 133 to beneficial interests in securitized financial assets. SFAS

155 is effective for fiscal years beginning after September 15, 2006.

The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption

of SFAS 155 will have on its results of operations, financial

position or liquidity.

In March 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 156, Accounting for

Servicing of Financial Assets – an amendment of FASB Statement

No. 140. SFAS 156 requires that an entity recognize a servicing

asset or liability each time it undertakes an obligation to service a

financial asset by entering into a service contract under certain

situations. SFAS 156 is effective for fiscal years beginning after

September 15, 2006. The Company is currently evaluating the

impact that the adoption of SFAS 156 will have on its results of

operations, financial position or liquidity.

Forward-looking Statements

This report contains statements that are forward looking within

the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of

1995. These statements include, but are not limited to, statements

regarding: the company believes that there is a non-residential

construction boom and that the Company will participate in it; the

company’s expanding product line; the Company’s plans to open

additional contractor-friendly stores in fiscal 2007; the Company’s

belief that it can double revenues in the construction market; the

acquisition of Byrne Specialty Gases will enhance the Company’s

specialty gas and life sciences offerings; the Company’s ability to

control expenses; the identification of products that will grow at a

faster rate than the overall economy; the Company’s belief that the

ongoing annual expense resulting from the adoption of FIN 47 is

not anticipated to be material; the Company’s ability to identify

acquisition opportunities and expand its business; the expectation

that fiscal 2007 will be another productive year; further expansion

of the industrial economy in fiscal 2007; the Company’s estimate

of fiscal 2007 net earnings of $1.76 to $1.84 per diluted share; the

Company’s estimate that net earnings in its fiscal 2007 first quarter

will be $0.42 to $0.44 per diluted share; the Company’s estimate of

fiscal 2007 stock-based compensation expense of $0.11 per diluted

share; the continued success of pricing actions designed to offset

rising costs; fiscal 2008 financial goals of annual sales of $3.3

billion and operating margins of 10% to 11% of sales; the

Company’s estimate that for every 25 basis point increase in

LIBOR, annual interest expense will increase approximately $1.2

million; the future payment of dividends; the repurchase of $150
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million of the Company’s common stock over a three-year period;

the Company’s estimate that it would recognize a pre-tax charge of

$12 million and annual interest savings of $4 million resulting

from the exercise of the call provision on the 2001 Notes; the

Company’s belief that it could obtain financing at reasonable

terms in excess of amounts available under its Credit Agreement;

the ability to manage exposure to changes in market interest rates;

the performance of counterparties under interest rate swap

agreements; the reasonableness and accuracy of estimates of the

implied fair value of the Company’s reporting units; the

Company’s belief that future goodwill impairment would be

unlikely despite changes in the assumptions utilized in the annual

impairment analysis; the estimated ultimate loss related to the

Company’s self-insured retention; the estimate of future interest

and principal payments for financial instruments contained in

“Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements”;

the Company’s belief that the minimum product purchases under

its liquid bulk gas and carbon dioxide supply agreements are

within the Company’s normal product purchases; the Company’s

estimates of purchase commitments associated with product

supply agreements; and the Company’s belief that, if a contractual

arrangement with any supplier of gases, raw materials or

hardgoods was terminated, it would be able to locate alternative

sources of supply without disruption of service.

These forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties.

Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from

those predicted in any forward-looking statement include, but are

not limited to: adverse customer response to the Company’s

products and/or the inability to identify products that will grow at

a faster rate than the overall economy; the identification of new

asset retirement obligations and/or the valuation of asset

retirement obligations in future periods; the inability to identify

acquisition candidates and consummate acquisitions; an economic

downturn (including adverse changes in the specific markets for

the Company’s products); actual earnings in the first quarter of

fiscal 2007 and/or in fiscal 2007 falling outside the Company’s

range of estimates; more or less stock-based compensation expense

in fiscal 2007 resulting from changes in Black-Scholes

computations and input variables or changes in expected option

grants; rising product costs and the inability to pass those costs on

to customers and the impact on gross profit margin; the inability

of the Company to attain its fiscal 2008 financial goals; higher than

estimated interest expense resulting from increases in LIBOR

and/or changes in the Company’s credit rating; the inability to

obtain alternative supply sources to adequately meet customer

demand; the inability to take delivery of minimum product

purchases under the liquid bulk gas and liquid carbon dioxide

supply agreements; the Company’s inability to control operating

expenses and the potential impact of higher operating expenses in

future periods; adverse changes in customer buying patterns;

disruption to the Company’s business from integration problems

associated with acquisitions; a lack of available cash flow necessary

to pay future dividends or repurchase common stock; changes in

the Company’s debt levels and/or credit rating which prevent the

Company from arranging additional financing; actual charges and

interest savings that vary from those estimated by the Company

related to exercising the call provision of the 2001 Notes; the

inability to manage interest rate exposure; defaults by

counterparties under interest rate swap agreements; the effects of

competition from independent distributors and vertically

integrated gas producers on products, pricing and sales growth;

future goodwill impairment due to changes in assumptions used

in the annual impairment analysis; changes in actuarial

assumptions and their impact on the ultimate loss related to the

Company’s self-insured retention; changes in customer demand

and the impact on the Company’s ability to meet minimum

purchases under take-or-pay supply agreements; uncertainties

regarding accidents or litigation which may arise in the ordinary

course of business; and the effects of, and changes in, the economy,

monetary and fiscal policies, laws and regulations, inflation and

monetary fluctuations and fluctuations in interest rates, both on a

national and international basis. The Company does not undertake

to update any forward-looking statement made herein or that may

be made from time to time by or on behalf of the Company.
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Management of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) has

prepared and is responsible for the consolidated financial

statements and related financial information in this Annual

Report. The statements are prepared in conformity with U.S.

generally accepted accounting principles. The financial statements

reflect management’s informed judgment and estimation as to the

effect of events and transactions that are accounted for or

disclosed.

Management maintains a system of internal control, which

includes internal control over financial reporting, at each business

unit. However, this system of internal control does not extend to

the Company’s consolidated affiliate, National Welders Supply

Company, Inc. (“National Welders”). As disclosed in Note 16 to the

accompanying financial statements, National Welders is a joint

venture formed in 1996 that has been consolidated since the

Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 46R, Consolidation of

Variable Interest Entities, on December 31, 2003. Although the

Company does receive audited financial statements for National

Welders, the joint venture agreement does not permit the

Company to dictate, modify or assess the effectiveness of the

internal controls of National Welders. The Company’s system of

internal control is designed to provide reasonable assurance that

records are maintained in reasonable detail to properly reflect

transactions and permit the preparation of financial statements in

accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, that

transactions are executed in accordance with management’s and

the Board of Directors’ authorization, and that unauthorized

transactions are prevented or detected on a timely basis such that

they could not materially affect the financial statements. The

Company also maintains a staff of internal auditors who review

and evaluate the system of internal control on a continual basis. In

determining the extent of the system of internal control,

management recognizes that the cost should not exceed the

benefits derived. The evaluation of these factors requires estimates

and judgment by management.

Management has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s

internal control over financial reporting, as of March 31, 2006,

based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated

Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations

of the Treadway Commission. Management’s Report on Internal

Control Over Financial Reporting, which does not extend to the

internal control of National Welders, is included herein. KPMG

LLP, an Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, has also

audited management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the

Company’s internal control over financial reporting, as well as the

Company’s financial statements. The Reports of Independent

Registered Public Accounting Firm, which express opinions on

both management’s assessment of the Company’s internal control

over financial reporting and the fair presentation of the

Company’s financial position at March 31, 2006 and 2005 and the

results of operations and cash flows for the three-year period

ended March 31, 2006, appear herein.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, consisting solely

of independent Directors, meets regularly (jointly and separately)

with the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, the

internal auditors and management to satisfy itself that they are

properly discharging their responsibilities. The Independent

Registered Public Accounting Firm has direct access to the Audit

Committee.

Airgas, Inc.

Peter McCausland

Chairman, President and

Chief Executive Officer

Roger F. Millay

Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

June 14, 2006
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting FirmManagement’s Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting

Management of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) is
responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate system
of internal control over financial reporting. This responsibility,
however, does not extend to the Company’s consolidated affiliate,
National Welders Supply Company, Inc. (“National Welders”),
which represented approximately 11% of total assets and 7% of
net sales. The system of internal control over financial reporting of
National Welders, which has been consolidated by the Company
since the December 31, 2003 adoption of FASB Interpretation 
No. 46R, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, is the
responsibility of National Welders’ management. Although the
Company does receive audited financial statements for National
Welders, the joint venture agreement does not permit the
Company to dictate, modify or assess the effectiveness of the
internal controls of National Welders and the Company does not,
in practice, have the ability to assess those controls. Accordingly,
management’s assessment of internal control has been limited to
the system of internal control of Airgas, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Management, under the supervision and with the participation 
of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, conducted an assessment of the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting based on the framework estab-
lished by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control – Integrated
Framework. Based on this assessment, management concluded
that, as of March 31, 2006, the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting was effective. KPMG LLP, an Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm, as stated in their report,
has audited management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
March 31, 2006.

Airgas, Inc.

Peter McCausland
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Roger F. Millay
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

June 14, 2006

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Airgas, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of
Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of March 31, 2006
and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of earnings,
cash flows and changes in stockholders’ equity for each of the years
in the three-year period ended March 31, 2006. These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2006 and 2005, and
the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended March 31, 2006, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of March 31, 2006, based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO),
and our report dated June 14, 2006, expressed an unqualified
opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective
operation of, internal control over financial reporting.

In 2006, the Company changed its method of accounting for
conditional asset retirement obligations pursuant to FASB
Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement
Obligations, an interpretation of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.
Effective December 31, 2003, the Company changed its method of
accounting for variable interest entities pursuant to FASB
Interpretation No. 46R, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,
an interpretation of ARB No. 51.

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

June 14, 2006
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Airgas, Inc.:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the
accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting appearing herein, that Airgas, Inc. and
subsidiaries (the “Company”) maintained effective internal control
over financial reporting as of March 31, 2006, based on criteria
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible
for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of
the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
March 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on
criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2006, based on
criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO).

Management’s assessment did not extend to the Company’s
consolidated affiliate, National Welders Supply Company, Inc.
(“National Welders”), which has been consolidated by the
Company in accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 46R,
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an interpretation of ARB
No. 51. National Welders’ total assets and net sales represent 11%
and 7%, respectively, of the related consolidated amounts as of and
for the year ended March 31, 2006. Although the Company does
receive audited financial statements for National Welders, the joint
venture agreement does not permit the Company to dictate,
modify or assess the effectiveness of the internal controls of
National Welders, and the Company does not have the ability in
practice to assess those controls. Our audit of internal control over
financial reporting of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries also excluded an
evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of
National Welders.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
March 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements
of earnings, cash flows, and changes in stockholders’ equity for
each of the years in the three-year period ended March 31, 2006,
and our report dated June 14, 2006, expressed an unqualified
opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

In 2006, the Company changed its method of accounting for
conditional asset retirement obligations pursuant to FASB
Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement
Obligations, an interpretation of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.
Effective December 31, 2003, the Company changed its method of
accounting for variable interest entities pursuant to FASB
Interpretation No. 46R, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,
an interpretation of ARB No. 51.

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

June 14, 2006
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Consolidated Statements of Earnings

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Years Ended March 31, 2006 2005 2004

Net Sales $ 2,829,610 $ 2,367,782 $ 1,855,360

Cost and Expenses

Cost of products sold (excluding depreciation expense) 1,401,978 1,151,782 883,100

Selling, distribution and administrative expenses 1,031,332 902,468 717,045

Depreciation 122,396 105,614 82,058

Amortization (Note 8) 5,146 5,464 5,389

Special charges (recoveries), net (Note 4) — — (776)

Total costs and expenses 2,560,852 2,165,328 1,686,816

Operating Income 268,758 202,454 168,544

Interest expense, net (Note 17) (53,812) (51,245) (42,357)

Discount on securitization of trade receivables (Note 13) (9,371) (4,711) (3,264)

Other income (expense), net 2,462 1,129 1,472

Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes, 

minority interest and equity earnings 208,037 147,627 124,395

Income taxes (Note 18) (77,866) (54,261) (47,659)

Minority interest in earnings of consolidated affiliate (2,656) (1,808) (452)

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate — — 4,365

Income from continuing operations before the cumulative effect of

a change in accounting principle 127,515 91,558 80,649

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax (Note 3) (1,424) 464 (457)

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax (Note 2) (2,540) — —

Net Earnings $ 123,551 $ 92,022 $ 80,192

Net Earnings Per Common Share (Note 5)

Basic

Earnings from continuing operations before the cumulative effect of

a change in accounting principle $ 1.66 $ 1.22 $ 1.11

Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations (0.02) 0.01 (0.01)

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle (0.03) — —

Net earnings per share $ 1.61 $ 1.23 $ 1.10

Diluted

Earnings from continuing operations before the cumulative effect of

a change in accounting principle $ 1.62 $ 1.19 $ 1.08

Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations (0.02) 0.01 (0.01)

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle (0.03) — —

Net earnings per share $ 1.57 $ 1.20 $ 1.07

Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic 76,624 74,911 72,761

Diluted 81,152 76,957 74,672

Comprehensive income $ 125,693 $ 97,197 $ 82,488

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands)
March 31, 2006 2005

Assets

Current Assets

Cash $ 34,985 $ 32,640

Trade receivables, less allowances for doubtful accounts of $14,782 in 2006

and $11,108 in 2005 (Note 13) 132,245 148,834

Inventories, net (Note 6) 229,523 221,609

Deferred income tax asset, net (Note 18) 30,141 26,263

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 31,622 36,911

Total current assets 458,516 466,257

Plant and equipment at cost (Note 7) 2,191,673 1,971,218

Less accumulated depreciation (792,916) (701,876)

Plant and equipment, net 1,398,757 1,269,342

Goodwill (Note 8) 566,074 511,196

Other intangible assets, net (Note 8) 26,248 16,507

Other non-current assets 24,817 28,561

Total assets $ 2,474,412 $ 2,291,863

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable, trade $ 143,752 $ 143,208

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (Note 9) 200,001 183,132

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10) 131,901 6,948

Total current liabilities 475,654 333,288

Long-term debt, excluding current portion (Note 10) 635,726 801,635

Deferred income tax liability, net (Note 18) 327,818 282,186

Other non-current liabilities 30,864 24,391

Minority interest in affiliate (Note 16) 57,191 36,191

Commitments and contingencies (Note 22)

Stockholders’ Equity (Note 14)

Preferred stock, no par value, 20,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or

outstanding in 2006 and 2005 — —

Common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 200,000 shares authorized,

78,569 and 77,467 shares issued in 2006 and 2005, respectively 786 775

Capital in excess of par value 289,598 257,042

Retained earnings 665,158 560,056

Accumulated other comprehensive income 4,751 2,609

Treasury stock 1,292 and 1,356 common shares at cost in 2006

and 2005, respectively (13,134) (3,765)

Employee benefits trust, no shares and 338 common shares at cost in 2006

and 2005, respectively — (2,545)

Total stockholders’ equity 947,159 814,172

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 2,474,412 $ 2,291,863

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Years Ended March 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004

Shares of Accumulated
Common Capital in Other Employee

Stock $0.01 Common Excess of Retained Comprehensive Treasury Benefits Comprehensive
(In thousands) Par Value Stock Par Value Earnings Income (Loss) Stock Trust Income

Balance – March 31, 2003 76,373 $ 764 $216,275 $413,286 $ (3,302) $ (4,289) $ (25,801)

Net earnings 80,192 80,192
Foreign currency translation adjustment 1,573 1,573
Shares issued in connection with

stock options exercised (Note 15) 786 8 8,395 4,728
Tax benefit associated with exercise

of stock options 6,190
Airgas common stock owned by

National Welders (Note 14) (369)
Dividends paid on common stock

($0.16 per share) (Note 14) (11,801)
Shares issued from Employee Benefits Trust

for Employee Stock Purchase Plan 2,714 4,175
Net change in fair value of interest rate swap

agreements 1,964 1,964
Consolidation of National Welders’ interest rate

swap agreement, net of cumulative
tax benefit (1,560)

Net tax expense of comprehensive income items (1,241) (1,241)
Balance – March 31, 2004 77,159 $ 772 $233,574 $481,677 $ (2,566) $ (4,658) $ (16,898) $ 82,488

Net earnings 92,022 92,022
Foreign currency translation adjustment 2,314 2,314
Shares issued in connection with

stock options exercised (Note 15) 308 3 10,278 10,095
Shares issued from treasury stock associated

with warrants exercised (Note 14) (893) 893
Dividends paid on common stock

($0.18 per share) (Note 14) (13,643)
Tax benefit associated with exercise

of stock options and warrants 8,435
Shares issued from Employee Benefits Trust

for Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Note 14) 5,648 4,258
Net change in fair value of interest rate swap

agreements (Note 12) 2,894 2,894
Net change in fair value of National Welders’

interest rate swap agreement (Note 12) 1,583 1,583
Net tax expense of comprehensive income items (1,616) (1,616)
Balance – March 31, 2005 77,467 $ 775 $257,042 $560,056 $ 2,609 $ (3,765) $ (2,545) $ 97,197

Net earnings 123,551 123,551
Foreign currency translation adjustment 1,012 1,012
Shares issued in connection with

stock options exercised (Note 15) 570 6 14,136 3,402 2,545
Purchase of treasury stock (Note 14) (12,771)
Dividends paid on common stock

($0.24 per share) (Note 14) (18,449)
Tax benefit associated with exercise

of stock options 7,891
Shares issued in connection with the

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Note 15) 532 5 10,529
Net change in fair value of interest rate swap

agreements (Note 12) 867 867
Net change in fair value of National Welders’

interest rate swap agreement (Note 12) 885 885
Net tax expense of comprehensive income items (622) (622)
Balance – March 31, 2006 78,569 $ 786 $289,598 $665,158 $ 4,751 $ (13,134) $ — $125,693

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 2006 2005 2004

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net earnings $ 123,551 $ 92,022 $ 80,192

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by

operating activities:

Depreciation 122,396 105,614 82,058

Amortization 5,146 5,464 5,389

Deferred income taxes 47,148 31,639 23,036

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate — — (4,365)

(Gain)/ loss on divestiture 1,900 (360) —

Gain on sales of plant and equipment (1,330) (321) (837)

Minority interest in earnings 2,656 1,808 452

Stock issued for employee stock purchase plan 10,534 9,907 6,889

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle 2,540 — —

Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding effects of business

acquisitions and divestitures:

Securitization of trade receivables 54,300 27,300 3,700

Trade receivables, net (17,021) (39,583) (15,901)

Inventories, net (14,087) (32,356) (5,586)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 12,603 (8,149) 10,146

Accounts payable, trade 1,533 27,984 20,845

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 9,323 (574) 4,687

Other long-term assets 3,340 4,107 2,399

Other long-term liabilities (2,363) (2,185) (2,425)

Net cash provided by operating activities 362,169 222,317 210,679

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Capital expenditures (214,193) (167,977) (93,749)

Proceeds from sales of plant and equipment 8,202 5,361 5,347

Proceeds from divestitures 14,562 828 —

Business acquisitions and holdback settlements (153,428) (191,820) (34,907)

Management fees from unconsolidated affiliate — — 724

Other, net 170 171 (1,369)

Net cash used in investing activities (344,687) (353,437) (123,954)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings 568,379 621,450 414,297

Repayment of debt (606,532) (494,684) (485,004)

Purchase of treasury stock (12,771) — —

Financing costs — (2,531) (2,737)

Termination of interest rate hedge — 3,948 —

Minority interest in earnings (2,656) (1,808) (452)

Exercise of stock options 19,707 20,374 13,130

Minority stockholder note prepayment 21,000 — —

Dividends paid to stockholders (18,449) (13,643) (11,801)

Cash overdraft 16,185 5,592 (10,516)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (15,137) 138,698 (83,083)

Change In Cash $ 2,345 $ 7,578 $ 3,642

Cash – Beginning of year 32,640 25,062 21,420

Cash – End of year $ 34,985 $ 32,640 $ 25,062

For supplemental cash flow disclosures see Note 23.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



40

A i rga s ,  I n c . 2006

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

Note 1
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Description of the Business

Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries (“Airgas” or the “Company”) became

publicly traded on the New York Stock Exchange in 1986. Since its

inception, the Company has made over 330 acquisitions to become

the largest U.S. distributor of industrial, medical and specialty

gases (delivered in “packaged” or cylinder form), and welding,

safety and related products (“hardgoods”). Airgas is the largest

producer of nitrous oxide in the United States, a producer and

leading supplier of dry ice and the largest supplier of liquid carbon

dioxide in the southeastern United States. The Company is also a

leading distributor of process chemicals, refrigerants and

ammonia. The Company markets these products to its diversified

customer base through multiple sales channels including branch-

based sales representatives, retail stores, strategic customer account

programs, telesales, catalogs, e-business and independent

distributors. Products reach customers through an integrated

network of over 900 locations including production facilities,

packaged gas fill plants, specialty gas labs, distribution centers,

branches, and retail stores.

(b) Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of

Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries, as well as the Company’s consolidated

affiliate, National Welders Supply Company, Inc. (“National

Welders”) (see Notes 2 and 16). Intercompany accounts and

transactions, including those between the Company and National

Welders, are eliminated in consolidation.

The Company has made estimates and assumptions relating to the

reporting of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent

assets and liabilities to prepare these statements in conformity

with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Estimates are

used for, but not limited to, determining the net carrying value of

trade receivables, inventories, plant and equipment, goodwill,

other intangible assets, business insurance reserves and loss

contingencies. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(c) Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period financial

statements to conform to the current presentation. As described in

Note 3, the Company divested its subsidiary, Rutland Tool &

Supply Co. (“Rutland Tool”), in December 2005. The results of

Rutland Tool have been reclassified in the Consolidated Statement

of Earnings as discontinued operations in all periods presented.

The Consolidated Balance Sheet and Consolidated Statements of

Cash Flows were not reclassified because the assets, liabilities and

cash flows of Rutland Tool were not significant.

(d) Cash and Cash Overdraft

On a daily basis, all available funds are swept from depository

accounts into a concentration account and used to repay debt

under the Company’s revolving credit facilities. Cash principally

represents the balance of customer checks that have not yet cleared

through the banking system and become available to be swept into

the concentration account, and deposits made subsequent to the

daily cash sweep. The Company does not fund its disbursement

accounts for checks it has written until the checks are presented to

the bank for payment. Cash overdrafts represent the balance of

outstanding checks and are classified with other current liabilities.

There are no compensating balance requirements or other

restrictions on the transfer of cash associated with the Company’s

depository accounts.

(e) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts,

which encompasses all elements of dilution such as sales returns,

sales allowances, and bad debts. The allowance adjusts the carrying

value of trade receivables to fair value based on estimates of

accounts that will not ultimately be collected. An allowance for

doubtful accounts is generally established as trade receivables age

beyond their due date. As past due balances age, higher valuation

allowances are established lowering the net carrying value of

receivables. The amount of valuation allowance established for

each past due period reflects the Company’s historical collections

experience and current economic conditions and trends. The

Company also establishes valuation allowances for specific

problem accounts and bankruptcies. The amounts ultimately

collected on past due trade receivables are subject to numerous

factors including general economic conditions, the condition of

the receivable portfolio assumed in acquisitions, the financial

condition of individual customers, and the terms of reorganization

for accounts exiting bankruptcy. Changes in these conditions

impact the Company’s collection experience and may result in the

recognition of higher or lower valuation allowances.

(f) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is

determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method for

approximately 85% and 86% of the inventories at March 31, 2006

and 2005, respectively. Cost for the remainder of inventories is

determined using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method.

(g) Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment are initially stated at cost. Depreciation is

computed using the straight-line method based on the estimated

useful lives of the related assets. The carrying values of long-lived

assets, including plant and equipment, are reviewed for

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate

that the recorded value cannot be recovered from undiscounted

future cash flows. When the book value of an asset exceeds

associated expected future cash flows, it is considered to be

impaired and is written down to fair value, which is determined

based on either future cash flows or appraised values.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

(h) Goodwill, Other Intangible Assets and Deferred 

Financing Costs

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of an acquired

entity over the amounts assigned to the assets acquired and

liabilities assumed. Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite

useful lives are tested for impairment at least annually. The

Company has elected to perform its annual tests for indications of

goodwill impairment as of October 31 of each year. As of October

31, 2005 and 2004, the Company’s annual assessment of each of its

reporting units indicated that goodwill was not impaired.

Other intangible assets primarily include non-competition

agreements and customer lists resulting from business

acquisitions. Both non-competition agreements and customer lists

are valued using third-party appraisals and are amortized using

the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, which

range from 2 to 11 years. The Company assesses the recoverability

of other intangible assets by determining whether the

amortization of the asset balance can be recovered through

projected undiscounted future cash flows of the related business

over its remaining life.

Financing costs related to the issuance of long-term debt are

deferred and recognized in other long-term assets. Deferred

financing costs are amortized as interest expense over the term of

the related debt instrument.

(i) Asset Retirement Obligations

The fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation is

recognized in the period when the asset is placed in service. The

fair value of the liability is estimated using discounted cash flows.

In subsequent periods, the retirement obligation is accreted to its

future value or the estimate of the obligation at the asset

retirement date. A corresponding retirement asset equal to the fair

value of the retirement obligation is also recorded as part of the

carrying amount of the related long-lived asset and depreciated

over the asset’s useful life. Also see Note 2.

(j) Commitments and Contingencies

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments,

litigation and other sources are recorded when it is probable that a

liability has been incurred and the amount of the claim,

assessment or damages can be reasonably estimated.

The Company maintains business insurance programs with self-

insured retention, which covers workers’ compensation, business

automobile and general liability claims. The Company accrues

estimated losses using actuarial models and assumptions based on

historical loss experience. The actuarial calculations used to

estimate business insurance reserves are based on numerous

assumptions, some of which are subjective. The Company will

adjust its business insurance reserves, if necessary, in the event

future loss experience differs from historical loss patterns.

The Company maintains a self-insured health benefits plan, which

provides medical benefits to employees electing coverage under the

plan. The Company maintains a reserve for incurred but not

reported medical claims and claim development. The reserve is an

estimate based on historical experience and other assumptions,

some of which are subjective. The Company will adjust its self-

insured medical benefits reserve as the Company’s loss experience

changes due to medical inflation, changes in the number of plan

participants and an aging employee base.

(k) Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability

method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the

future tax consequences attributable to differences between the

financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and

their respective tax bases and operating loss carryforwards.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax

rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which

those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or

settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change

in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the

enactment date. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce

deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that a tax benefit

will not be realized.

(l) Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Company’s foreign operations is

the applicable local currency. The translation of foreign currencies

into U.S. dollars is performed for balance sheet accounts using

current exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and for

revenue and expense accounts using average exchange rates during

each reporting period. The gains or losses resulting from such

translations are included in stockholders’ equity as a component of

“Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).” Gains and

losses arising from foreign currency transactions are reflected in

the consolidated statements of earnings as incurred.

(m) Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to

concentrations of credit risk consist principally of trade

receivables. Concentrations of credit risk are limited due to the

Company’s large number of customers and their dispersion across

many industries throughout North America. Credit terms granted

to customers are generally net 30 days.

(n) Financial Instruments

In managing interest rate risk exposure, the Company enters into

interest rate swap agreements. An interest rate swap is a

contractual exchange of interest payments between two parties. A

standard interest rate swap involves the payment of a fixed rate

times a notional amount by one party in exchange for a floating

rate times the same notional amount from another party. As

interest rates change, the difference to be paid or received is

accrued and recognized as interest expense or income over the life
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dry ice, carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide, specialty gases, as well as the

oxygen, nitrogen and argon sold by the Company’s consolidated

affiliate, National Welders.

(r) Selling, Distribution and Administrative Expenses

Selling, distribution and administrative expenses consist of labor

and overhead associated with the purchasing, marketing and

distribution of the Company’s products, as well as costs associated

with a variety of administrative functions such as legal, treasury,

accounting and tax, and facility-related expenses.

(s) Depreciation

The Company determines depreciation expense using the straight-

line method based on the estimated useful lives of the assets. The

Company uses accelerated depreciation methods for tax purposes

where appropriate. Depreciation expense is recognized on all of

the Company’s property, plant and equipment in the Consolidated

Statement of Earnings line item “Depreciation.”

(t) Shipping and Handling Fees and Distribution Costs

The Company recognizes delivery and freight charges to customers

as elements of net sales. Costs of third-party freight are recognized

as cost of products sold. The majority of the costs associated with

the distribution of the Company’s products, which include direct

labor and overhead associated with filling, warehousing and

delivery by Company vehicles, is reflected in selling, distribution

and administrative expenses and were $395 million, $338 million

and $274 million for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2006, 2005

and 2004, respectively. The Company conducts multiple

operations out of the same facilities and does not allocate facility-

related expenses to each operational function. Accordingly, there is

no facility-related expense in the distribution costs disclosed

above. Depreciation expense associated with the Company’s

delivery fleet of $9.4 million, $6.6 million and $4.3 million was

recognized in depreciation for the fiscal years ended March 31,

2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Note 2
Accounting and Disclosure Changes

SFAS 123 (revised 2004)

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board

(“FASB”) issued Statement No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based

Payment, (“SFAS 123R”), as an amendment to SFAS 123,

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and supersedes APB

Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and its

related implementation guidance. SFAS 123R requires that grants

of employee stock options, including options to purchase shares

under employee stock purchase plans, be recognized as compensa-

tion expense based on their fair values. SFAS 123R is effective for

annual periods beginning after December 15, 2005. Accordingly,

the Company will adopt SFAS 123R effective April 1, 2006 using

the “modified prospective” method in which compensation cost is

of the agreement. These instruments are not entered into for

trading purposes. Counterparties to the Company’s interest rate

swap agreements are major financial institutions. In accordance

with SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Certain

Hedging Activities, as amended by SFAS No. 137 and 138, the

Company recognizes interest rate swap agreements on the balance

sheet at fair value. The interest rate swap agreements are marked to

market with changes in fair value recognized in either other

comprehensive income (loss) or in the carrying value of the

hedged portions of fixed rate debt, as applicable.

The carrying amounts for trade receivables and accounts payable

approximate fair value based on the short-term maturity of these

financial instruments.

(o) Employee Benefits Trust

The Company maintained an Employee Benefits Trust to fund

obligations of the Company’s employee benefit and compensation

plans. Shares were purchased by the Employee Benefits Trust from

the Company at fair market value and were reflected as a reduction

of stockholders’ equity in the Company’s Consolidated Balance

Sheets under the caption “Employee benefits trust.” Shares were

transferred from the Employee Benefits Trust to fund

compensation and employee benefit obligations based on the

original cost of the shares to the trust. The satisfaction of

compensation and employee benefit plan obligations was based on

the fair value of shares transferred. Differences between the

original cost of the shares to the Employee Benefits Trust and the

fair market value of shares transferred were charged or credited to

capital in excess of par value. During fiscal 2006, the remaining

shares held in the Employee Benefits Trust were used for employee

stock option exercises and the Trust was terminated.

(p) Revenue Recognition

Revenue from sales of gases and hardgoods products is recognized

when products are delivered to customers. Rental fees on cylinders,

cryogenic liquid containers, bulk gas storage tanks and other

equipment are recognized when earned. Under long-term lease

agreements in which rental fees are collected in advance, revenues

are deferred and recognized over the terms of the lease

agreements.

(q) Cost of Products Sold

Cost of products sold for the Distribution segment principally

consists of direct material costs and freight-in for bulk gas

purchases and hardgoods (welding supplies and equipment, safety

products and supplies). Maintenance costs associated with

cylinders, cryogenic liquid containers and bulk tanks are also

reflected in cost of products sold.

Cost of products sold for All Other Operations, which produce

much of the gas sold, consists of direct material costs, direct labor,

manufacturing overhead, freight-in and internal transfer costs

associated with the production of certain gas products, principally,
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consolidated by the party deemed to be the Primary Beneficiary

(i.e., the party that is subject to a majority of the risk of loss from

the variable interest entity’s activities or entitled to receive a

majority of the entity’s residual returns or both). Under previous

accounting practice, entities generally were not consolidated unless

the entity was controlled through voting interests.

Since June 1996, the Company has participated in a joint venture

with National Welders, a producer and distributor of industrial

gases based in Charlotte, North Carolina. The Company

determined that National Welders meets the definition of a

“Variable Interest Entity” under FIN 46R and that the Company is

the Primary Beneficiary of the joint venture. Therefore, effective

December 31, 2003, the Company elected to adopt FIN 46R, as it

applies to the joint venture, and consolidated National Welders. As

permitted by FIN 46R, the Company applied the interpretation

prospectively from the date of adoption. There was no cumulative

effect adjustment or impact on cash flows as a result of the

consolidation.

Beginning January 1, 2004, National Welders’ operating results

were no longer reflected as “Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated

Affiliates.” Rather, the operating results were reflected broadly

across the income statement with minority interest expense

representing the quarterly dividend on the joint venture’s

redeemable preferred stock and, through June 2005, net of interest

earned on a note receivable from the preferred stockholders (See

Note 20). The joint venture is structured such that the Company

earns the residual net income available to the common

stockholder, which is net of the minority interest expense. Since

the allocation of the joint venture’s net earnings was unaffected by

the adoption of FIN 46R, the consolidation of National Welders

did not impact the Company’s net earnings. See Note 16 for

additional disclosures regarding National Welders.

Note 3
Acquisitions and Divestitures

(a) Acquisitions

Acquisitions have been recorded using the purchase method of

accounting and, accordingly, results of their operations have been

included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements since

the effective date of each respective acquisition.

Fiscal 2006

During fiscal 2006, the Company purchased thirteen businesses

(including three businesses acquired by National Welders) associ-

ated with the distribution of packaged gases and related hardgoods

products, dry ice, and anhydrous ammonia. The largest of the

acquisitions included that of the Industrial Products Division of

LaRoche Industries (“LaRoche”), a leading distributor of anhy-

drous ammonia and related services in the U.S. The anhydrous

ammonia business acquired from LaRoche in June 2005 generated 

recognized from the date of adoption forward for both new awards

and the portion of any previously granted awards that vest after

the date of adoption. Prior periods are not restated under the

modified prospective method of adoption. The Company will con-

tinue to utilize the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate

the value of stock-based awards. The Company has evaluated the

impact of adoption of SFAS 123R on its results of operations and

financial position. The estimated impact of adopting SFAS 123R in

fiscal 2007 is expected to reduce diluted earnings per share by

about $0.11. See Note 15 for the pro forma effect on net earnings

and earnings per share as if the Company had applied the fair

value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to stock-based compen-

sation in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004.

FASB Financial Interpretation No. 47

Effective March 31, 2006, the Company adopted FASB

Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement

Obligations, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143, (“FIN

47”). FIN 47 clarifies that the term conditional asset retirement

obligation refers to a legal obligation to perform an asset

retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of

settlement are conditional on a future event that may or may not

be within the control of the entity. The obligation to perform the

asset retirement activity is unconditional even though uncertainty

exists around the timing or method of settlement. FIN 47 also

provides guidance on estimating an asset retirement obligation’s

fair value, as required under SFAS 143, and clarifies when an entity

has sufficient information to reasonably estimate the fair value of

an asset retirement obligation.

In accordance with the adoption of FIN 47 at March 31, 2006, the

Company recognized a $6 million non-current liability for asset

retirement obligations and $1.9 million in capitalizable costs net of

accumulated depreciation. A charge of $2.5 million, net of a net

deferred tax benefit of $1.6 million, was also recorded as the

cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle. The

Company’s asset retirement obligations are primarily associated

with requirements to remove bulk gas storage tanks from customer

locations upon the termination of gas supply contracts and from

leased facilities upon the termination of lease agreements. The

ongoing expense on an annual basis resulting from the adoption of

FIN 47 is not anticipated to be material.

FASB Financial Interpretation No. 46

Effective December 31, 2003, the Company adopted FASB

Financial Interpretation No. 46 (revised December 2003),

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, (“FIN 46R”). FIN 46R

addresses consolidation by a business enterprise of variable inter-

est entities. Variable interest entities are defined as corporations,

partnerships, trusts, or any other legal structure used for business

purposes, and by design, the holders of equity instruments in

those entities lack one of the characteristics of a financial control-

ling interest. FIN 46R required variable interest entities to be
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Fiscal 2005

During fiscal 2005, the Company purchased sixteen businesses

(including two businesses acquired by National Welders)

associated with the distribution of packaged gases and related

hardgoods products and dry ice. The largest of the acquisitions

was that of BOC’s U.S. packaged gas business in July 2004.

The aggregate purchase price of the fiscal 2005 acquisitions was

$227 million, including assumed liabilities. Thirteen of the

businesses had aggregate annual revenues of approximately $257

million and were included in the Distribution segment. Three

acquired businesses generated aggregate annual revenues of

approximately $3 million and were included in the All Other

Operations segment. The Company acquired the businesses to

expand its geographic coverage and strengthen its national

network of branch store locations. Goodwill associated with the

fiscal 2005 acquisitions was deductible for income taxes. The table

below summarizes the allocation of the BOC purchase price as

well as the combined consideration of the fifteen other

acquisitions, settlements and adjustments related to prior year

acquisitions.

Other
Acquisitions

and Holdback
(In thousands) BOC Settlements Total

Current assets, net $ 47,394 $ 1,437 $ 48,831
Property and equipment 159,080 12,627 171,707
Goodwill — 6,494 6,494
Other intangible assets 1,105 1,119 2,224
Current liabilities (7,154) (616) (7,770)
Contingent consideration (25,000) — (25,000)
Long-term liabilities (1,225) (3,441) (4,666)

Total cash consideration $ 174,200 $ 17,620 $ 191,820

Fiscal 2004

During fiscal 2004, the Company purchased five businesses

associated with the distribution of packaged gases and related

hardgoods products and dry ice. The largest of these businesses

and their effective dates of acquisition included Delta Safety

Supply, Inc. (May 1, 2003) and Interstate Welding Sales

Corporation (March 31, 2004). The aggregate purchase price of

the fiscal 2004 acquisitions was $41 million, including assumed

liabilities. Four of the businesses had aggregate annual revenues of

approximately $57 million and were included in the Distribution

segment. One acquired dry ice distribution business generated

annual revenues of approximately $2 million and was included in

the All Other Operations segment. Total assets contributed by

fiscal 2004 acquisitions were approximately $41 million. Goodwill

related to fiscal 2004 acquisitions amounted to approximately 

$10 million and was deductible for income taxes. Intangible assets,

other than goodwill, totaled approximately $5 million and

primarily related to customer lists and non-compete agreements

obtained from the sellers of the businesses.

aggregate annual revenues of approximately $65 million. The

LaRoche operations were incorporated into a new business unit,

“Airgas Specialty Products,” that was added to the All Other

Operations business segment. The Company believes the bulk

ammonia customers served by LaRoche represent a cross selling

opportunity for the Company’s complimentary product lines. In

addition to the LaRoche business, three businesses were acquired

with aggregate annual revenues of approximately $17 million and

were included in the All Other Operations segment. The remaining

nine acquired businesses had aggregate annual revenues of

$59 million and were included in the Distribution segment. The

Company acquired the businesses to expand its geographic cover-

age and strengthen its national network of branch store locations.

Purchase Price Allocation

The aggregate cash paid for the fiscal 2006 acquisitions was $128

million. The Company negotiated the respective purchase prices of

the businesses based on the expected cash flows to be derived from

their operations after integration into the Company’s existing

distribution network. The purchase price of each acquired business

was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based

on their estimated fair values as of the dates of each respective

acquisition. The purchase price allocations were based on

preliminary estimates of fair value and are subject to revision as

the Company finalizes appraisals and other analyses. The Company

does not expect the final allocation of the purchase price to differ

materially from the amounts included in the accompanying

consolidated financial statements. Approximately $45 million of

the purchase price assigned to goodwill will be deductible for

income taxes. The table below summarizes the allocation of

purchase price of all acquisitions categorized by segment.

All Other
Distribution Operations

(In thousands) Segment Segment Total

Current assets, net $ 13,146 $ 17,045 $ 30,191
Property and equipment 23,668 23,757 47,425
Goodwill 21,409 32,723 54,132
Other intangible assets 7,328 7,519 14,847
Current liabilities (4,817) (6,926) (11,743)
Long-term liabilities (6,286) (266) (6,552)

Total cash consideration $ 54,448 $ 73,852 $ 128,300

In addition, during fiscal 2006, the Company paid approximately

$25 million in acquisition-related holdback contingent payments.

The contingent payments included $20 million paid to The BOC

Group, Inc. (“BOC”) associated with the July 2004 purchase of

BOC’s U.S. packaged gas business. The contingent consideration

paid to BOC was determined based on the Company achieving

certain financial targets that were set forth in the asset purchase

agreement as well as other factors associated with the transaction.
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Pro Forma Operating Results

The following presents unaudited pro forma operating results as if

the fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 acquisitions had occurred on April

1, 2003. The pro forma results were prepared from financial

information obtained during the due diligence process associated

with the acquisitions. Pro forma adjustments to the historic

financial information of businesses acquired were limited to those

related to the Company’s stepped-up basis in acquired assets and

adjustments to reflect the Company’s borrowing and tax rates. The

pro forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes

only and do not purport to be indicative of what would have

occurred had the acquisitions been made as of April 1, 2003 or of

results that may occur in the future.

Unaudited
Years Ended March 31,

(In thousands,
except per share amounts) 2006 2005 2004

Net sales $ 2,884,110 $ 2,645,122 $ 2,338,134
Net earnings 123,444 94,440 84,528
Diluted earnings per share $ 1.57 $ 1.23 $ 1.13

(b) Divestitures

Fiscal 2006

On December 1, 2005, the Company sold its Rutland Tool &

Supply Co. (“Rutland Tool”) subsidiary. Rutland Tool distributed

metalworking tools, machine tools and MRO supplies from seven

locations and had approximately 180 employees. Proceeds of the

sale were approximately $15 million. As a result of the divestiture,

the Company reflected the operating results of Rutland Tool as

“discontinued operations” and recognized a loss of approximately

$3.1 million, $1.9 million after-tax, or $0.02 per diluted share, on

the sale. The loss principally relates to the write-off of leasehold

improvements and lease termination costs for long-term lease

commitments that are not being assumed by the purchaser. No

portion of consolidated interested expense was allocated to the

discontinued operations. The operating results of Rutland Tool

were previously reflected in the Distribution business segment.

The net sales and earnings (loss) before income taxes of Rutland

Tool (including the loss on sale) for the years ended March 31,

2006, 2005, and 2004, which were segregated and reported as

discontinued operations, are outlined below:

(Amounts in thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 2006 2005 2004

Net sales $ 32,738 $ 43,627 $ 40,108
Earnings (loss) before 

income taxes (2,391) 786 (763)

At March 31, 2005, the Company’s consolidated financial

statements include the assets and liabilities of Rutland Tool as

outlined below. The net assets and liabilities of Rutland Tool were

not presented as discontinued operations on the balance sheet

because the amounts were not significant.

(In thousands)
Rutland Tool March 31, 2005

Trade receivables, net $ 6,146
Inventories, net 15,098
Plant and equipment, net 1,968

$ 23,212

Accounts payable and accrued expenses (substantially 
all liabilities were not assumed by the purchaser) $ 4,711

Fiscal 2005

In May 2004, the Company divested a janitorial products

distribution business for cash proceeds of $828 thousand and

recognized a gain of $360 thousand. Proceeds from the divestiture

were used to reduce borrowings under the Company’s revolving

credit facilities. The business was included in the Distribution

segment and generated annual sales of approximately $5 million.

Note 4
Special Charges (Recoveries), Net

In fiscal 2004, the Company recorded a special charge recovery of

$776 thousand consisting of lower estimates of the ultimate cost of

prior period restructuring charges. The special charge recovery

pertained to a change in estimate related to facility exit costs.

Note 5
Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net earnings by

the weighted average number of shares of the Company’s common

stock outstanding during the period. Outstanding shares consist of

issued shares less treasury stock and common stock held by the

Employee Benefits Trust. Diluted earnings per share is calculated

by dividing net earnings by the weighted average common shares

outstanding adjusted for the dilutive effect of common stock

equivalents related to stock options and warrants. The calculation

of diluted earnings per share also assumes the conversion of

National Welders’ preferred stock to Airgas common stock.
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The table below presents the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004:

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Years Ended March 31, 2006 2005 2004

Basic Earnings per Share Computation

Numerator:
Income from continuing operations $ 127,515 $ 91,558 $ 80,649
Income (loss) from discontinued operations (1,424) 464 (457)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle (2,540) — —
Net earnings $ 123,551 $ 92,022 $ 80,192

Denominator:
Basic shares outstanding 76,624 74,911 72,761

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations $ 1.66 $ 1.22 $ 1.11
Basic earnings (loss) per share from discontinued

operations (0.02) 0.01 (0.01)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle (0.03) — —
Basic net earnings per share $ 1.61 $ 1.23 $ 1.10

Years Ended March 31, 2006 2005 (4) 2004 (4)

Diluted Earnings per Share Computation

Numerator:
Income from continuing operations $ 127,515 $ 91,558 $ 80,649
Plus: Preferred stock dividends (1) (2) 2,845 — —
Plus: Income taxes on earnings of National Welders (3) 730 — —
Income from continuing operations assuming preferred

stock conversion 131,090 91,558 80,649
Income (loss) from discontinued operations (1,424) 464 (457)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle (2,540) — —
Net earnings assuming preferred stock conversion $ 127,126 $ 92,022 $ 80,192

Denominator:
Basic shares outstanding 76,624 74,911 72,761
Incremental shares from assumed conversions:

Stock options and warrants 2,201 2,046 1,911
Preferred stock of National Welders (1) 2,327 — —

Diluted shares outstanding 81,152 76,957 74,672

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 1.62 $ 1.19 $ 1.08
Diluted earnings (loss) per share from discontinued

operations (0.02) 0.01 (0.01)
Diluted loss from the cumulative effect of a

change in accounting principle (0.03) — —

Diluted net earnings per share $ 1.57 $ 1.20 $ 1.07

(1) Pursuant to a joint venture agreement between the Company and the holders of the preferred stock of National Welders, until June 30, 2009, the preferred stockholders have the option to exchange their
3.2 million shares of National Welders voting redeemable preferred stock with a 5% annual dividend either for cash at a price of $17.78 per share or to tender them to the joint venture in exchange for
approximately 2.3 million shares of Airgas common stock (see Note 16). If Airgas common stock has a market value of $24.45 per share, the stock and cash redemption options are equivalent.

(2) If the preferred stockholders of National Welders convert their preferred stock to Airgas common stock, the 5% preferred stock dividend, recognized as “Minority interest in earnings of consolidated affil-
iate,” would no longer be paid to the preferred stockholders, resulting in additional net earnings for Airgas.

(3) The earnings of National Welders for tax purposes are treated as a deemed dividend to Airgas, net of an 80% dividend exclusion. Upon the assumed conversion of National Welders preferred stock to
Airgas common stock, National Welders would become a wholly owned subsidiary of Airgas. As a wholly owned subsidiary, the net earnings of National Welders would not be subject to additional tax at
the Airgas level.

(4) The assumed conversion of National Welders preferred stock to Airgas common stock is not presented because it was anti-dilutive.
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Outstanding stock options and warrants, with an exercise price

above market, are excluded from the Company’s diluted

computation as their effect would be anti-dilutive. There were

approximately 3 thousand, 2 thousand and 545 thousand

outstanding stock options and warrants with an exercise price

above the average market price at March 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004,

respectively. If the average market value of the Company’s

common stock increases above the respective exercise prices of the

options and warrants, they will be included in the diluted

computation as common stock equivalents.

Note 6
Inventories, Net

Inventories, net consist of:

(In thousands)
March 31, 2006 2005

Hardgoods $ 202,894 $ 200,069
Gases 26,629 21,540

$ 229,523 $ 221,609

Net inventories determined by the LIFO inventory method totaled

$37 million and $32 million at March 31, 2006 and 2005,

respectively. If the FIFO inventory method had been used for these

inventories, they would have been $6 million and $5 million

higher at March 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Substantially all of

the inventories are finished goods.

Note 7
Plant and Equipment

The major classes of plant and equipment, at cost, are as follows:

(In thousands) Depreciable
March 31, Lives (Yrs) 2006 2005

Land and land improvements — $ 75,528 $ 65,265
Buildings and leasehold 

improvements 25 219,229 193,293
Cylinders 30 890,789 835,170
Machinery and equipment, 

including bulk tanks 7 to 30 719,086 620,902
Computers and furniture 

and fixtures 3 to 10 133,821 128,111
Transportation equipment 3 to 15 142,466 122,601
Construction in progress — 10,754 5,876

$ 2,191,673 $ 1,971,218

Note 8
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for fiscal 2006 and

2005 were as follows:

All Other
Distribution Operations

(In thousands) Segment Segment Total

Balance at March 31, 2004 $ 372,563 $ 131,644 $ 504,207
Acquisitions 5,320 1,174 6,494
Transfers 2,172 (2,172) —
Other adjustments 413 82 495

Balance at March 31, 2005 $ 380,468 $ 130,728 $ 511,196
Acquisitions 21,409 32,723 54,132
Other adjustments 705 41 746

Balance at March 31, 2006 $ 402,582 $ 163,492 $ 566,074

Other intangible assets amounted to $26.2 million (net of

accumulated amortization of $43.8 million) and $16.5 million 

(net of accumulated amortization of $38.7 million) at March 31,

2006 and 2005, respectively. These intangible assets primarily

consist of acquired customer lists amortized over 7 to 11 years and

non-compete agreements entered into in connection with business

combinations amortized over the term of the agreements.

There are no expected residual values related to these intangible

assets. Intangible assets also include a trade name with an

indefinite useful life valued at $1 million acquired in the BOC

acquisition. Estimated future amortization expense by fiscal year is

as follows: 2007 – $5.8 million; 2008 – $5.0 million; 2009 – $3.8

million; 2010 – $3.3 million; 2011– $3.0 million and $4.3 million

thereafter.

Note 9
Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities include:

(In thousands)
March 31, 2006 2005

Accrued payroll and employee benefits $ 57,555 $ 51,159
Business insurance reserves 20,930 19,809
Health insurance reserves 9,734 11,115
Accrued interest expense 14,910 15,532
Taxes other than income taxes 13,590 9,211
Cash overdraft 40,155 23,970
Contingent consideration – 

BOC acquisition — 25,000
Other accrued expenses and current 

liabilities 43,127 27,336
$ 200,001 $ 183,132
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Note 10
Indebtedness

Long-term debt consists of:

(In thousands)
March 31, 2006 2005

Revolving credit borrowings $ 112,009 $ 157,832
Term loan 81,250 96,250
Money market loans 25,000 —
Medium-term notes 100,751 102,207
Senior subordinated notes 376,532 376,741
Acquisition and other notes 3,025 9,534
National Welders debt 69,060 66,019
Total long-term debt 767,627 808,583
Less current portion of long-term debt (131,901) (6,948)
Long-term debt, excluding current portion $ 635,726 $ 801,635

Senior Credit Agreement

The Company has unsecured senior credit facilities with a

syndicate of lenders under a credit agreement (the “Credit

Agreement”) that provides a U.S. dollar revolving credit line of

$308 million, a Canadian credit line of $50 million (U.S. $42

million) and a term loan. The Credit Agreement has a maturity

date of January 14, 2010. As of March 31, 2006, the Company had

revolving credit borrowings of $92 million bearing an effective

interest rate of 5.74%, and Canadian borrowings of $24 million

(U.S. $20 million) bearing an effective interest rate of 4.79%.

Outstanding borrowings under the term loan at March 31, 2006

were $81 million bearing an effective interest rate of 5.93%. The

U.S. dollar borrowings bear interest at LIBOR plus 95 basis points

and the Canadian dollar borrowings bear interest at the Canadian

Bankers’ Acceptance Rate plus 95 basis points. As of March 31,

2006, the Company also had commitments under letters of credit

of $35 million, of which $1 million was supported by the Credit

Agreement and $34 million was supported by an arrangement

with another financial institution.

Under the Credit Agreement, the Company’s domestic subsidiaries

guarantee the U.S. borrowings and Canadian borrowings, and the

Company’s foreign subsidiaries also guarantee the Canadian

borrowings. The guarantees are full and unconditional and are

made on a joint and several basis. The Company has pledged 100%

of the stock of its domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the stock of its

foreign subsidiaries as surety for its obligations under the

agreement. The Credit Agreement provides for the release of the

guarantees and collateral if the Company attains an investment

grade credit rating and maintains such rating for two consecutive

quarters.

Money Market Loans

In January 2006, the Company received an advance of $25 million

under an agreement with a financial institution. The agreement,

which expires on October 31, 2006, provides the Company with

access to short term advances not to exceed $25 million for a

maximum term of 90 days. The amount, term and interest rate of

an advance are established through mutual agreement with the

financial institution when the Company requests such an advance.

At March 31, 2006, the Company had an outstanding advance of

$25 million, due April 3, 2006 bearing interest at an annual rate of

5.26%. The advance was reflected in the “current portion of long

term debt” in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. On April 3, 2006, the

advance was refinanced with a new advance in the amount of $25

million for a term of 84 days bearing interest at 5.58%.

Medium-Term Notes

At March 31, 2006, the Company had $100 million of medium-

term notes due September 2006 bearing interest at a fixed rate of

7.75%. The medium-term notes have been presented in the current

portion of long-term debt at March 31, 2006. It is the Company’s

intention to refinance the notes upon maturity with borrowings

under its senior credit agreement. The medium-term notes are

fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a joint and several basis

by each of the wholly owned domestic guarantors under the

revolving credit facilities. The Company has pledged the stock of its

domestic guarantors for the benefit of the note holders.

Senior Subordinated Notes

At March 31, 2006, the Company had $150 million of senior

subordinated notes (the “2004 Notes”) outstanding with a maturity

date of July 15, 2014. The 2004 Notes bear interest at a fixed annual

rate of 6.25%, payable semi-annually on January 15 and July 15 of

each year. The 2004 Notes have an optional redemption provision,

which permits the Company, at its option, to call the 2004 Notes at

scheduled dates and prices. The first scheduled optional

redemption date is July 15, 2009 at a price of 103.1% of the

principal amount.

At March 31, 2006, the Company also had $225 million of senior

subordinated notes (the “2001 Notes”) outstanding with a maturity

date of October 1, 2011. The 2001 Notes bear interest at a fixed

annual rate of 9.125%, payable semi-annually on April 1 and

October 1 of each year. The 2001 Notes also have an optional

redemption provision, which permits the Company, at its option,

to call the 2001 Notes at scheduled dates and prices. The first

scheduled optional redemption date is October 1, 2006 at a price of

104.6% of the principal amount. The Company may exercise the

call provision during fiscal 2007 or thereafter depending on capital

market conditions and other factors. If the call provision is

exercised, the Company estimates that it would recognize a pre-tax

charge of $12 million and annual interest expense savings of

$4 million based on effective interest rates at March 31, 2006.

The 2004 Notes and 2001 Notes contain covenants that could

restrict the payment of dividends, the repurchase of common

stock, the issuance of preferred stock, and the incurrence of

additional indebtedness and liens. The 2004 Notes and 2001 Notes

are fully and unconditionally guaranteed jointly and severally, on a

subordinated basis, by each of the wholly owned domestic

guarantors under the revolving credit facilities. The stock of the

Company’s domestic subsidiaries is also pledged to the note

holders on a subordinated basis.
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Acquisition and Other Notes

The Company’s long-term debt also included acquisition and

other notes principally consisting of notes issued to sellers of

businesses acquired and are repayable in periodic installments. At

March 31, 2006, acquisition and other notes totaled approximately

$3 million with interest rates ranging from 5% to 8.5%.

Total Borrowing Capacity

Some of the Company’s financial instruments (principally the

Credit Agreement and the Senior Subordinated Notes) contain

covenants requiring the Company to maintain certain leverage and

coverage ratios. These covenants serve to limit the total amount of

debt that the Company may incur. As of March 31, 2006, the

Company had additional borrowing capacity under its credit

agreement of $237 million.

Debt of the National Welders Joint Venture

Pursuant to the requirements of FIN 46R, the Company’s

Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2006 and 2005 include

the financial obligations of National Welders. National Welders’

financial obligations are non-recourse to the Company, meaning

that the creditors of National Welders do not have a claim on the

assets of Airgas, Inc. in settlement of the joint venture’s financial

obligations. The debt of National Welders consists of:

(In thousands)
March 31, 2006 2005

Revolving credit borrowings $ 51,393 $ 22,189
Term loan A 15,042 18,092
Term loan B — 21,000
Term loan C 1,622 3,572
Acquisition notes and other debt obligations 1,003 1,166
Total long-term debt 69,060 66,019
Less current portion of long-term debt (5,589) (6,076)
Long-term debt, excluding current portion $ 63,471 $ 59,943

National Welders has a credit agreement (the “NWS Credit

Agreement”) that provides for a revolving credit line and several

term loans. The revolving credit line provides funding up to $74

million and matures in August 2008 subject to annual extensions

upon request by National Welders and consent of the lenders.

Term Loan A is repayable in monthly amounts of $254 thousand

with a lump-sum payment of the outstanding balance at maturity

in June 2007. Term loan B was repaid in its entirety in June 2005

with the proceeds from the minority stockholders’ prepayment of

its notes due to National Welders (see Note 20). Term Loan C

matures in September 2006. The NWS Credit Agreement contains

certain covenants which, among other things, limit the ability of

National Welders to incur and guarantee new indebtedness,

subject National Welders to minimum net worth requirements,

and limit its capital expenditures, ownership changes, merger and

acquisition activity, and the payment of dividends.

The variable interest rate applicable to Term Loan A and the

revolving credit line ranges from LIBOR plus 70 to 145 basis

points based on National Welders’ leverage ratio. At March 31,

2006 and 2005, the effective interest rate for Term Loan A and the

revolving credit line was 5.70% and 4.85%, respectively. Term

Loan C bears a fixed interest rate of 7%. Based on restrictions

related to certain leverage ratios, National Welders had additional

borrowing capacity under its Credit Agreement of approximately

$24 million at March 31, 2006.

As of March 31, 2006, Term Loan A and the revolving credit line

are secured by certain current assets, principally trade receivables

and inventory, totaling $31 million, non-current assets, principally

equipment, totaling $92 million, and Airgas common stock with a

market value of $37 million classified as treasury stock and carried

at cost of $370 thousand. Term Loan C is secured by a production

facility, which had a net book value of approximately $22 million

at March 31, 2006.

Aggregate Long-term Debt Maturities

The aggregate maturities of long-term debt are as follows:

(In thousands) National
Years Ending March 31, Airgas, Inc. (1) Welders Total

2007 $ 126,312 $ 5,589 $ 131,901
2008 833 12,001 12,834
2009 437 51,393 51,830
2010 194,409 — 194,409
2011 44 — 44
Thereafter . 376,532 77 376,609

$ 698,567 $ 69,060 $ 767,627

(1) The Company has the ability and intention of refinancing current maturities related to the term
loan under its senior credit agreement with its long-term revolving credit line. Therefore, the
term loan has been reflected as long term in the aggregate maturity schedule.

Note 11
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Summarized below are the carrying and fair values of the

Company’s financial instruments at March 31, 2006 and 2005.

The fair value of the Company’s publicly traded financial

instruments is based on market pricing. The fair value of other

non-publicly traded financial instruments is based on estimates

using standard pricing models that take into account the 

present value of future cash flows as of the balance sheet date.

The computation of fair values of these instruments is generally

performed by the Company. The carrying amounts reported 

in the balance sheet for trade receivables and payables, accrued

liabilities, accrued income taxes, and short-term borrowings

approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these

instruments. Accordingly, these items have been excluded from 

the following table:
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2006 2006 2005 2005
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

(In thousands) Value Value Value Value

Financial Instruments:
Revolving credit borrowings $112,009 $112,009 $157,832 $157,832
Term loan 81,250 81,250 96,250 96,250
Money market loans 25,000 25,000 — —
Medium-term notes 100,751 101,050 102,207 103,625
2001 senior

subordinated notes 226,532 237,938 226,741 244,688
2004 senior

subordinated notes 150,000 147,750 150,000 150,375
Acquisition and other notes 3,025 3,025 9,534 9,534

Interest rate swap
agreements:

Cash flow hedge – 
(asset) liability (1,441) (1,441) (514) (514)

The carrying and fair values of the National Welders joint

venture’s financial instruments at March 31, 2006 and 2005 are

listed below:

2006 2006 2005 2005
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

(In thousands) Value Value Value Value

National Welders’ 
Financial Instruments:

Revolving credit borrowings $ 51,393 $ 51,393 $ 22,189 $ 22,189
Term loan A 15,042 15,042 18,092 18,092
Term loan B — — 21,000 21,000
Term loan C 1,622 1,631 3,572 3,624
Acquisition notes and 

other debt obligations 1,003 1,003 1,166 1,166
Interest rate swap 

agreement:
Cash flow hedge – 

liability . — — 924 924

Note 12
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company manages exposure to changes in market interest

rates. The Company’s use of derivative instruments is limited to

highly effective fixed and floating interest rate swap agreements

used to manage well-defined interest rate risk exposures. The

Company monitors its positions and the credit ratings of its

counterparties and does not anticipate non-performance by the

counterparties. Interest rate swap agreements are not entered into

for trading purposes.

At March 31, 2006, the Company was party to two interest rate

swap agreements. The swap agreements are with major financial

institutions and aggregate $50 million in notional principal

amount. These swap agreements effectively convert $50 million of

variable interest rate debt to fixed rate debt. The swap agreements

require the Company to make fixed interest payments based on an

average effective rate of 4.15% and receive variable interest

payments from its counterparties based on one-month LIBOR

(average rate of 4.70% at March 31, 2006). The remaining term of

these swap agreements is three years. In fiscal 2006 and 2005, the

Company recorded a net change in the fair value of the fixed

interest rate swap agreements in the amounts of $867 thousand

and $2.9 million, respectively, as other comprehensive income. The

net additional interest payments made or received under these

swap agreements are recognized in interest expense. Over the next

12 months, the Company expects to reclassify $275 thousand of

deferred gain from accumulated other comprehensive income to

interest expense as related interest payments that are being hedged

are recognized.

On March 30, 2005, the Company terminated four variable interest

rate swap agreements with a notional principal amount of $125

million. The interest rate swap agreements previously converted a

corresponding amount of fixed rate medium-term notes and the

senior subordinated notes due 2011 to variable rate debt. As a

result of swap termination, the Company received $3.9 million in

cash. The corresponding gain on the termination has been

deferred and is being amortized as a reduction of interest expense

over the remaining terms of the notes. During fiscal 2006,

amortization of the deferred gain reduced interest expense by $1.7

million. In fiscal 2007, the Company anticipates the amortization

of the deferred gain to reduce interest expense by $1 million.

The Company’s National Welders joint venture participated in one

interest rate swap with a notional principal amount of $21 million

that effectively converted a corresponding amount of variable

interest rate debt to a fixed rate debt instrument. The interest rate

swap agreement was not entered into for trading purposes. The

December 31, 2003 consolidation of National Welders resulted in

the addition of a cumulative unrealized loss on the National

Welders interest rate swap of $2.5 million and associated tax

benefit of $1 million in “Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss.”

In fiscal 2006 and 2005, the Company recognized a net change in

the fair value of the National Welders fixed interest rate swap

agreement of $885 thousand and $1.6 million, respectively, as

other comprehensive income. In June 2005, in conjunction with

the repayment of a term loan (see Notes 10 and 20), National

Welders terminated its interest rate swap agreement. The cost to

terminate the interest rate swap of $680 thousand was reimbursed

to National Welders by its preferred stockholders.

Including the debt of National Welders, the effect of the interest

rate swap agreements and the trade receivables securitization, the

Company’s ratio of fixed to variable interest rates was approxi-

mately 53% fixed to 47% variable at March 31, 2006. The financial

impact of the swap agreements was to reduce interest expense by

approximately $13 thousand, $3.6 million and $4.7 million in

fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Swap agreements with a

notional amount of $50 million mature in May 2009.
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Note 14
Stockholders’ Equity

(a) Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 200 million shares of

common stock with a par value of $0.01 per share. At March 31,

2006, the number of shares of common stock outstanding was 77.3

million, net of 1.3 million shares (923 thousand of shares owned

by National Welders) of common stock held as treasury stock. At

March 31, 2005, the number of shares of common stock

outstanding was 75.8 million, net of 1.4 million shares (923

thousand of shares owned by National Welders) of common stock

held as treasury stock and 338 thousand shares of common stock

held by the Employee Benefits Trust.

(b) Preferred Stock and Redeemable Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 20 million shares of

preferred stock. Of the 20 million shares authorized, 200 thousand

shares have been designated as Series A Junior Participating

Preferred Stock and 200 thousand shares have been designated as

Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock (see Stockholder

Rights Plan below). At March 31, 2006 and 2005, no shares of the

preferred stock were issued or outstanding. The preferred stock

may be issued from time to time by the Company’s Board of

Directors in one or more series. The Board of Directors is

authorized to fix the dividend rights and terms, conversion rights,

voting rights, rights and terms of redemption, liquidation

preferences, and any other rights, preferences, privileges and

restrictions of any series of preferred stock, and the number of

shares constituting each such series and designation thereof.

Additionally, the Company is authorized to issue 30 thousand

shares of redeemable preferred stock. At March 31, 2006 and 2005,

no shares of redeemable preferred stock were issued or

outstanding.

(c) Dividends

At the end of each quarter during fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, the

Company paid its stockholders regular quarterly cash dividends of

$0.06, $0.045 and $0.04 per share, respectively. On May 23, 2006,

the Company’s Board of Directors declared a regular quarterly

cash dividend of $0.07 per share payable June 30, 2006 to

stockholders of record as of June 15, 2006. Future dividend

declarations and associated amounts paid will depend upon the

Company’s earnings, financial condition, loan covenants, capital

requirements and other factors deemed relevant by management

and the Company’s Board of Directors.

(d) Shares in Employee Benefits Trust

Beginning in March 1999, the Company maintained an Employee

Benefits Trust (the “Trust”) to fund certain future obligations of

the Company’s employee benefit and compensation plans. The

Company held promissory notes from the Trust in the amount of

common stock purchased by the Trust. Shares held by the Trust

served as collateral for the promissory notes and were available to

fund certain employee benefit plan obligations as the promissory

Note 13
Trade Receivables Securitization

The Company participates in a securitization agreement with two

commercial banks to sell up to $250 million of qualifying trade

receivables. The agreement will expire in February 2008, but may

be renewed subject to renewal provisions contained in the agree-

ment. During fiscal 2006, the Company sold, net of its retained

interest, $2.41 billion of trade receivables and remitted to bank

conduits, pursuant to a servicing agreement, $2.36 billion in col-

lections on those receivables. The net proceeds were used to reduce

borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit facilities. The

amount of outstanding receivables under the agreement was $244

million at March 31, 2006 and $190 million at March 31, 2005.

The transaction has been accounted for as a sale under the

provisions of SFAS No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing

of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. Under the

securitization agreement, eligible trade receivables are sold to bank

conduits through a bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity,

which is consolidated for financial reporting purposes. The

difference between the proceeds from the sale and the carrying

value of the receivables is recognized as “Discount on

securitization of trade receivables” in the accompanying

Consolidated Statements of Earnings and varies on a monthly

basis depending on the amount of receivables sold and market

rates. The Company retains a subordinated interest in the

receivables sold, which is recorded at the receivables’ previous

carrying value. A subordinated retained interest of approximately

$63 million and $57 million is included in “Trade receivables” in

the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2006

and 2005, respectively. The Company’s retained interest is

generally collected within 60 days. On a monthly basis,

management measures the fair value of the retained interest at

management’s best estimate of the undiscounted expected future

cash collections on the transferred receivables. Changes in the fair

value are recognized as bad debt expense. Actual cash collections

may differ from these estimates and would directly affect the fair

value of the retained interest. In accordance with a servicing

agreement, the Company continues to service, administer and

collect the trade receivables on behalf of the bank conduits. The

servicing fees charged to the bank conduits approximate the costs

of collections.
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(g) Share Repurchase Plan

In November 2005, the Company announced that its Board of

Directors approved a stock repurchase plan. The stock repurchase

plan authorizes the Company to repurchase up to $150 million 

of it common stock over a three year period. During fiscal 2006,

the Company repurchased 370 thousand shares for cash of

$12.8 million.

Note 15
Stock-Based Compensation

SFAS 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment, an amendment of

SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, established

accounting and disclosure requirements using a fair-value-based

method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation

plans. As permitted by SFAS 123, the Company has elected to

continue to account for its stock-based compensation plans in

accordance with the intrinsic-value-based method of accounting

prescribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,

Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Under APB 25,

compensation expense is recorded on the date of grant only if the

current market price of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise

price. Accordingly, the Company has not recognized compensation

expense associated with its stock option and employee stock

purchase plans. The following table illustrates the effect on net

income and earnings per share for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 as if

the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of

SFAS 123 to stock-based compensation.

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Years Ended March 31, 2006 2005 2004

Net earnings, as reported $ 123,551 $ 92,022 $ 80,192
Deduct: Total stock-based 

employee compensation 
expense determined under 
fair value based methods 
for all awards, net of 
related tax effects (8,035) (6,868) (5,469)

Pro forma net earnings $ 115,516 $ 85,154 $ 74,723

Earnings per share:
Basic – as reported $ 1.61 $ 1.23 $ 1.10
Basic – pro forma $ 1.51 $ 1.14 $ 1.03

Diluted – as reported $ 1.57 $ 1.20 $ 1.07
Diluted – pro forma $ 1.47 $ 1.11 $ 1.00

notes were repaid. The shares held by the Employee Benefits 

Trust were not considered outstanding for earnings per share 

purposes until released from serving as collateral for the 

promissory notes. During fiscal 2006, the final 338 thousand

shares were issued and the Trust was terminated. During 

fiscal 2005, approximately 1.9 million shares were issued from 

the Trust for employee benefit programs.

(e) Stockholder Rights Plan

Effective April 1, 1997, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted

a stockholder rights plan (the “1997 Rights Plan”). Pursuant to the

1997 Rights Plan, the Board of Directors declared a dividend

distribution of one right for each share of common stock. Each

right entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one one-

thousandth of a share Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock

at an initial exercise price of $100 per share.

Rights become exercisable only following the acquisition by a

person or group of 15% (or 20% in the case of the Chairman and

certain of his affiliates) or more of the Company’s common stock

or after the announcement of a tender offer or exchange offer to

acquire 15% (or 20% in the case of the Chairman and certain of

his affiliates) or more of the outstanding common stock. If such a

person or group acquires 15% or more (or 20% or more, as the

case may be) of the common stock, each right (other than such

person’s or group’s rights, which will become void) will entitle the

holder to purchase, at the exercise price, common stock having a

market value equal to twice the exercise price. In certain

circumstances, the rights may be redeemed by the Company. If not

redeemed, they will expire on April 1, 2007.

(f) Warrants

During fiscal 2002, the Company granted warrants to purchase

324,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to an outside

consulting firm for services rendered. The warrants had a term of

three years and exercise prices in excess of market value of the

Company’s stock on the date of grant. The exercise prices ranged

from $11.98 to $18.78 per share. The aggregate value of the

warrants on the dates of grant, as determined by the Black-Scholes

model, was $1.1 million, which the Company expensed during

fiscal 2002. During fiscal 2005, all 324,000 warrants were exercised

at prices ranging from $21.54 to $26.47 per share. The holder of

the warrants elected a “net issue exercise” provision under the

warrant agreement. The net issue exercise provision allowed the

holder, without the payment of additional consideration, to receive

shares of the Company’s common stock, equal to the value of the

warrants. As a result, the Company issued 114 thousand treasury

shares to redeem the warrants. At March 31, 2006 and 2005, there

were no outstanding warrants.
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(b) Board of Directors Stock Option Plan

In May 1997, the Company adopted the 1997 Directors’ Stock

Option Plan (the “1997 Directors’ Plan”) under which directors 

of the Company who are not employees may be granted 

options. Under the 1997 Directors’ Plan, a total of 800 thousand

shares of common stock are reserved for sale upon the exercise 

of stock options.

Under the 1997 Directors’ Plan, at March 31, 2006, 222,500

options were available for issuance. During fiscal 2006, 2005 and

2004, 56,000, 60,000 and 60,000 options, respectively, were granted

with an exercise price equal to the market price at the date of grant

and have a maximum term of ten years.

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of

grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the

following weighted average assumptions used for fiscal 2006, 2005

and 2004 option grants, respectively: expected volatility of 35.2%,

40.3% and 40.5%; risk-free interest rate of 3.9%, 3.6% and 3.2%;

expected life of 6.4, 5.8 and 5.9 years; and a dividend yield of

0.83%, 0.82% and 0.84%. The weighted average fair value per

share of the stock options granted during fiscal 2006, 2005 and

2004 was $11.29, $8.97 and $7.58, respectively.

The following table summarizes the activity of the Board of

Directors stock option plan during the three years ended 

March 31, 2006:

Number of Exercise Price
Shares per Share

March 31, 2004
Outstanding and exercisable

beginning of year 492,500 $ 5.25 – $19.25
Granted 60,000 18.98
Exercised (48,500) 5.25 – 13.82
March 31, 2005
Outstanding and exercisable,

beginning of year 504,000 5.25 – 19.25
Granted 60,000 21.51
Exercised (42,500) 13.50 – 19.25
March 31, 2006
Outstanding and exercisable,

beginning of year 521,500 5.25 – 21.51
Granted 56,000 29.04
Exercised (56,000) 12.25 – 19.25
Outstanding and exercisable,

end of year 521,500 $ 5.25 – $29.04

Options granted to the Board of Directors are exercisable in full as

of the date of grant.

The Company’s stock-based compensation plans are described

below:

(a) Employee Stock Option Plan

In May 1997, the Company adopted the 1997 Stock Option Plan

(the “1997 Plan”) under which officers and key employees may be

granted options. Under the 1997 Plan, a total of 11.2 million

shares of common stock are reserved for issuance upon the

exercise of stock options and restricted stock.

Options granted under the 1997 Plan vest 25% annually and have

a maximum term of ten years. Under the 1997 Plan, at March 31,

2006, 2005 and 2004, 2 million, 3 million and 3.8 million options,

respectively, were available for issuance. In fiscal 2006, 2005 and

2004, 1 million, 1 million and 1.1 million options, respectively,

were granted with an exercise price equal to market price at the

date of grant. Options under the 1997 Plan are generally granted

in May of each year.

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of

grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the

following weighted average assumptions used for fiscal 2006, 2005

and 2004 option grants, respectively: expected volatility of 35.3%,

38.9% and 40.1%; risk-free interest rate of 3.9%, 3.9% and 2.6%;

expected life of 6.4, 7.3 and 7.3 years, and a dividend yield of

0.83%, 0.85% and 0.83%. The weighted average fair value per

share of the options granted during fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 was

$9.35, $9.28 and $8.22, respectively.

The following table summarizes the activity of the employee stock

option plan during the three years ended March 31, 2006:

Number of Exercise Price
Shares per Share

March 31, 2004
Outstanding, beginning of year 8,185,156 $ 4.63 – $23.25
Granted 1,104,800 19.36
Exercised (1,364,769) 5.21 – 19.00
Expired (302,784) 5.21 – 22.00
March 31, 2005
Outstanding, beginning of year 7,622,403 4.63 – 23.25
Granted 1,007,500 21.15
Exercised (1,605,868) 5.50 – 22.87
Expired (182,234) 5.50 – 22.00
March 31, 2006
Outstanding, beginning of year 6,841,801 4.63 – 23.25
Granted 1,007,200 24.09
Exercised (1,281,944) 5.44 – 24.09
Expired (94,739) 5.50 – 24.09
Outstanding, end of year 6,472,318 $ 4.63 – $24.09

Options for 4.1 million, 4.3 million and 4.7 million shares were

exercisable at March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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The following table summarizes information about options

outstanding and exercisable under both the employee and Board

of Directors stock option plans at March 31, 2006:

Options Outstanding

Exercise
Weighted Average Number Price

Remaining Life-Years Outstanding Per Share

4.00 803,617 $ 4.63 – $ 8.50
4.36 1,162,190 8.72 – 11.50
2.44 1,035,217 12.25 – 15.94
6.13 809,576 16.52 – 16.76
6.99 922,977 16.86 – 19.22
7.99 908,052 19.25 – 21.15
7.90 1,352,189 21.25 – 29.04
5.74 6,993,818 $ 4.63 – $29.04

Options Exercisable

Weighted Average
Number of Options Exercise Price

Exercisable Per Share

803,617 $ 6.06
1,162,190 9.93
1,031,456 15.16

571,139 16.53
466,710 19.15
227,469 20.96
321,416 23.09

4,583,997 $ 13.66

(c) Employee Stock Purchase Plans

In July 2003, the Company’s stockholders approved the 2003

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2003 Plan”) to encourage and

assist employees in acquiring an equity interest in the Company.

The 2003 Plan replaced the Company’s 2001 Employee Stock

Purchase Plan (the “2001 Plan”). During fiscal 2004, substantially

all of the authorized shares remaining under the 2001 Plan were

issued. During fiscal 2005, the 2001 Plan was terminated and the

remaining authorized shares were deregistered.

The 2003 Plan is authorized to issue up to 1.5 million shares of

common stock. Eligible employees may elect to have up to 15% of

their annual gross earnings withheld to purchase common stock at

85% of the market value. Market value under the 2003 Plan is

defined as either the closing share price on the New York Stock

Exchange as of an employee’s enrollment date or the closing price

on the first business day of a fiscal quarter when the shares are

purchased, whichever is lower. An employee may lock-in a

purchase price for up to 12 months. The 2003 Plan is designed to

comply with the requirements of Sections 421 and 423 of the

Internal Revenue Code. The terms of the Company’s previous

2001 Plan were substantially the same as the 2003 Plan, except that

under the 2001 Plan, employees could lock-in a purchase price for

up to 27 months. During fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company

issued 532 thousand, 565 thousand and 554 thousand shares. The

average purchase price per share in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 was

$19.80, $17.54 and $12.44, respectively.

Compensation expense under SFAS 123 is measured based on the

fair value of the employees’ option to purchase shares of common

stock at the grant date and is recognized over the future periods in

which the related employee service is rendered. The fair value of

the employees’ option to purchase shares of common stock is

estimated using the Black-Scholes model. The assumptions used to

estimate the fair value of the employees’ option to purchase shares

of common stock at grant dates in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004,

respectively, were: average expected volatility of 27.1%, 29.7% and

31.1%; average risk-free interest rate of 3.1%, 1.1% and 1.0%;

dividend yield of 0.90%, 0.83% and 0.87%; and expected option

terms ranging from 3 to 12 months for the 2003 Plan and 3 to 27

months for the 2001 Plan. Had the Company adopted SFAS 123,

compensation expense related to the Employee Stock Purchase

Plans would have been $3 million, $2.8 million and $1.5 million in

fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Note 16
Consolidated Affiliate and Minority Interest

The Company’s consolidated affiliate, National Welders, is a

producer and distributor of industrial gases based in Charlotte,

North Carolina. The joint venture owns and operates

approximately 50 branch stores, two acetylene plants, a specialty

gas lab, and three air separation plants that produce all of its

oxygen and nitrogen and over 50% of its argon requirements. The

joint venture also distributes medical and specialty gases, process

chemicals and welding equipment and supplies. Ownership

interests in National Welders consist of voting common stock and

voting redeemable preferred stock with a 5% annual dividend. The

Company owns 100% of the joint venture’s common stock, which

represents a 50% voting interest. The payment of dividends on the

common stock is subordinate to the payment of a 5% dividend on

the preferred stock. Additionally, the common stock dividends

must be declared by a vote of the joint venture’s board of directors.

A family holds approximately 3.2 million shares of redeemable

preferred stock and controls the balance of the voting interest.

Through June 30, 2009, the preferred stockholders have the option

to redeem their preferred shares for cash at a price of $17.78 per

share or to tender them to the joint venture in exchange for

approximately 2.3 million shares of Airgas common stock (See

Note 20 for a fiscal 2006 transaction with the preferred

stockholders). The common stock and cash redemption options

are equivalent when Airgas’ common stock has a market value 

of $24.45 per share. If the preferred stockholders elect to 

exchange their shares for Airgas common stock, the Company is

obligated to provide the necessary shares to the joint venture by

capital contribution or other means the Company deems
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reasonably appropriate. The Company may purchase shares on the

open market or may issue new or treasury shares to meet its

exchange obligation. The preferred stockholders may also elect to

retain their interest in the preferred stock beyond June 30, 2009.

In fiscal 2004, the Company determined that its joint venture with

National Welders met the definition of a “Variable Interest Entity”

under FIN 46R (Note 2). The Company, as the only common

stockholder, was determined to be the primary beneficiary of the

joint venture. Therefore, effective December 31, 2003, the

Company adopted FIN 46R, as it applies to the joint venture, and

consolidated this previously unconsolidated affiliate. The

Company has participated in the joint venture with National

Welders since June 1996 and prior to the adoption of FIN 46R, the

Company used the “equity method of accounting” to report its

interest in the joint venture. Under the equity method of

accounting, the Company recognized its proportionate share of the

joint venture’s net assets and liabilities as an “Investment in

Unconsolidated Affiliate” and its proportionate share of the

operating results as “Equity in the Earnings of Unconsolidated

Affiliate.” As permitted by FIN 46R, the Company applied the

interpretation prospectively from the date of adoption (prior

periods, including fiscal 2004 interim periods, were not restated).

With the adoption of FIN 46R, the operating results of the 

joint venture were reflected broadly across the income statement

with minority interest expense reflecting the preferred

stockholders’ proportionate share of the joint venture’s operating

results. The liabilities of the joint venture are non-recourse to the

Company (See Note 10 for a description of National Welders 

debt). Likewise, cash flows in excess of a management fee paid by

National Welders are not available to the Company (See Note 23

for cash flows of National Welders). The tables below outline

elements of the consolidated financial statements of the Company

applicable to National Welders.

(In thousands)
March 31, 2006 2005

Total assets of National Welders $ 267,240 $ 230,920
Total liabilities of National Welders $ 190,276 $ 162,777

(In thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 2006 2005 2004

Net sales $ 188,314 $ 167,473 $ 39,170
Operating income 22,046 15,662 3,390
Earnings before income taxes, 

minority interest and 
equity earnings 19,919 12,418 2,719

Income taxes (8,536) (4,712) (1,016)
Minority interest in earnings 

of consolidated affiliate (2,656) (1,808) (452)
Equity in earnings of

unconsolidated affiliate — — 4,365
Income from continuing

operations $ 8,727 $ 5,898 $ 5,616

Note 17
Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net, consists of:

(In thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 2006 2005 2004

Interest expense $ 55,740 $ 52,836 $ 43,028
Interest and finance charge

(income) (1,928) (1,591) (671)
$ 53,812 $ 51,245 $ 42,357

Note 18
Income Taxes

Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes,

minority interest and equity earnings were derived from the

following sources:

(In thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 2006 2005 2004

United States $ 200,039 $ 140,662 $ 119,329
Foreign 7,998 6,965 5,066

$ 208,037 $ 147,627 $ 124,395

Income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations 

consists of:

(In thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 2006 2005 2004

Current:
Federal $ 26,551 $ 19,666 $ 21,978
Foreign 2,673 2,027 2,120
State 1,494 929 525

30,718 22,622 24,623

Deferred:
Federal 43,672 29,327 19,475
Foreign 98 303 198
State 3,378 2,009 3,363

47,148 31,639 23,036
$ 77,866 $ 54,261 $ 47,659

The discontinued operations of Rutland Tool have been presented

net of income tax expense (benefit) of ($967), $322, and ($306) in

fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Likewise, the fiscal

2006 change in accounting principle has also been reflected net of

a net tax benefit of $1,636.
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of future taxable income during the periods in which those

temporary differences become deductible. Management considers

the reversal of deferred tax liabilities and projected future taxable

income in making this assessment. Based upon the level of

historical taxable income and projections for future taxable

income over the periods which the deferred tax assets are

deductible, management believes it is more likely than not that the

Company will realize the benefits of these deductible differences,

net of the existing valuation allowances, at March 31, 2006.

Valuation allowances primarily relate to certain state tax net

operating loss carryforwards. In fiscal 2006, the Company revised

its estimates of the realizability of certain tax benefits associated

with state tax net operating loss carryforwards. Those revisions,

along with changes due to the utilization and expiration of net

operating loss carryforwards, resulted in a $2.1 million reduction

in the related valuation allowances.

Note 19
Benefit Plans

The Company has a defined contribution 401(k) plan (the “401(k)

plan”) covering substantially all full-time employees. Under the

terms of the 401(k) plan, the Company makes matching

contributions up to two percent of participants’ wages. Amounts

expensed under the 401(k) plan for fiscal 2006, 2005, and 2004

were $5.5 million, $4.6 million and $3.9 million, respectively.

Certain subsidiaries of the Company participate in multi-employer

pension and post-retirement plans, which provide defined benefits

to union employees. Contributions are made to the plans in

accordance with negotiated labor contracts. If the Company

elected to withdraw from these plans at March 31, 2006, the

withdrawal liability would have been approximately $3.2 million.

Amounts expensed under the pension plans for fiscal 2006, 2005

and 2004 were $1.3 million, $858 thousand and $686 thousand,

respectively.

Note 20
Related Parties

The Company purchases and sells goods and services in the

ordinary course of business with certain corporations in which

some of its directors are officers. The Company also leases certain

operating facilities from employees who were previous owners of

business acquired. The amounts of these transactions are not

material to the Company.

Separation Agreement

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company and its former

Chief Operating Officer, entered into a separation agreement,

which terminated his employment. Under the agreement, the

former Chief Operating Officer received a payment of $1.4 million

and accelerated vesting of 15,000 stock options.

Significant differences between taxes computed at the federal

statutory rate and the provision for income taxes were:

(In thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 2006 2005 2004

Taxes at U.S. federal 
statutory rate 35.0 % 35.0 % 35.0 %

Increase in income taxes 
resulting from:

State income taxes,
net of federal benefit 2.2 % 1.9 % 2.2 %

Other, net 0.2 % (0.1)% 1.1 %
37.4 % 36.8 % 38.3 %

The tax effects of cumulative temporary differences that gave rise

to the significant portions of the deferred tax assets and liabilities

were as follows:

(In thousands)
March 31, 2006 2005

Deferred Tax Assets:
Inventories $ 9,586 $ 8,257
Deferred rental income 5,347 3,072
Insurance reserves 9,554 9,497
Litigation settlement and other reserves 1,972 1,117
Asset Retirement Obligations 2,361 —
Net operating loss carryforwards 36,592 56,256
Other 7,865 4,662
Valuation allowance (6,347) (8,437)

66,930 74,424
Deferred Tax Liabilities:

Accounts receivable (1,785) (3,530)
Plant and equipment (307,036) (287,033)
Intangible assets (39,993) (29,205)
Other (15,793) (10,579)

(364,607) (330,347)
Net deferred tax liability $ (297,677) $ (255,923)

Current deferred tax assets and current deferred tax liabilities have

been netted for presentation purposes. Non-current deferred tax

assets and non-current deferred tax liabilities have also been

netted. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reflected in the

Company’s consolidated balance sheets as follows:

(In thousands)
March 31, 2006 2005

Current deferred tax asset, net $ 30,141 $ 26,263
Non-current deferred tax liability, net (327,818) (282,186)
Net deferred tax liability $ (297,677) $ (255,923)

The Company has recorded tax benefits amounting to $7.9

million, $8.4 million, and $6.2 million in fiscal 2006, 2005 and

2004, respectively, resulting from the exercise of stock options.

This benefit has been recorded in capital in excess of par value.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management

considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or

all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate

realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation
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Transactions by National Welders

In the first quarter of fiscal 2006, National Welders entered into an

agreement with its preferred stockholders under which the

preferred stockholders prepaid their $21 million note receivable

owed to National Welders. National Welders used the proceeds

from the prepayment of the preferred stockholders’ note to repay

its $21 million Term Loan B, which had been collateralized by the

preferred stockholders’ note. The preferred stockholders’ note

payable to National Welders had been reflected as a reduction of

“Minority interest in affiliate” on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Consequently, the prepayment of the preferred stockholders’ note

resulted in a $21 million increase to the Company’s “Minority

interest in affiliate.” Additionally, Term Loan B was subject to an

interest rate swap agreement, which was terminated in conjunction

with the debt repayment. The fee of $700 thousand to unwind the

interest rate swap agreement was reimbursed to National Welders

by the preferred stockholders.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2005, National Welders purchased the

assets of National Realty Sales Corporation for $11.4 million.

Members of the Turner family, who have a 50% voting interest in

National Welders, also owned National Realty Sales Corporation.

The assets purchased included 22 properties previously leased from

National Realty Sales Corporation. The purchase price of National

Realty Sales Corporation was established through an independent,

third party appraisal. National Welders’ Board of Directors,

through which the Company holds a 50% voting interest, approved

the transaction.

Note 21
Leases

The Company leases certain distribution facilities, fleet vehicles and

equipment under long-term operating leases with varying terms.

Most leases contain renewal options and in some instances,

purchase options. Rentals under these long-term leases for the years

ended March 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, amounted to approximately

$68 million, $61 million, and $55 million, respectively. Certain

operating facilities are leased at market rates from employees of the

Company who were previous owners of businesses acquired.

Outstanding capital lease obligations and the related capital assets

are not material to the consolidated balance sheets at March 31,

2006 and 2005. Associated with the fleet vehicle operating leases,

the Company guarantees a residual value of $14 million,

representing approximately 13% of the original cost.

At March 31, 2006, future minimum lease payments under non-

cancelable operating leases were as follows:

(In thousands) National
Years Ended March 31, Airgas, Inc. Welders Total

2007 $ 54,896 $ 929 $ 55,825
2008 44,140 971 45,111
2009 34,479 302 34,781
2010 24,161 207 24,368
2011 16,978 186 17,164
Thereafter 11,213 905 12,118

$ 185,867 $ 3,500 $ 189,367

Note 22
Commitments And Contingencies

(a) Legal

The Company is involved in various legal and regulatory

proceedings that have arisen in the ordinary course of its business

and have not been fully adjudicated. These actions, when

ultimately concluded and determined, will not, in the opinion of

management, have a material adverse effect upon the Company’s

consolidated financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

(b) Insurance Coverage

The Company has established insurance programs to cover

workers’ compensation, business automobile and general liability

claims. For fiscal years 2006 and 2005, these programs had self-

insured retention of $500 thousand per occurrence and an

additional annual aggregate retention for the next $2.2 million

($1.7 million in fiscal 2005) for claims in excess of $500 thousand.

For fiscal year 2007, the self-insured retention has been raised to

$1 million per occurrence with no additional aggregate retention.

The Company’s exposure to loss under the fiscal 2006 and fiscal

2007 programs are actuarially equivalent. The Company believes

its insurance reserves are adequate. The Company accrues

estimated losses using actuarial models and assumptions based on

historical loss experience. The nature of the Company’s business

may subject it to product and general liability lawsuits. To the

extent that the Company is subject to claims that exceed its

liability insurance coverage, such suits could have a material

adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of

operations or liquidity.

The Company maintains a self-insured health benefits plan, which

provides medical benefits to employees electing coverage under the

plan. The Company maintains a reserve for incurred but not

reported medical claims and claim development. The reserve is an

estimate based on historical experience and other assumptions,

some of which are subjective. The Company will adjust its self-

insured medical benefits reserve as the Company’s loss experience

changes due to medical inflation, changes in the number of plan

participants and an aging employee base.



58

A i rga s ,  I n c . 2006

Management’s Discussion and Analysis continuedNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

(c) Supply Agreements

The Company purchases oxygen, nitrogen, argon, helium, and

specialty gases pursuant to requirements contracts from national

and regional gas producers. In February 2002, the Company

entered into a 15-year take-or-pay supply agreement under which

Air Products will supply at least 35% of the Company’s bulk liquid

nitrogen, oxygen and argon requirements, exclusive of the volumes

purchased under the BOC supply agreements noted below.

Additionally, the Company has commitments to purchase helium

from Air Products under the terms of the supply agreement. Based

on the volume of fiscal 2006 purchases, the Air Products supply

agreement represents approximately $47 million in annual liquid

bulk gas purchases.

In July 2004, the Company entered into a 15-year take-or-pay

supply agreement with BOC to purchase oxygen, nitrogen, argon

and helium. The agreement was entered into in conjunction with

the July 2004 acquisition of BOC’s U.S. packaged gas business. The

agreement will expire in July 2019. The 2004 BOC agreement

represents approximately $7 million in annual bulk gas purchases.

Prior to the acquisition, the Company purchased oxygen, nitrogen,

argon and helium under an agreement with BOC which expires in

February 2007. Minimum purchases through February 2007 

under the pre-acquisition supply agreement are approximately 

$19 million.

The Company is also party to other long-term take-or-pay supply

agreements with other major suppliers of oxygen, nitrogen and

argon ($3 million in annual purchases), liquid carbon dioxide ($13

million in annual purchases), and refrigerants ($4 million in

annual purchases). The Company has purchase commitments for

ammonia which require a 180-day notice prior to termination.

Annual purchase commitments for ammonia are approximately

$10 million.

The supply agreements noted above contain market pricing

subject to certain economic indices and market analysis.

The Company believes the minimum product purchases under 

the agreements are well within the Company’s normal 

product purchases.

(d) Commitments and Contingencies of National Welders

National Welders is involved in various claims and legal actions

arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of

National Welders’ management, the ultimate disposition of these

matters will not have a material or adverse effect on the entity’s

financial position, results of operations, or liquidity.

National Welders is self-insured for medical and workers’

compensation claims in North Carolina and South Carolina.

Medical claims are self-insured up to a $100,000 limit per person

annually. Workers’ compensation claims are self-insured up to

$300,000 per person annually. Provisions for expected future

payments for medical and workers’ compensation are accrued

based on estimates of the aggregate liability for claims incurred

plus an estimate for incurred but not reported claims using

historical experience.

Note 23
Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Cash paid for interest expense, discount on securitization and

income taxes was as follows:

(In thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 2006 2005 2004

Interest expense $ 56,361 $ 49,480 $ 42,851
Discount on securitization 9,371 4,711 3,264
Income taxes (net of refunds) 21,641 30,104 18,897

Significant non-cash investing and financing transactions were as

follows:

(In thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 2006 2005 2004

Acquisition liabilities assumed $ 18,295 $ 37,436 $ 7,620

Cash flows, in excess of a management fee, associated with the

Company’s consolidated affiliate, National Welders (see Note 16),

are not available for the general use of the Company. Rather these

cash flows are used by National Welders for operations, capital

expenditures, and acquisitions and to satisfy financial obligations,

which are non-recourse to the Company. The Consolidated

Statement of Cash Flows at March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 reflect

the following sources and uses of cash associated with National

Welders:

(In thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 2006 2005 2004

Net cash provided by 
operating activities $ 23,497 $ 19,612 $ 9,831

Net cash used in 
investing activities (45,628) (29,240) (1,783)

Net cash provided by (used in)
financing activities 21,309 9,500 (8,039)

Change in cash $ (822) $ (128) $ 9
Management fee paid 

to the Company,
which is eliminated 
in consolidation $ 1,234 $ 1,089 $ 249

Note 24
Summary by Business Segment

The Company aggregates its operations, based on products and

services, into two reportable segments, Distribution and All Other

Operations. The Distribution segment’s principal products are

packaged and small bulk gases, rent and hardgoods. Gas sales

include industrial, medical and specialty gases such as: nitrogen,

oxygen, argon, helium, acetylene, carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide,

hydrogen, welding gases, ultra high purity grades and special

application blends. Rent is derived from gas cylinders, cryogenic
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liquid containers, bulk storage tanks, tube trailers and through the

rental of welding equipment. Hardgoods consist of welding

supplies and equipment, safety products, and MRO supplies.

During fiscal year 2006, the Distribution segment accounted for

approximately 85% of consolidated sales.

The business units in the All Other Operations segment consists of

the Company’s Gas Operations Division and its National Welders

joint venture. The Gas Operations Division produces and distrib-

utes certain gas products, principally carbon dioxide, dry ice,

nitrous oxide and specialty gases. Beginning in June 2005, the divi-

sion began distributing anhydrous ammonia and related supplies,

services and equipment. The operating results of the Company’s

air separation plants and its 7 national specialty gas labs are also

reported under this segment. The All Other Operations Segment

also reflects the results of the National Welders joint venture.

National Welders is a producer and distributor of industrial, med-

ical and specialty gases based in Charlotte, North Carolina. The

joint venture structure limits the Company’s control over the

National Welders operations and cash flows and is the primary fac-

tor that led the Company to conclude that National Welders is

most appropriately reflected in the All Other Operations segment.

The business units reflected in the All Other Operations segment

individually are not material enough to meet the thresholds to be

reported as separate business segments. The elimination entries

represent intercompany sales from the Company’s All Other

Operations segment to its Distribution segment.

The Company’s operations are predominantly in the United States.

The Company’s customer base is diverse and sales are not

dependent on a single or small group of customers.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those

described in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(Note 1). Additionally, corporate operating expenses are allocated

to each segment based on sales dollars. However, sales associated

with National Welders are excluded from the corporate operating

expense allocation to All Other Operations as National Welders

maintains its own corporate functions. Corporate assets have been

allocated to the Distribution segment, intercompany sales are

recorded on the same basis as sales to third parties, and

intercompany transactions are eliminated in consolidation. See

Note 3 for the impact of acquisitions and divestitures on the

operating results of each segment.

Management utilizes more than one measurement and multiple

views of data to measure segment performance and to allocate

resources to the segments. However, the dominant measurements

are consistent with the Company’s consolidated financial

statements and, accordingly, are reported on the same basis herein.

All Other
(In thousands) Distribution Operations Eliminations Combined

Fiscal 2006

Gas and rent $1,238,612 $ 415,560 $ (54,242) $1,599,930

Hardgoods 1,157,326 77,870 (5,516) 1,229,680

Total net sales 2,395,938 493,430 (59,758) 2,829,610

Cost of products sold,

excluding depreciation

expense 1,223,435 238,301 (59,758) 1,401,978

Selling, distribution, and

administrative expenses 864,192 167,140 — 1,031,332

Depreciation expense 95,615 26,781 — 122,396

Amortization expense 4,230 916 — 5,146

Operating income 208,466 60,292 — 268,758

Assets 1,931,205 543,207 — 2,474,412

Capital expenditures 176,019 38,174 — 214,193

All Other
(In thousands) Distribution Operations Eliminations Combined

Fiscal 2005

Gas and rent $1,056,661 $ 318,748 $ (49,300) $1,326,109

Hardgoods 978,451 66,863 (3,641) 1,041,673

Total net sales 2,035,112 385,611 (52,941) 2,367,782

Cost of products sold,

excluding depreciation

expense 1,030,284 174,439 (52,941) 1,151,782

Selling, distribution, and

administrative expenses 761,227 141,241 — 902,468

Depreciation expense 81,419 24,195 — 105,614

Amortization expense 4,943 521 — 5,464

Operating income 157,239 45,215 — 202,454

Assets 1,872,213 419,650 — 2,291,863

Capital expenditures 133,310 34,667 — 167,977

All Other
(In thousands) Distribution Operations Eliminations Combined

Fiscal 2004

Gas and rent $ 882,585 $ 216,166 $ (39,944) $1,058,807

Hardgoods 779,778 19,760 (2,985) 796,553

Total net sales 1,662,363 235,926 (42,929) 1,855,360

Cost of products sold,

excluding depreciation

expense 819,859 106,170 (42,929) 883,100

Selling, distribution, and

administrative expenses 634,137 82,908 — 717,045

Depreciation expense 66,898 15,160 — 82,058

Amortization expense 5,032 357 — 5,389

Special charges (776) — — (776)

Operating income 137,213 31,331 — 168,544

Assets 1,551,653 408,953 — 1,960,606

Capital expenditures 81,247 12,502 — 93,749
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Note 25
Supplementary Information (Unaudited)

This table summarizes the unaudited results of operations for each

quarter of fiscal 2006 and 2005:

(In thousands, except 
per share amounts) First Second Third Fourth

2006

Net sales $ 678,125 $ 702,182 $ 702,407 $ 746,896

Operating income (b) 63,004 63,023 68,989 73,742

Net earnings (b),(c) 29,647 29,622 30,825 33,458

Basic earnings

per share (a),(b),(c) $ 0.39 $ 0.39 $ 0.40 $ 0.43

Diluted earnings

per share (a),(b),(c) $ 0.38 $ 0.38 $ 0.39 $ 0.42

2005

Net sales $ 533,290 $ 589,038 $ 601,088 $ 644,366

Operating income (d) 48,338 50,633 51,032 52,451

Net earnings (d) 22,116 22,777 22,973 24,156

Basic earnings

per share (a),(d) $ 0.30 $ 0.30 $ 0.31 $ 0.32

Diluted earnings

per share (a),(d) $ 0.29 $ 0.30 $ 0.30 $ 0.31

(a) Earnings per share calculations for each of the quarters are based on the weighted average
number of shares outstanding in each quarter. Therefore, the sum of the quarterly earnings per
share does not necessarily equal the full year earnings per share disclosed on the Consolidated
Statement of Earnings.

(b) The quarterly results for fiscal 2006 include a second quarter loss of $2.8 million ($1.7 million
after tax), or $0.02 per diluted share, from hurricanes Katrina and Rita.

(c) The quarterly results for fiscal 2006 also include a third quarter loss of $3.1 million ($1.9 mil-
lion after tax), or $0.02 per diluted share, from the divestiture of Rutland Tool; and a fourth
quarter after tax charge of $2.5 million, or $0.03 per diluted share, recorded as a cumulative
effect of a change in accounting principle reflecting the adoption of FIN 47.

(d) The quarterly results for fiscal 2005 include: second quarter expense of $2.9 million ($1.8 mil-
lion after tax), or $0.02 per diluted share, reflecting integration costs related to the BOC
acquisition; third quarter expense of $1.4 million ($906 thousand after tax), or $0.01 per
diluted share, also for integration costs related to the BOC acquisition; and fourth quarter
expenses of $2.1 million ($1.3 million after tax), or $0.02 per diluted share, related to a sepa-
ration package for the Company’s former President & Chief Operating Officer and integration
costs related to the BOC acquisition.

Note 26
Subsequent Event

On May 23, 2006, the Company announced that its Board of

Directors declared a regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.07 per

share. The dividend is payable June 30, 2006 to stockholders of

record as of June 15, 2006.

Note 27
Condensed Consolidating Financial Information Of
Subsidiary Guarantors

The obligations of the Company under its senior subordinated

notes (“the Notes”) are guaranteed by the Company’s domestic

subsidiaries (the “Guarantors”). The guarantees are made fully and

unconditionally on a joint and several basis. The Company’s joint

venture operations, foreign holdings and bankruptcy remote spe-

cial purpose entity (the “Non-guarantors”) are not guarantors of

the Notes. Effective December 31, 2003, the Company adopted FIN

46R with respect to its National Welders joint venture (see Notes 2

and 16). As permitted by FIN 46R, the Company applied the inter-

pretation prospectively (prior periods not restated). Beginning

January 1, 2004, the operating results of National Welders and cor-

responding minority interest expense were reflected in the

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Earnings with the Non-

guarantors. The claims of creditors of Non-guarantor subsidiaries

have priority over the rights of the Company to receive dividends

or distributions from such subsidiaries.

Presented below is supplementary condensed consolidating

financial information for the Company, the Guarantors and the

Non-guarantors as of March 31, 2006 and March 31, 2005 and for

each of the years ended March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

As described in Note 3, the Company divested its subsidiary,

Rutland Tool & Supply Co. (“Rutland Tool”), in December 2005.

The results of Rutland Tool have been reclassified in the

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Earnings as discontinued

operations in all periods presented. The Condensed Consolidating

Balance Sheet was not reclassified because the assets and 

liabilities of Rutland Tool were not significant. Additionally, the

Company reclassified an inter-company management fee between

the Parent and its subsidiaries from “other income (expense), net”

to “selling, distribution and administrative expenses.” This

reclassification has been made to all prior periods to conform 

to the current period presentation.
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A i rga s ,  I n c . 2006

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

(In thousands) Non- Elimination
March 31, 2006 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Assets

Current Assets:

Cash $ — $ 30,061 $ 4,924 $ — $ 34,985

Trade receivables, net — 7,149 125,096 — 132,245

Intercompany receivable/(payable) — (4,113) 4,113 — —

Inventories, net — 211,319 18,204 — 229,523

Deferred income tax asset, net 21,988 9,239 (1,086) — 30,141

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 7,289 20,713 3,620 — 31,622

Total current assets 29,277 274,368 154,871 — 458,516

Plant and equipment, net 18,285 1,194,523 185,949 — 1,398,757

Goodwill — 488,317 77,757 — 566,074

Other intangible assets, net — 22,362 3,886 — 26,248

Investments in subsidiaries 1,940,670 — — (1,940,670) —

Intercompany receivable/(payable) (257,995) 148,123 109,872 — —

Other non-current assets 15,491 6,394 2,932 — 24,817

Total assets $ 1,745,728 $ 2,134,087 $ 535,267 $(1,940,670) $ 2,474,412

Liabilities And Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable, trade $ 3,057 $ 122,078 $ 18,617 $ — $ 143,752

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 112,396 66,241 21,364 — 200,001

Current portion of long-term debt 125,751 561 5,589 — 131,901

Total current liabilities 241,204 188,880 45,570 — 475,654

Long-term debt, excluding current portion 549,382 2,450 83,894 — 635,726

Deferred income tax liability, net 4,372 280,404 43,042 — 327,818

Other non-current liabilities 3,611 25,242 2,011 — 30,864

Minority interest in affiliate — — 57,191 — 57,191

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ Equity:

Preferred stock, no par value — — — — —

Common stock, par value $0.01 per share 786 — — — 786

Capital in excess of par value 289,598 894,898 71,955 (966,853) 289,598

Retained earnings 665,158 741,623 228,662 (970,285) 665,158

Accumulated other comprehensive income 4,751 590 3,312 (3,902) 4,751

Treasury stock (13,134) — (370) 370 (13,134)

Total stockholders’ equity 947,159 1,637,111 303,559 (1,940,670) 947,159

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,745,728 $ 2,134,087 $ 535,267 $(1,940,670) $ 2,474,412
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

(In thousands) Non- Elimination
March 31, 2005 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Assets

Current Assets:

Cash $ — $ 29,340 $ 3,300 $ — $ 32,640

Trade receivables, net — 6,076 142,758 — 148,834

Intercompany receivable/(payable) — (8,589) 8,589 — —

Inventories, net — 207,810 13,799 — 221,609

Deferred income tax asset, net 22,208 1,870 2,185 — 26,263

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3,165 23,088 10,658 — 36,911

Total current assets 25,373 259,595 181,289 — 466,257

Plant and equipment, net 23,245 1,081,001 165,096 — 1,269,342

Goodwill — 444,605 66,591 — 511,196

Other intangible assets, net — 15,525 982 — 16,507

Investments in subsidiaries 1,785,903 — — (1,785,903) —

Intercompany receivable/(payable) (254,733) 233,817 20,916 — —

Other non-current assets 17,773 7,606 3,182 — 28,561

Total assets $ 1,597,561 $ 2,042,149 $ 438,056 $(1,785,903) $ 2,291,863

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable, trade $ 5,783 $ 123,709 $ 13,716 $ — $ 143,208

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 68,155 98,563 16,414 — 183,132

Current portion of long-term debt — 765 6,183 — 6,948

Total current liabilities 73,938 223,037 36,313 — 333,288

Long-term debt, excluding current portion 711,805 6,002 83,828 — 801,635

Deferred income tax liability, net (12,288) 252,307 42,167 — 282,186

Other non-current liabilities 9,934 11,941 2,516 — 24,391

Minority interest in affiliate — — 36,191 — 36,191

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ Equity:

Preferred stock, no par value — — — — —

Common stock, par value $0.01 per share 775 — — — 775

Capital in excess of par value 257,042 939,025 71,956 (1,010,981) 257,042

Retained earnings 560,056 609,426 163,542 (772,968) 560,056

Accumulated other comprehensive income 2,609 411 1,913 (2,324) 2,609

Treasury stock (3,765) — (370) 370 (3,765)

Employee benefits trust (2,545) — — — (2,545)

Total stockholders’ equity 814,172 1,548,862 237,041 (1,785,903) 814,172

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,597,561 $ 2,042,149 $ 438,056 $(1,785,903) $ 2,291,863
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Earnings

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

(In thousands) Non- Elimination
March 31, 2006 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Net Sales $ — $ 2,608,146 $ 221,464 $ — $ 2,829,610
Costs and Expenses:
Costs of products sold 

(excluding depreciation) — 1,306,924 95,054 — 1,401,978
Selling, distribution and 

administrative expenses 24,135 912,700 94,497 — 1,031,332
Depreciation 7,518 98,984 15,894 — 122,396
Amortization — 4,992 154 — 5,146

Operating Income (Loss) (31,653) 284,546 15,865 — 268,758

Interest (expense) income, net (72,767) 22,781 (3,826) — (53,812)
(Discount) gain on securitization

of trade receivables — (73,990) 64,619 — (9,371)
Other income (expense), net 19,784 (18,006) 684 — 2,462
Earnings (loss) before income taxes

and minority interest (84,636) 215,331 77,342 — 208,037
Income tax benefit (expense) 29,623 (79,415) (28,074) — (77,866)
Minority interest in earnings of

consolidated affiliate — — (2,656) — (2,656)
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 178,564 — — (178,564) —
Income (loss) from discontinued

operations, net of tax — (1,424) — — (1,424)
Cumulative effect of a change in

accounting principle, net of tax — (2,296) (244) — (2,540)
Net Earnings $ 123,551 $ 132,196 $ 46,368 $ (178,564) $ 123,551

(In thousands) Non- Elimination
March 31, 2005 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Net Sales $ — $ 2,173,444 $ 194,338 $ — $ 2,367,782
Costs and Expenses:
Costs of products sold 

(excluding depreciation) — 1,069,711 82,071 — 1,151,782
Selling, distribution and 

administrative expenses 31,690 786,050 84,728 — 902,468
Depreciation 7,410 84,093 14,111 — 105,614
Amortization 99 5,269 96 — 5,464

Operating Income (Loss) (39,199) 228,321 13,332 — 202,454

Interest (expense) income, net (70,493) 23,228 (3,980) — (51,245)
(Discount) gain on

securitization of trade
receivables — (61,185) 56,474 — (4,711)

Other income (expense), net 21,249 (20,686) 566 — 1,129
Earnings (loss) before income

taxes and minority interest (88,443) 169,678 66,392 — 147,627
Income tax benefit (expense) 30,955 (61,538) (23,678) — (54,261)
Minority interest in earnings of

consolidated affiliate — — (1,808) — (1,808)
Equity in earnings of

subsidiaries 149,510 — — (149,510) —
Income (loss) from discontinued

operations, net of tax — 464 — — 464
Net Earnings $ 92,022 $ 108,604 $ 40,906 $ (149,510) $ 92,022
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Earnings

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

(In thousands) Non- Elimination
March 31, 2004 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Net Sales $ — $ 1,790,898 $ 64,462 $ — $ 1,855,360

Costs and Expenses:

Costs of products sold

(excluding depreciation) — 859,556 23,544 — 883,100

Selling, distribution and

administrative expenses 27,196 654,418 35,431 — 717,045

Depreciation 6,513 70,613 4,932 — 82,058

Amortization 113 5,261 15 — 5,389

Special charges (recoveries) — (776) — — (776)

Operating Income (Loss) (33,822) 201,826 540 — 168,544

Interest (expense) income, net (58,414) 17,932 (1,875) — (42,357)

(Discount) gain on

securitization of trade

receivables — (73,022) 69,758 — (3,264)

Other income (expense), net 24,031 (23,650) 1,091 — 1,472

Earnings (loss) before income

taxes and minority interest (68,205) 123,086 69,514 — 124,395

Income tax benefit (expense) 22,344 (45,297) (24,706) — (47,659)

Minority interest in earnings of

consolidated affiliate — — (452) — (452)

Equity in earnings of 

unconsolidated affiliate 4,365 — — — 4,365

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 121,688 — — (121,688) —

Income(loss) from discontinued

operations, net of tax — (457) — — (457)

Net Earnings $ 80,192 $ 77,332 $ 44,356 $ (121,688) $ 80,192
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A i rga s ,  I n c . 2006

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

(In thousands) Non- Elimination
March 31, 2006 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Net cash provided by (used in)

operating activities $ (13,484) $ 272,152 $ 103,501 $ — $ 362,169

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Capital expenditures (3,161) (183,651) (27,381) — (214,193)

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 104 5,143 2,955 — 8,202

Proceeds from divestiture — 14,562 — — 14,562

Business acquisitions, holdbacks and other

settlements of acquisition related liabilities — (128,742) (24,686) — (153,428)

Other, net 749 (390) (189) — 170

Net cash used in investing activities (2,308) (293,078) (49,301) — (344,687)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings 478,848 2,363 87,168 — 568,379

Repayment of debt (512,718) (6,388) (87,426) — (606,532)

Purchase of treasury stock (12,771) — — — (12,771)

Minority interest — — (2,656) — (2,656)

Exercise of stock options 19,707 — — — 19,707

Minority stockholder note repayment — — 21,000 — 21,000

Dividends paid to stockholders (18,449) — — — (18,449)

Cash overdraft 16,530 — (345) — 16,185

Inter-company 44,645 25,672 (70,317) — —

Net cash provided by (used in) 

financing activities 15,792 21,647 (52,576) — (15,137)

Change In Cash $ — $ 721 $ 1,624 $ — $ 2,345

Cash – Beginning of year — 29,340 3,300 — 32,640

Cash – End of year $ — $ 30,061 $ 4,924 $ — $ 34,985 
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A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

(In thousands) Non- Elimination
March 31, 2005 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Net cash provided by (used in) 

operating activities $ (35,408) $ 244,748 $ 12,977 $ — $ 222,317

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Capital expenditures (3,890) (136,231) (27,856) — (167,977)

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 50 3,761 1,550 — 5,361

Proceeds from divestiture — 828 — — 828

Business acquisitions, holdbacks and other

settlements of acquisition related liabilities — (186,000) (5,820) — (191,820)

Other, net 267 — (96) — 171

Net cash used in investing activities (3,573) (317,642) (32,222) — (353,437)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings 547,762 2,069 71,619 — 621,450

Repayment of debt (436,768) (1,321) (56,595) — (494,684)

Financing costs (2,531) — — — (2,531)

Termination of interest rate hedge 3,948 — — — 3,948

Minority interest — — (1,808) — (1,808)

Exercise of stock options 20,374 — — — 20,374

Dividends paid to stockholders (13,643) — — — (13,643)

Cash overdraft 5,592 — — — 5,592

Inter-company (85,753) 77,917 7,836 — —

Net cash provided by financing activities 38,981 78,665 21,052 — 138,698

Change In Cash $ — $ 5,771 $ 1,807 $ — $ 7,578

Cash – Beginning of year — 23,569 1,493 — 25,062

Cash – End of year $ — $ 29,340 $ 3,300 $ — $ 32,640
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A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

(In thousands) Non- Elimination
March 31, 2004 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Net cash provided by (used in)

operating activities $ (28,991) $ 199,473 $ 40,197 $ — $ 210,679

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Capital expenditures (15,087) (71,793) (6,869) — (93,749)

Proceeds from sale of plant

and equipment 1,519 3,436 392 — 5,347

Business acquisitions, holdbacks and other

settlements of acquisition related liabilities — (34,907) — — (34,907)

Management fee from unconsolidated affiliate 724 — — — 724

Other, net (1,461) — 92 — (1,369)

Net cash used in investing activities (14,305) (103,264) (6,385) — (123,954)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings 411,970 — 2,327 — 414,297

Repayment of debt (471,785) (2,469) (10,750) — (485,004)

Financing costs (2,737) — — — (2,737)

Minority interest — — (452) — (452)

Exercise of stock options 13,130 — — — 13,130

Dividends paid to stockholders (11,801) — — — (11,801)

Cash overdraft (14,149) 2,730 903 — (10,516)

Inter-company 118,668 (93,741) (24,927) — —

Net cash provided by (used in) 

financing activities 43,296 (93,480) (32,899) — (83,083)

Change In Cash $ — $ 2,729 $ 913 $ — $ 3,642

Cash – Beginning of year — 20,840 580 — 21,420

Cash – End of Year $ — $ 23,569 $ 1,493 $ — $ 25,062
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Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial
Measures (Unaudited)

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

Reconciliation of Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities to Free Cash Flow

(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 251,063 $ 195,963 $ 210,679 $ 222,317 $ 362,169

Less: Net cash provided by operating 

activities of National Welders (1) — — (9,831) (19,612) (23,497)

Plus: Management fee paid by 

National Welders (1) — — 249 1,089 1,234

Proceeds from sale of plant

and equipment 3,216 4,260 5,347 5,361 8,202

Operating lease buyouts — — 4,011 24,130 14,558

Less: Cash provided by the securitization

of trade receivables (60,800) (24,900) (3,700) (27,300) (54,300)

Capital expenditures (58,297) (67,969) (93,749) (167,977) (214,193)

Add back capital expenditures

of National Welders (1) — — 2,265 24,584 21,362

Free Cash Flow $ 135,182 $ 107,354 $ 115,271 $ 62,592 $ 115,535

(1) National Welders Supply Co. (“National Welders”) is a corporate joint venture meeting the definition of a variable interest entity and for which the Company is the primary beneficiary as described under
FIN 46R. National Welders was consolidated effective December 31, 2003. Prior to January 1, 2004, the Company reported the results of National Welders in “Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated
Affiliate.” The liabilities of National Welders are non-recourse to the Company. Likewise, the cash flows in excess of the management fee paid by National Welders are not available to the Company.
Accordingly, the cash flows of National Welders have been excluded from the Company’s non-GAAP liquidity measures.

The Company believes that free cash flow provides investors meaningful insight into the Company’s ability to generate cash from operations, which can be used at management’s discretion for acquisitions,
the prepayment of debt or to support other investing and financing activities.
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Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial
Measures (Unaudited)

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

Reconciliation and Computation of Return on Capital

(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Operating Income $ 124,938 $ 156,336 $ 168,544 $ 202,454 $ 268,758

Plus (Less):

Restructuring/special charges (recoveries) , net — 2,694 (776) — —

Litigation settlements/charges 8,501 — — — —

Adjusted Operating Income $ 133,439 $ 159,030 $ 167,768 $ 202,454 $ 268,758

Five Quarter Average of Total Assets $ 1,528,101 $ 1,705,114 $ 1,776,185 $ 2,112,504 $ 2,378,324

Five Quarter Average of

Securitized Trade Receivables 124,400 147,680 157,400 183,300 216,360

Five Quarter Average of

Current Liabilities (exclusive of debt) (214,179) (219,153) (216,081) (269,975) (326,618)

Five Quarter Average of

Investment in Unconsolidated Affiliates (63,886) (65,416) (39,793) — —

Five-quarter average capital employed $ 1,374,436 $ 1,568,225 $ 1,677,711 $ 2,025,829 $ 2,268,066

Return on Capital 9.7% 10.1% 10.0% 10.0% 11.8%

The Company believes this return on capital computation helps investors assess how effectively the Company uses the capital invested in its operations.

Eighteen Year Reconciliation of Operating Income to Adjusted EBITDA to Cash from Operations

(In thousands)
Years Ended March 31, 1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Operating income 15,958 23,221 17,286 26,316 34,367 48,667 72,600 92,987 80,480 111,709 112,607 105,461 106,728 124,938 156,336 168,544 202,454 268,758
Add:
Depreciation & amortization 11,147 17,387 21,158 23,420 28,042 30,571 36,868 45,762 64,428 82,227 83,839 85,262 82,796 71,757 79,279 87,447 111,078 127,542
Adjusted EBITDA 27,105 40,608 38,444 49,736 62,409 79,238 109,468 138,749 144,908 193,936 196,446 190,723 189,524 196,695 235,615 255,991 313,532 396,300

(Uses)/sources of cash excluded 
from Adjusted EBITDA, included 
in Cash from Operations:

Interest expense, net (12,245) (16,198) (15,179) (12,838) (11,403) (12,486) (17,625) (24,862) (39,367) (52,603) (59,677) (56,879) (59,550) (46,775) (46,374) (42,357) (51,245) (53,812)
Discount on securitization 

of receivables — — — — — — — — — — — — (1,303) (4,846) (3,326) (3,264) (4,711) (9,371)
Current income taxes 404 1,700 (599) (3,591) (5,653) (7,838) (12,345) (17,654) (20,012) (16,502) (17,244) (16,902) (13,402) 4,546 (33,174) (24,623) (22,622) (30,718)
Other income (expense) 215 157 870 214 546 453 1,607 781 1,695 9,811 29,491 18,625 1,324 5,987 2,132 1,472 1,129 2,462
Equity in earnings of Elkem 

joint venture 1,415 1,435 2,009 2,019 (897) (1,258) (840) (1,428) (1,356) (1,478) (869) — — — — — — —
(Gains)/losses on divestitures — — — — — — (560) — — (1,452) (25,468) (17,712) (1,173) (5,548) 241 — (360) 1,900
(Gain)/losses on sale of PP&E (32) 2 (715) (76) (292) (63) 110 (12) 616 (504) (222) (915) 502 405 (257) (837) (321) (1,330)
Stock issued for employee benefits — — — — — — 2,707 3,396 5,156 5,953 5,750 5,715 5,630 7,369 8,951 6,889 9,907 10,534
Income(loss) on discontinued 

operations — — — — — — — — 478 (635) (871) (335) (400) (3,529) (1,776) (457) 464 (1,424)
Other non-cash charges 260 308 252 250 — — — — 3,930 11,422 — 458 2,281 1,068 — — — —
Cash provided (used) by 

working capital 4,379 702 6,712 15,968 13,608 6,752 (2,030) (6,948) (14,801) (13,548) (25,273) (22,686) 78,329 95,691 33,931 17,865 (23,456) 47,628

Net Cash Provided by 
Operating Activities 21,501 28,714 31,794 51,682 58,318 64,798 80,492 92,022 81,247 134,400 102,063 100,092 201,762 251,063 195,963 210,679 222,317 362,169

The Company believes Adjusted EBITDA provides investors meaningful insight into the Company's ability to generate cash from operations to support required working capital, capital expenditures and financial obligations.
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period financial statements to conform to the current presentation.
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Peter McCausland (1)

Chairman and CEO

Airgas, Inc.

W. Thacher Brown (1)(2)(4)

Former Chairman and President

1838 Investment Advisors, LLC

Robert L. Yohe (3)

Former Vice Chairman

Olin Corporation

David M. Stout (1)(3)

President, Pharmaceuticals

GlaxoSmithKline

Lee M. Thomas (3)(4)

Former President and COO

Georgia-Pacific Corporation

Richard C. Ill (3)

President and CEO

Triumph Group, Inc. 

Paula A. Sneed (2)

EVP - Global Marketing Resources & Initiatives

Kraft Foods 

William O. Albertini (2)

Former CFO

Bell Atlantic Corporation

James W. Hovey (4)

President

The Fox Cos.

(1) Executive Committee

(2) Audit Committee

(3) Governance and Compensation Committee

(4) Finance Committee

Board of Directors
(from left to right)
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Airgas, Inc. 

259 North Radnor-Chester Road

Radnor, PA 19087–5283

www.airgas.com


